

NON-ARCHIMEDEAN TECHNIQUES AND DYNAMICAL DEGENERATIONS

Charles Favre, Chen Gong

▶ To cite this version:

Charles Favre, Chen Gong. NON-ARCHIMEDEAN TECHNIQUES AND DYNAMICAL DEGENERATIONS. 2024. hal-04749093

HAL Id: hal-04749093 https://hal.science/hal-04749093v1

Preprint submitted on 22 Oct 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

NON-ARCHIMEDEAN TECHNIQUES AND DYNAMICAL DEGENERATIONS

CHARLES FAVRE AND CHEN GONG

ABSTRACT. We develop non-Archimedean techniques to analyze the degeneration of a sequence of rational maps of the complex projective line. We provide an alternative to Luo's method which was based on ultralimits of the hyperbolic 3-space. We build hybrid spaces using Berkovich theory which enable us to prove the convergence of equilibrium measures, and to determine the asymptotics of Lyapunov exponents.

Contents

Introduction	2
Organization of the text	7
Acknowledgements	8
Notations	8
1. Berkovich spaces	9
1.1. Analytic spaces over a Banach ring	9
1.2. The Berkovich projective line over a Banach ring	10
1.3. Potential theory on the Berkovich projective line over a field	13
2. Rational maps on the projective line	16
2.1. The space of rational maps and the resultant	16
2.2. The moduli space and the minimal resultant	17
2.3. Rational map on $\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$ and the equilibrium measure	20
3. Sequential hybridation using non-standard analysis	21
3.1. The Stone-Čech compactification of \mathbb{N}	21
3.2. Product Banach rings	23
3.3. Sequential hybridation	28
4. Family of measures over a Banach ring	32
4.1. Continuous family of Radon measures	32
4.2. Model functions	34
4.3. Push-forward of continuous functions	36
4.4. Push-forward of quasi-model functions	38
5. Convergence of measures on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A\epsilon}$	39
5.1. Basics in hyperbolic geometry	39
5.2. Convergence of metrics of constant curvature on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A\epsilon}$	40
5.3. Convergence of equilibrium measures on the hybrid space	47
5.4. Convergence of Lyapunov exponents	49
6. Luo's approach to degeneration	49
6.1. The asymptotic cone	50

Date: June 25, 2024.

C.G. is supported by a CSC-202108070159 grant from the chinese government.

Ν	ON-ARCHIMEDEAN TECHNIQUES AND DYNAMICAL DEGENERATIONS	2
6.2.	Barycentric extension of a rational map	50
6.3.	Asymptotic cone and Luo's degeneration map	51
Refe	rences	54

INTRODUCTION

The main goal of this paper is to develop non-Archimedean techniques to analyze the degeneration of a sequence of rational maps of the complex projective line.

$The \ moduli \ space \ of \ rational \ maps.$

A complex rational map $f: \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{C}} \to \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{C}}$ of degree $d \geq 2$ is determined in homogeneous coordinates by two homogeneous polynomials P, Q of degree d without common factors so that $f[z_0: z_1] = [P(z_0, z_1): Q(z_0, z_1)]$. The condition on P and Q to have no non-trivial common zeroes can be expressed as the non-vanishing of their homogeneous resultant $\operatorname{Res}(P, Q)$. It follows that the space Rat_d of complex rational maps of degree $d \geq 2$ carries a natural struture of algebraic variety, and is a Zariski open subset of $\mathbb{P}^{2d+1}_{\mathbb{C}}$.

The automorphism group of the projective line PGL_2 acts by conjugacy on Rat_d , and Silverman [70] has proved the existence of an affine algebraic variety rat_d whose complex points $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ coincide with the set of conjugacy classes $\operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})/\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$. The canonical class map cl: $\operatorname{Rat}_d \to \operatorname{rat}_d$ is open. It is customary to write $[f] = \operatorname{cl}(f)$ for a rational map $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$.

The moduli space rat_d has dimension 2d-2 and is a rational variety by a theorem of Levy [49]. Milnor has shown that rat_2 is isomorphic to the affine space \mathbb{A}^2 . When $d \geq 3$, rat_d admits orbifold singularities by Miasnikov-Stout-Williams [54].

Characteristics of holomorphic dynamical systems.

Any rational map $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ defines a holomorphic map on the Riemann sphere $f: \hat{\mathbb{C}} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ whose dynamics is described by the Fatou-Julia theory [56]. The sphere can be decomposed as the disjoint union of the Fatou set, a totally invariant open set on which the dynamics of f is regular; and the Julia set J_f , a compact totally invariant set on which the dynamics is chaotic. By a theorem of Lyubich and Freire-Mané-Lopès, f admits a unique probability measure of maximal entropy μ_f called the equilibrium measure, whose support is the Julia set, see, e.g., [6]. The Lyapunov exponent of fwith respect to μ_f is defined by the integral

$$\chi_f = \int \log |df| d\mu_f,$$

where |df| is the norm of the derivative of f computed in terms of the spherical metric on $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$. This integral converges, and we have $\infty > \chi_f \ge \frac{1}{2} \log d > 0$ (see op.cit.) so that f is weakly expanding on J_f .

Presentation of the main problem.

The complex affine varieties Rat_d and rat_d defined above can be analytified and give rise to complex analytic (Stein) varieties $\operatorname{Rat}_d^{an}(\mathbb{C})$ and $\operatorname{rat}_d^{an}(\mathbb{C})$. Note that as sets $\operatorname{Rat}_d^{an}(\mathbb{C})$ and $\operatorname{rat}_d^{an}(\mathbb{C})$ are canonically in bijection with

3

 $\operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ and $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ respectively. In the sequel, we shall drop the exponent *an* to keep the notations lighter.

We say that a sequence $\mathfrak{f}_n \in \operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ is degenerating if \mathfrak{f}_n leaves any fixed compact subset of $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ for n large enough. Our main goal is to construct limits of \mathfrak{f}_n which are dynamically meaningful in order to analyze how the characteristics of the dynamics of \mathfrak{f}_n evolve as $n \to \infty$. More precisely, we shall exhibit a sequence $f_n \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ such that $[f_n] = \mathfrak{f}_n$ and suitable subsequences of f_n converge in a natural way to a rational map defined over a non-Archimedean metrized field. In the applications, it is essential to transfer dynamical informations between the complex and the non-Archimedean rational maps. This is in general a very delicate issue. We shall explain how the complex equilibrium measures and the complex Lyapunov exponents converge in a natural way to their non-archimedean counterparts.

Algebraic methods to understand degenerations.

Early tentatives to understand degenerations of complex dynamical systems relied on purely complex theoretic or algebraic techniques. Silverman [70] constructed a GIT (projective) compactification $\overline{\operatorname{rat}}_d(\mathbb{C})$ of $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ extending former works by Milnor [55] and Epstein [26] in the case d = 2. Demarco [19] observed that the iteration maps $I_l: \operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C}) \to \operatorname{rat}_{d^l}(\mathbb{C})$ do not extend as regular maps to this compactification, and analyzed the indeterminacy locus of these maps. Her work was completed by Kiwi and Nie [47]. Demarco [18] also proposed a way to compactify $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ using limits of their measures of maximal entropy. Among other things this technique enabled her to prove that I_n was proper.

Meromorphic families define dynamics over the field of Laurent series.

The next step was undertaken by Kiwi in a series of influential works. Pick any holomorphic family $(f_t)_{t \in \mathbb{D}^*}$ of rational maps parameterized by the complex unit disk $\mathbb{D}^* = \{0 < |t| < 1\}$, and suppose it extends meromorphically to the puncture. Such a family is determined by a pair of homogenous polynomials P_t, Q_t having coefficients in the ring of holomorphic functions on \mathbb{D}^* that are meromorphic at 0. Kiwi realized that one could interpret P_t, Q_t as polynomials with coefficients in the non-Archimedean metrized field $\mathbb{C}((t))$ of formal Laurent series, so that (f_t) naturally defines a rational map $f_{na} \colon \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{C}((t))} \to \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{C}((t))}$. This simple and fruitful idea was successfully applied in the cubic polynomial case [44] and then in the quadratic rational case [45]. It then played a key role in the systematic study of rescaling limits [46], and in the work of Demarco-Faber [15, 20] in which the limit in $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$ of equilibirum measures of (f_t) was described as $t \to 0$. More recently Pilgrim and Nie [59] used this idea to prove the boundedness of bicritical hyperbolic components of disjoint type extending a theorem by Epstein [26].

Hybrid spaces.

Hybrid spaces are geometric objects mixing complex and non-Archimedean varieties. The appearance of such spaces can be traced back to the construction of a compactification of the SL₂-character variety by Morgan-Shalen [57]. Similar spaces appeared as compactifications of the space of polynomial maps by Demarco-McMullen [22] using \mathbb{R} -trees. Hybrid spaces were formalized by Berkovich [5].

4

To motivate their introduction, note that to fully exploit the connection between the complex and non-Archimedean worlds, it is important to understand the Fatou-Julia of a rational map g defined on a non-Archimedean field k. This theory has been extensively developed in the early 2000's by Rivera-Letelier and Benedetto (see [3] for a detailed account on this theory). It turns out that the natural space over which the Fatou-Julia theory of g can be carried over is the Berkovich analytification $\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$ of the projective line. One can for instance construct an equilibrium measure μ_g having support J_g as in the complex case, and define its Lyapunov exponent χ_g (see [61]). We refer to §1.2 for details of the construction of $\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$. Suffice it to say that building blocks of Berkovich spaces are compact sets $\mathcal{M}(B)$ defined as the set of multiplicative semi-norms on a suitable Banach ring B (the space $\mathcal{M}(B)$ is called the Berkovich spectrum of B).

Varying the Banach ring allows for a lot of flexibility in the theory, and lies at the root of the idea of hybrid spaces which originates in the paper of Berkovich cited above. These spaces combine harmoniously complex varieties and non-Archimedean analytic varieties, and are natural objects over which one can make sense and study degenerations of measures. In holomorphic dynamics, they were introduced by the first author building on a work by Boucksom-Jonsson [11]. Namely, he showed in [27] the convergence of the equilibrium measures μ_{ft} of a meromorphic family $(f_t)_{t\in\mathbb{D}^*}$ to $\mu_{f_{na}}$ in a natural hybrid space, and proved that the asymptotics of the Lyapunov exponents χ_{f_t} was governed by $\chi_{f_{na}}$ (an alternative proof of the latter fact was given by Okuyama-Gauthier-Vigny in [33]). This method have been applied since then to a variety of contextes including automorphisms of algebraic varieties [37, 38], or SL₂-character varieties [14, 25]. In a series of recent works, Poineau [66] have extended the continuity of the equilibrium measures to a quite large category of Berkovich spaces which encompasses hybrid spaces.

To summarize the discussion of the latter two paragraphs, non-Archimedean degeneration techniques are now well-understood in the case of meromorphic families $(f_t)_{t\in\mathbb{D}^*}$ and are systematically used in many works in arithmetic dynamics [21, 28, 41, 67].

Degeneration of a sequence of rational maps and Luo's construction.

Recently, Luo [51, 52] classified nested hyperbolic components and found a way to analyze the degeneration of a sequence of rational maps, even when they do not arise from a meromorphic family. As our paper aims to propose an alternative method to his approach, let us spend some time discussing his construction.

Pick any $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$. The first step is to measure in a dynamical way the distance of [f] to the boundary of $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ in $\overline{\operatorname{rat}}_d(\mathbb{C})$. Denote by $(\mathbb{H}^3, d_{\mathbb{H}})$ the hyperbolic 3-space, and pick any base point $x_* \in \mathbb{H}^3$. Recall that the visual boundary of \mathbb{H}^3 is the Riemann sphere $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$. Luo considers a natural extension $\mathcal{E}(f) \colon \mathbb{H}^3 \to \mathbb{H}^3$ of $f \colon \hat{\mathbb{C}} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ based on the notion of conformal barycenter (see also [62]), and introduces the quantity

$$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{L}}(f) := \sup_{\mathcal{E}(f)(y) = x_{\star}} d_{\mathbb{H}}(y, x_{\star}) \in \mathbb{R}^{*}_{+}$$

 $\mathbf{5}$

He proves that $\mathfrak{r}_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathfrak{f}) := \inf_{[f]=\mathfrak{f}} \mathrm{r}_{\mathrm{L}}(f)$ is a proper function $\mathrm{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$, so that the bigger $\mathfrak{r}_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathfrak{f})$ is, the closer \mathfrak{f} is to the boundary $\overline{\mathrm{rat}}_d(\mathbb{C}) \setminus \mathrm{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$.

Now choose any degenerating sequence $f_n \in \operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$, and set $\epsilon_n := \operatorname{rL}(f_n)^{-1}$ (so that $\epsilon_n \to 0$). Choose lifts $f_n \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ such that $[f_n] = \mathfrak{f}_n$ and $\operatorname{rL}(f_n) = \mathfrak{r}_{L}(\mathfrak{f}_n)$ for all n. Then Luo considers the sequence of pointed metric spaces $(\mathbb{H}^3, x_\star, \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}})$ and its ultra-limit \mathbb{H}_ω in Gromov's sense [43, §9]. This construction depends on the choice of a (non-principal) ultra-filter ω which is an element of the power set of \mathbb{N} (see §3 for details). The defining property of ω ensures the existence of a limit (along ω) of sequence of many classes of objects (like bounded sequences in a locally compact metric space, or pointed metric spaces as above). Using this tool, Luo proves that the sequence $\mathcal{E}(f_n)$ defines a self-map f_ω on \mathbb{H}_ω , and the crucial fact that this map is d-to-one, [51, Theorem 1.2]. He goes further by proving that \mathbb{H}_ω naturally embeds in the Berkovich analytification of $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathcal{H}(\omega)}$ for some complete non-Archimedean metrized field $\mathcal{H}(\omega)$ and building on the fact that f_ω is finite-to-one, he concludes that f_ω extends as a rational map in $\operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathcal{H}(\omega))$.

Degeneration of a sequence of rational maps using Berkovich spaces.

Let us now explain our strategy. For any $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ defined by homogenous polynomials P, Q of degree d and normalized so that the maximum of their coefficients equal 1, we set $|\operatorname{Res}(f)| := |\operatorname{Res}(P,Q)|$. The function $|\operatorname{Res}| : \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{R}^*_+$ is continuous, bounded from above, and proper. We prove (Proposition 2.2) that $|\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f})| := \sup_{[f]=\mathfrak{f}} |\operatorname{Res}(f)|$ defines a function $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{R}^*_+$ which is also proper, continuous and bounded from above. Set $C_d = e \sup_{\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})} |\operatorname{res}|$.

Choose any degenerating sequence $\mathfrak{f}_n \in \operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$, and set this time $\epsilon_n := (-\log|\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)|/C_d)^{-1}$ (so that $\epsilon_n \to 0$). Pick any lift $f_n \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ such that $[f_n] = \mathfrak{f}_n$ and $|\operatorname{Res}(f_n)| = |\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)|$ for all n. We now consider the Banach ring

(1)
$$A^{\epsilon} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}} \mid \sup_{\mathbb{N}} |z_n|^{\epsilon_n} < \infty \} .$$

Our main observation is that the sequence f_n naturally defines a rational map of degree d over the ring A^{ϵ} . Considering the Berkovich analytification $\mathbb{P}_{A^{\epsilon}}^{1,an}$ of the projective line over A^{ϵ} , we get a hybrid space over which we can prove the continuity of the equilibrium measures, of the Lyapunov exponents, and recover Luo's construction. The next theorem summarizes our main results.

Theorem 0.1. Let \mathfrak{f}_n be a degenerating sequence in $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$. Set

$$\epsilon_n := (-\log(|\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)|/C_d))^{-1}$$

and choose $f_n \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ such that $[f_n] = \mathfrak{f}_n$ and $|\operatorname{Res}(f_n)| = |\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)|$ for all n. Let A^{ϵ} be the Banach ring defined by (1). Then the following statements hold true.

(1) The Berkovich analytification $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$ is a compact space, coming with a canonical continuous map $\pi : \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}} \to \beta \mathbb{N}$ where $\beta \mathbb{N}$ is the Stone-Čech compactification of the integers. For any integer $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the fiber is homeomorphic to the Riemann sphere $\pi^{-1}(n) \simeq \hat{\mathbb{C}}$, and $\pi^{-1}(\mathbb{N})$ is dense in $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$. For any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N} \setminus \mathbb{N}$, the fiber $\pi^{-1}(\omega)$ is isomorphic to the Berkovich analytification of the projective line over a non-Archimedean field $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$.

6

- (2) There exists a rational map $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(A^{\epsilon})$ which induces a continuous self-map $f \colon \mathbb{P}_{A^{\epsilon}}^{1,an} \to \mathbb{P}_{A^{\epsilon}}^{1,an}$ such that $\pi \circ f = \pi$, and for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have $f|_{\pi^{-1}(n)} = f_n$ under the above identification $\pi^{-1}(n) \simeq \hat{\mathbb{C}}$. When $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N} \setminus \mathbb{N}$, the map $f_{\omega} = f|_{\pi^{-1}(\omega)}$ is a rational map of degree d over $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ which does not have potential good reduction.
- (3) The family of equilibrium measures $\mu_{f_{\omega}}$ supported on $\pi^{-1}(\omega)$ where ω ranges over $\beta \mathbb{N}$ forms a continuous family of probability measures on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$. Furthermore, the Lyapunov exponent

(2)
$$\chi_{\omega} := \int_{\pi^{-1}(\omega)} \log |df|_{\omega} d\mu_{f_{\omega}},$$

is continuous on $\beta \mathbb{N}$.

As an application of our techniques, we provide a new proof of the properness of the iteration map, a result originally due to DeMarco, see [18, Corollary 0.3].

Corollary 0.2. The iteration map I_l : $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C}) \to \operatorname{rat}_{d^l}(\mathbb{C})$ given by $I_l(f) = f^l$ is proper for any $d \geq 2$ and any $l \in \mathbb{N}$.

A few comments on our theorem are in order. The Stone-Čech compactification of \mathbb{N} is characterized by the universal property that any map $f: \mathbb{N} \to K$ to a compact space K extends continuously $\overline{f}: \beta \mathbb{N} \to K$. It can be defined as the set of all ultra-filters on \mathbb{N} . The Banach ring A^{ϵ} is a product of countably many copies of \mathbb{C} with the norm $|\cdot|^{\epsilon_n}$, and Berkovich proved that the spectrum $\mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon})$ is isomorphic to $\beta \mathbb{N}$, see [4, Proposition 1.2.3]. The map $\pi: \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}} \to \beta \mathbb{N}$ is the composition of the canonical map $\pi: \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}} \to \mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon})$ with the homeomorphism $\mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon}) \simeq \beta \mathbb{N}$.

The field $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is a complex Robinson field, and appears classically in non-standard analysis¹. It turns out to be both spherically complete and algebraically closed. A map $g \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathscr{H}(\omega))$ has good reduction if its Julia set J_g is reduced to a single point. By [32, Theorem C], it is equivalent to say that g has zero entropy, or that it is defined by homogenous polynomials P_{ω}, Q_{ω} normalized so that their coefficients have norm ≤ 1 , and their reductions in the residue field of $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ defines a rational map of degree d. A map has potential good reduction if it is conjugated to a map having good reduction. The statement that f_{ω} does not have potential good reduction reflects the fact that the classes $[f_n]$ are degenerating in the moduli space $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$.

The continuity of Lyapunov exponents might be surprising as there exists degenerating sequences of rational maps f_n such that $\chi_{f_n} \to \infty$ whereas the Lyapunov exponent χ_{ω} appearing in (2) is always finite. Choose any integer $n \in \mathbb{N}$. In fact, we have the relation $\chi_n = \epsilon_n \times \chi_{f_n}$, so that an alternative way to express the continuity of Lyapunov exponent in the hybrid space is

¹Ducros, Hrushovski and Loeser [24] have recently studied non-archimedean integrals as limits of complex ones. They also used a non-standard model of the field of complex numbers endowed with both an archimedean and non-archimedean to analyze these, although in a way different to us.

to say that for any ultra-filter $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$, the sequence $\epsilon_n \times \chi_{f_n}$ converges to the non-Archimedean Lyapunov exponent $\chi_{f_{\omega}}$ along ω .

Comparison with previous approaches. Suppose first that $(f_t)_{t\in\mathbb{D}^*}$ is a meromorphic family, and $f_{na} \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C}((t)))$ does not have potential good reduction. Pick any sequence $t_n \in \mathbb{D}^*$ tending to 0. Then it is not difficult to show that

$$\epsilon_n = -\log(|\operatorname{res}(f_{t_n})|/C_d)^{-1} \asymp -\log|t_n|^{-1}.$$

In this case, for any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N} \setminus \mathbb{N}$ the field $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is a metrized field extension of $\mathbb{C}((t))$, and f_{ω} is the base field extension of f_{na} to $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$. The continuity of the equilibrium measure and the Lyapunov exponents generalizes results by Demarco-Faber and the first author mentioned above.

Let us now compare our approach with the ideas of Luo. We shall prove:

Theorem 0.3. There exists a constant C > 1 such that

$$\frac{1}{C} \le \frac{1 + \mathfrak{r}_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathfrak{f})}{-\log(|\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f})|/C_d)} \le C$$

for all $\mathfrak{f} \in \operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$.

This statement says that our choice of normalization ϵ_n coincides with Luo's choice up to a bounded universal constant. We shall also prove (Theorem 6.1) that Luo's ultra-limits of f_n are identical to our f_{ω} for any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$. Since our techniques bypass the use of hyperbolic geometry, we expect it to be amenable to various other contexts, such as in higher dimensions and over different base fields.

Organization of the text. In §1, we recall some basic notions on Berkovich analytic spaces over a general Banach ring, and discuss in details the case of the projective line. We then briefly describe potential theory on the Berkovich projective line over a metrized field, with an emphasis on how the Laplacian operator varies when we replace a norm on a field by a power of it.

In §2, we define the moduli space of rational maps, and discuss the function | res |, proving it is continuous using basic results in geometric invariant theory. In the non-Archimedean case, this function is directly related to the minimal resultant function introduced by Rumely [69]. We conclude this section by recalling how to define the equilibrium measure of a rational map defined over a metrized field.

The aim of §3, is to prove the first two items of Theorem 0.1. We begin with a discussion of the Stone-Čech compactification including the notion of ultra-filters. We then discuss the structure of the Berkovich projective line over a product Banach ring of the form A^{ϵ} as above. We explain how to choose the sequence ϵ_n from a given sequence $\mathfrak{f}_n \in \operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ so that it naturally induces an endomorphism of $\mathbb{P}^1_{A^{\epsilon}}$, and prove the properness of the iteration map (Corollary 0.2). Note that our argument to show that f_{ω} cannot have potential good reduction when \mathfrak{f}_n degenerates relies on the minimal resultant function of Rumely.

The next section §4 is technical in nature. It contains a discussion on continuous families of measures on the hybrid space $\mathbb{P}_{A^{\epsilon}}^{1,an}$. We introduce a notion of model (and quasi-model) functions that play the role of smooth

functions in complex manifolds and of model functions in Berkovich analytic spaces (see, e.g., [9, §2.5]). Using Stone-Weierstrass theorem, we prove that model functions forms a dense subset of the set of continuous functions on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$. We then prove the continuity of the push-forward of a continuous function by a rational map defined over A^{ϵ} (Proposition 4.13), a technical yet crucial result to obtain the continuity of equilibrium measures.

In §5, we analyze the convergence of measures in the hybrid space $\mathbb{P}_{A^{\epsilon}}^{1,an}$, and prove in particular the third item in Theorem 0.1. Our strategy follows closely [27, 66]. First we consider a sequence of smooth volume form μ_n on $\pi^{-1}(n)$ arising from metrics g_n with constant positive curvature on the Riemann sphere. In Theorem 5.2, we describe the possible limits of μ_n on the non-Archimedean fibers $\pi^{-1}(\omega)$ in terms of behaviour of the point $x_n \in \mathbb{H}^3_{\mathbb{R}}$ determined by g_n . Using the continuity of the push-forward proved in the previous section, and the convergence of potentials defining the equilibrium measures, we prove the continuity of equilibrium measures of an endomorphism defined over A^{ϵ} , as well as the continuity of the Lyapunov exponents.

The last section §6 is devoted to the proof of Theorem 0.3, and to the comparison of our construction with that of Luo. We exploit Theorem 5.2 on the convergence of measures associated with metrics of constant curvature to build a direct connection between the ultra-limit of $\mathbb{H}^3_{\mathbb{R}}$ along a ultra-filter ω , and the Berkovich projective line $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}$ (Theorem 6.1).

Acknowledgements. We warmly thank Marco Maculan for discussions on GIT on non-Archimedean fields; and to Mattias Jonsson for his insightful comments.

Notations.

- B a Banach ring, B^{\times} its group of units, $\mathcal{M}(B)$ the Berkovich spectrum of B, see §1.1).
- $\mathbb{P}_{B}^{1,an}$ the Berkovich projective line over B, $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$ the Riemann sphere, see §1.2.
- \mathbb{C}_{ϵ} the complex field endowed with the norm $|\cdot|^{\epsilon}$, where $|\cdot|$ is the standard Euclidean norm on \mathbb{C} ; s_{ϵ} the canonical homeomorphism from $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}$ to the Riemann sphere; $s_{\epsilon}^{\#}$ the morphism between the sheaf over the Riemann sphere and $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}$, see §1.3.1.
- Hom 1_{C_e} vertice the resultant sphere, s_e is the interplant section of the sheaf over the Riemann sphere and P^{1,an}_{C_e}, see §1.3.1.

 ■_k the hyperbolic space of P^{1,an}_k; d_k the hyperbolic distance on H_k; d_{P¹(k)} the spherical metric on P¹(k), see §1.2.2, §1.2.3.
- Rat_d the space of rational maps of degree $d \ge 1$; rat_d the moduli space of degree d; $|\operatorname{Res}|$: Rat_d^{an} $\to \mathbb{R}_+$ the resultant function of a rational map; $|\operatorname{res}|$: rat_d^{an} $\to \mathbb{R}_+$ the minimal resultant function, see §2.1, §2.2.
- μ_{can} the canonical measure on $\mathbb{P}_{k}^{1,an}$, i.e., the Haar measure on the unit circle if k is Archimedean, and the Dirac measure supported on the Gauss point if k is non-Archimedean; μ_{f} the equilibrium measure of a rational map f, see §2.3)
- $\beta \mathbb{N}$ the Stone-Čech compactification of \mathbb{N} ; A^{ϵ} the product Banach ring associated with a sequence $\epsilon \in (0, 1]^{\mathbb{N}}$, see §3.1, §3.2.

9

- M⁺(ℙ¹, B) the space of continuous families of positive measures on ℙ^{1,an}_B; D(P^{1,an}_B) the set of model functions on ℙ^{1,an}_B, see §4.1, §4.2.
 ℍ³ the upper-half space model of the hyperbolic space of dimension
- \mathbb{H}^3 the upper-half space model of the hyperbolic space of dimension 3; $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^3$ the hyperbolic space along with its conformal boundary; $d_{\mathbb{H}}$ the hyperbolic distance on \mathbb{H}^3 ; $\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{C})$ the space of conformal metrics on the Riemann sphere that have constant curvature 4π ; $\overline{\mathbb{D}}(x)$ the projective disk on $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C})$ induced by $x \in \mathbb{H}^3$, see S5.1.
- x_{\star} the point $(0,1) \in \mathbb{H}^3$; $\mu(x)$ the probability measure on the Riemann sphere which is fixed by any Möbius transformation fixing $x \in \mathbb{H}^3$; μ_{FS} the Fubini-Study measure, see §5.1.
- |df| the derivative of f with respect to the spherical metric on $\mathbb{P}^1(k)$; χ_f the Lyapunov exponent of f, see §5.4.
- r_L Luo's degeneration map on Rat_d(ℂ); r_L Luo's degeneration map on rat_d(ℂ); *E*(f) the barycentric extension of f, see §6.2, §6.3.

1. Berkovich spaces

1.1. Analytic spaces over a Banach ring. A Banach ring $(B, \|\cdot\|)$ is by convention a commutative ring with unity 1, endowed with a norm $\|\cdot\|: B \to \mathbb{R}_+$ which is complete, such that $\|a + b\| \leq \|a\| + \|b\|$, and $\|ab\| \leq K \|a\| \|b\|$ for some K > 0 and for all $a, b \in B$, see [7, A.1.2.1]. We do not require the norm to be multiplicative.

A multiplicative semi-norm $|\cdot|: B \to \mathbb{R}_+$ on a Banach ring is bounded if there exists C > 0 such that for all $b \in B$, we have $|b| \leq C ||b||$. Observe that if $||\cdot||$ is power multiplicative, i.e., if $||b^n|| = ||b||^n$ for all $b \in B$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then $|\cdot|$ is bounded if and only if $|b| \leq ||b||$ for all $b \in B$.

The Berkovich spectrum $\mathcal{M}(B)$ is the set of all bounded multiplicative seminorms on B endowed with the weakest topology with respect to which all real valued functions on $\mathcal{M}(B)$ of the form $|\cdot| \to |f|, f \in B$, are continuous. By [4, Theorem 1.2.1], it is a compact space. It also carries a structural sheaf that we define in more generality below.

We now recall the notion of analytic spaces over B following [48]. We first define the affine space $\mathbb{A}_B^{n,an}$ of dimension n over B. As a topological space, it is the set of all multiplicative semi-norms on $B[T_1, ..., T_n]$ whose restrictions to B belongs to $\mathcal{M}(B)$. We endow $\mathbb{A}_B^{n,an}$ with the weakest topology making all real valued functions of the form: $|\cdot| \to |P|, P \in B[T_1, ..., T_n]$ continuous.

If $x \in \mathbb{A}^{n,an}_B$, $P \in B[T_1, ..., T_n]$, then we usually denote by $|P(x)| = |P|_x \in \mathbb{R}_+$ the value of P at x. Consider the prime ideal

$$\ker(x) = \{P \in B[T_1, ..., T_n], |P|_x = 0\}.$$

The complete residue field $\mathscr{H}(x)$ of x is defined as the completion of the fraction field of $B[T_1, ..., T_n]/\ker(x)$ with respect to the norm induced by x.

We now define the structural sheaf on $\mathbb{A}_B^{n,an}$. For any open subset $U \subseteq \mathbb{A}_B^{n,an}$, let S_U be the elements in $B[T_1, ..., T_n]$ that do not vanish on U. We set $\mathcal{K}(U) = S_U^{-1}B[T_1, ..., T_n]$ and define $\mathcal{O}(U)$ to be the set of applications

$$f \colon U \to \bigsqcup_{x \in U} \mathscr{H}(x)$$

such that for all $x \in U$, $f(x) \in \mathscr{H}(x)$ and there exists a neighbourhood V_x such that $f|_{V_x}$ is a uniform limit of elements in $\mathcal{K}(V_x)$. One can verify that the map sending U to $\mathcal{O}(U)$ is a sheaf [4].

An analytic map $f: U \to V$ between two open sets of $\mathbb{A}^{n,an}_B$ and $\mathbb{A}^{m,an}_B$ is a morphism of ringed spaces such that the induced residue field extension $f^{\#}: \mathscr{H}(f(x)) \to \mathscr{H}(x)$ is isometric for all $x \in U$.

Lemanissier and Poineau [48, Chapitre 2] defined the category of *B*analytic spaces as follows. Local models (X, \mathcal{O}_X) are determined by the choice of an open subset $U \subset \mathbb{A}_B^{n,an}$, and a coherent subsheaf \mathcal{I} of the structural sheaf of U such that X is the support of the quotient sheaf $\mathcal{O}_U/\mathcal{I}$, and $\mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{O}_U/\mathcal{I}$. Note that we have a canonical closed immersion $X \hookrightarrow U$.

A *B*-atlas on a locally ringed space is an open cover U_i where each U_i is isomorphic to a local model, and the patching maps are *B*-analytic. A *B*-analytic space is then a locally ringed space with an equivalence class of *B*-atlas.

Since we shall only use the projective line over B, we do not develop the general theory of B-analytic spaces here, referring to op. cit.

Observe that any *B*-analytic space X is equipped with a canonical (continuous) structure map $\pi: X \to \mathcal{M}(B)$. The map $\pi: \mathbb{A}_B^{n,an} \to \mathcal{M}(B)$ is sending a semi-norm on $B[T_1, \dots, T_n]$ to its restriction on *B*. We extend it to each local model *U* by composition with the immersion $U \subseteq \mathbb{A}_B^{n,an}$. These maps patch together on a general *B*-analytic space.

maps patch together on a general *B*-analytic space. The fiber $\pi^{-1}(x)$ in $\mathbb{A}_B^{n,an}$ is canonically isomorphic (as an analytic space) to $\mathbb{A}_{\mathscr{H}(x)}^{n,an}$, so that the fiber $\pi^{-1}(x)$ in a general *B*-analytic space *X* is a Berkovich analytic space defined over the complete field $\mathscr{H}(x)$.

Remark 1.1. When B is a metrized field, then the category of B-analytic spaces consists of k-analytic spaces without boundary in the sense of Berkovich [4].

Remark 1.2. Under additional assumptions on the Banach ring, (for example when B is either a metrized field, or a ring of integers of number field, or a hybrid field, etc.), then the structure sheaf of any B-analytic space enjoy many good properties: local rings are Henselian, Noetherian, and excellent by [63, Corollary 2.5.2] and [65, Corollaries 8.19 and 9.3]; the structural sheaf is coherent by [65, Corollary 10.10]; the affine spaces $\mathbb{A}_B^{n,an}$ are locally arcwise connected [48, Theorem 7.2.17].

A standard example for analytic spaces is the Berkovich analytification of an algebraic variety X defined over a metrized field $(k, |\cdot|)$, see [4, §3.4, 3.5] for details. When $X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ is an affine variety, and A is a finitely generated k-algebra, then X^{an} is by definition the space of all multiplicative semi-norms on A whose restriction to k is $|\cdot|$.

1.2. The Berkovich projective line over a Banach ring. We define the Berkovich projective line over a general Banach ring $(B, \|\cdot\|)$ and discuss its structure.

1.2.1. General construction of the Berkovich projective line. The projective Berkovich line $\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an}$ over B is the B-analytic space given by a B-atlas containing two charts X_0 and X_1 , each isomorphic to $\mathbb{A}_B^{1,an}$ and patched along

 $\mathbb{A}^{1,an}_B \setminus \{0\}$ as follows. A point $x_0 \in X_0 \setminus \{0\}$ (resp. $x_1 \in X_1 \setminus \{0\}$) is a semi-norm on $B[z_0]$ (resp. on $B[z_1]$), and we identify them when

$$|P(1/T)|_{x_0} = |P(T)|_{x_1}$$

for all polynomial $P \in B[T]$. This construction naturally gives homogeneous coordinates $[z_0: z_1]$ on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B$. To simplify notation we usually write $z = z_0$, 0 = [0: 1] and $\infty = [1: 0]$ so that $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B = \mathbb{A}^{1,an}_B \sqcup \{\infty\}$. Every homogeneous polynomial $P(z_0, z_1) \in B[z_0, z_1]$ of degree d deter-mines a function $\psi_P : \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B \to \mathbb{R}$:

$$\psi_P(x) = \frac{|P(z_0, z_1)|}{\max\{|z_0|^d, |z_1|^d\}} = \begin{cases} \frac{|P(z_0, 1)|_x}{\max\{|z_0|_x, 1\}}, & x \in X_0\\ \frac{|P(1, z_1)|_x}{\max\{1, |z_1|_x^d\}}, & x \in X_1. \end{cases}$$

Observe that ψ_P is a continuous function vanishing exactly on $\{P = 0\}$ and that the topology on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B$ is the weakest topology such that all the functions ψ_P are continuous. The space $\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an}$ is compact.

The canonical continuous map

$$\pi\colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B \to \mathcal{M}(B)$$

sending a point $x \in \mathbb{P}_B^{1,an}$ to its restriction to B is proper, and for all $s \in \mathcal{M}(B)$, the fiber $\pi^{-1}(s)$ is canonically identified with $\mathbb{P}_{\mathscr{H}(s)}^{1,an}$.

For the record, recall that a point $p \in \mathbb{P}^1(B)$ is determined by a pair $z_0, z_1 \in B^2$ such that $z_0B + z_1B = B$, and this pair is unique up to multiplication by a unit in B^{\times} .

1.2.2. Berkovich projective line over an algebraically closed metrized field k. More details can be found in |42|.

Suppose first that the field k is Archimedean. In this case, by Gelfand-Mazur's theorem and Ostrowski's theorem, there exists $0 < \epsilon < 1$ such that k is isometric to $\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon} = (\mathbb{C}, |\cdot|^{\epsilon})$, where $|\cdot|$ is the standard Euclidean norm on \mathbb{C} . When $\epsilon = 1$, then $\mathbb{P}_{k}^{1,an}$ is the Riemann sphere $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$; when $\epsilon \in (0,1)$ then the map on X_i sending a semi-norm $|\cdot|_x$ on $\mathbb{C}[z_i]$ to $|\cdot|_x^{1/\epsilon}$ induces a homeomorphism $s_{\epsilon} \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}.$

Assume now that the field k is non-Archimedean. In that case, a point $x \in \mathbb{P}_k^{1,an} = \mathbb{A}_k^{1,an} \sqcup \{\infty\}$ can be classified as follows. Note first that x is either ∞ or a multiplicative semi-norm on k[z] whose restriction to k is the standard norm.

- If the norm on k is trivial, that is, for any $a \in k^*$, |a| = 1, then x is of the following form:
 - (T1) Either $x = \infty$, or there exists $a \in k$ such that $|P|_x = |P(a)|$ for all $P \in k[z];$
- (T2) x is the trivial norm, that is, $|P|_x = 1$ for any non-zero $P \in k[z]$;
- (T3) there exists $a \in k$ and 0 < r < 1, such that

$$|P|_x = r^m,$$

if $P(z) = (z - a)^m Q(z)$ with $Q(a) \neq 0$.

• If the norm is non-trivial, then x falls into one of the following four categories:

Type-1 : $x = \infty$ or there exists $a \in k$ such that for any $P \in k[z]$, $|P|_x = |P(a)|;$

Type-2 : there exist $a \in k$ and $r \in |k^*|$ such that

$$|P|_{x} = \max_{z \in \bar{B}(a,r)} |P(z)| = \max\{|b_{i}|r^{i}\},\$$

where $P(z) = b_d(z-a)^d + ... + b_1(z-a) + b_0$, and $\overline{B}(a,r)$ is the closed ball of radius r centered at a in k;

Type-3 : there exist $a \in k$ and $r \in \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus |k^*|$ such that for all $P \in k[z]$, $|P|_x = \max_{z \in \overline{B}(a,r)} |P(z)|$ as in the previous case;

Type-4 : there exists a sequence of decreasing closed balls \bar{B}_n with $\bigcap \bar{B}_n = \emptyset$, such that $|P|_x = \inf_n \max_{z \in \bar{B}_n} |P(z)|$ for all $P \in k[z]$.

Usually, we write $\zeta(a, r)$ for the (Type-2 or-3) point associated with the ball $\overline{B}(a, r)$, and denote the Gauss point by $x_q = \zeta(0, 1)$.

A Type-1 point is also referred to as a rigid point. Observe that the set of Type-1 points can be identified with $\mathbb{P}^1(k)$.

Remark 1.3. A field k is spherically complete if for any decreasing sequence \bar{B}_n of closed disks, we have $\bigcap \bar{B}_n \neq \emptyset$. When k is spherically complete, there is no Type-4 point on $\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$.

The compact space $\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$ has a structure of \mathbb{R} -tree, in the sense that any two points can be joined by a unique continuous injective map $[0,1] \to \mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$ up to reparameterization (see [60, §3] for a thorough discussion on \mathbb{R} -trees). In particular, it is homotopic to a point. A tree structure naturally induces a topology (also called the observer's topology) admitting as a basis of open sets connected components of complements of finitely many points (see [29, §3.2]). One can verify that the tree topology on $\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$ coincides with the topology as a Berkovich analytic space.

On a tree, one can naturally define the notion of endpoints, branched points and regular points (see [29, §3.1.2]). In the trivially valued case, $\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$ is star-like: it contains a single branched point (the trivial norm); endpoints are exactly of the form (T1); and we have a single branch joining the trivial norm to an endpoint consisting of regular points of Type (T3). In the non-trivially valued case, Type-1 and-4 points are endpoints; Type-2 (resp. Type-3) are branched (resp. regular) points.

In the remainder of this section, we assume that k is not trivially valued. The hyperbolic space \mathbb{H}_k is defined as the complement in $\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$ of Type-1 points. For any pair of Type-2 or-3 points $x, y \in \mathbb{H}_k$ defined by the closed balls $\overline{B}(a_1, r_1)$ and $\overline{B}(a_2, r_2)$ respectively, we let

$$d_k(x,y) = 2\log \max\{r_1, r_2, |a_1 - a_2|\} - \log r_1 - \log r_2.$$

Proposition 1.4. The map $d_k(\cdot, \cdot)$ extends continuously to $\mathbb{H}_k \times \mathbb{H}_k$ and defines a complete distance on \mathbb{H}_k . The group of projective linear transformations $\mathrm{PGL}_2(k)$ acts by isometries on (\mathbb{H}_k, d_k) and transitively on Type-2 points.

We refer to [1, Proposition 2.29] for a proof.

1.2.3. Berkovich projective line over a general complete metrized field. Denote by \hat{k}^a the completion of the algebraic closure k^a of k. This is an algebraically closed complete field. Denote by $\operatorname{Gal}(k^a/k)$ the absolute Galois group of k. It acts by isometries on \hat{k}^a fixing k, hence continuously on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\hat{k}^a}$ and by isometries on $\mathbb{H}_{\hat{k}^a}$ by the following formulas:

$$|b_d z^d + \dots + b_0|_{\sigma(x)} = |\sigma(b_d) z^d + \dots + \sigma(b_0)|_x,$$

where $b_i \in k$, $x \in \mathbb{A}_k^{1,an}$ and $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(k^a/k)$. This action also preserves the type of points as discussed in the previous paragraph so that we may speak of the type of points in $\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$. Finally we have

$$\mathbb{P}_{k}^{1,an} = \mathbb{P}_{\hat{k}^{a}}^{1,an} / \operatorname{Gal}(k^{a}/k),$$

by [4, Proposition 1.3.5], so that $\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$ is still an \mathbb{R} -tree.

We shall use at several places the spherical distance on $\mathbb{P}^1(k)$. When $k = \mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}$ with $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$ is Archimedean, it is defined by the formula:

(3)
$$d_{\mathbb{P}^1(k)}([z_0:z_1],[w_0:w_1]) = \frac{|z_0w_1 - z_1w_0|}{(|z_0|^{2/\epsilon} + |z_1|^{2/\epsilon})^{\epsilon/2}(|w_0|^{2/\epsilon} + |w_1|^{2/\epsilon})^{\epsilon/2}}.$$

This formula agrees with the standard spherical metric in the case $\epsilon = 1$, and the exponents are chosen so that $d_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}} = d_{\mathbb{C}}^{\epsilon} \circ s_{\epsilon}$.

When k is non-Archimedean, then we set:

(4)
$$d_{\mathbb{P}^{1}(k)}([z_{0}:z_{1}],[w_{0}:w_{1}]) = \frac{|z_{0}w_{1}-z_{1}w_{0}|}{\max\{|z_{0}|,|z_{1}|\}\max\{|w_{0}|,|w_{1}|\}}.$$

The diameter of $\mathbb{P}^1(k)$ is equal to 1, and the topology induced by this distance coincides with the Berkovich topology restricted to $\mathbb{P}^1(k)$.

1.3. Potential theory on the Berkovich projective line over a field. In this section, $(k, |\cdot|)$ is an algebraically closed and complete metrized field. We briefly recall how to define a Laplace operator on $\mathbb{P}_{k}^{1,an}$, and discuss what happens when one replaces $(k, |\cdot|)$ by $(k, |\cdot|^{\epsilon})$ for some $\epsilon > 0$.

1.3.1. The Archimedean case. Let \mathbb{C}_{ϵ} be the metrized field $(\mathbb{C}, |\cdot|^{\epsilon})$ with $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$. Recall that $\hat{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{C}_1}^{1,an}$ is the Riemann sphere, and that we have a homeomorphism $s_{\epsilon} \colon \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}^{1,an} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$, sending a semi-norm $|\cdot|$ on $\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}[z]$ to $|\cdot|^{1/\epsilon}$. For any $x \in \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}^{1,an}$, we have a canonical isometry $\tau_x \colon \mathscr{H}(x) \simeq \mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}$. Observe that the identity map $I_{\epsilon} \colon \mathbb{C}_{\epsilon} \to (\mathbb{C}, |\cdot|)$ is Hölder-continuous (but is not an isometry).

Pick any open subset $U \subset \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ and any $f \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ (by Mittag-Leffler' theorem $\mathcal{O}(U)$ is the space of holomorphic functions on U). For any $x \in \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}$, set $s_{\epsilon}^{\#}f(x) = \tau_{x}^{-1}(I_{\epsilon}^{-1}(f(s_{\epsilon}(x)))) \in \mathscr{H}(x)$. We get an isomorphism of \mathbb{C} algebras $s_{\epsilon}^{\#} : \mathcal{O}(U) \to \mathcal{O}(s_{\epsilon}^{-1}(U))$ which satisfies

(5)
$$|s_{\epsilon}^{\#}h(x)| = |h \circ s_{\epsilon}(x)|^{\epsilon},$$

for any $x \in s_{\epsilon}^{-1}(U)$. In particular, we get Hölder-continuous field isomorphisms $s_{\epsilon}^{\#} \colon \mathscr{H}(s_{\epsilon}(x)) \to \mathscr{H}(x)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}^{1,an}$.

1.3.1.1. Subharmonic functions. Pick any $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$, and any open subset U of $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}$. The space of subharmonic functions $\mathrm{SH}(U)$ on U is defined as the smallest class of upper-semicontinuous (usc) functions that contains $\log |h|$ for any $h \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ and is stable under multiplication by positive constants, taking maxima, and decreasing limits. It follows from, e.g., [17, Theorem 6.1], that in the case $\epsilon = 1$ these functions are exactly those usc functions whose mean value on any round disk $D \subset U$ centered at a point x exceeds u(x). The latter definition being local, SH is in fact a sheaf on $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$, and by (5), we have an isomorphism $s_{\epsilon}^{\#} \colon \mathrm{SH}(U) \to \mathrm{SH}(s_{\epsilon}^{-1}(U))$ so that SH is a sheaf on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}$ for any ϵ .

1.3.1.2. Laplace operator. Let $M^+(U)$ be the set of positive Borel measures on some open set $U \subset \hat{\mathbb{C}}$. The Laplace operator on SH(U) can be defined as the differential operator $\Delta = \frac{i}{\pi} \partial \overline{\partial}$, or as the unique operator $\Delta \colon SH(U) \to M^+(U)$ which is continuous under decreasing limits and such that the Poincaré formula holds

$$\Delta \log |h| = \sum_{x \in U} m_{x,h} \delta_x$$

for any $h \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ having a discrete set of zeroes, where $m_{x,h} \in \mathbb{N}$ is the multiplicity of x as a zero of h.

One can proceed in the same way on \mathbb{C}_{ϵ} , and define a Laplace operator Δ on $\mathrm{SH}(U)$ with $U \subset \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}$ with values in $\mathrm{M}^+(U)$ which is continuous under decreasing limits and such that

(6)
$$\Delta \log |h|_{\epsilon} = \sum_{x \in U} m_{x,h} \delta_x$$

for any $h \in \mathcal{O}(U)$. Comparing the latter equation with (5), and observing that zeroes of $s_{\epsilon}^{\#}(h)$ are mapped by s_{ϵ} to zeroes of h preserving the multiplicity, we obtain for any $u \in SH(U)$ with $U \subset \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ the identity:

(7)
$$(s_{\epsilon})_* \Delta(u \circ s_{\epsilon}) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \Delta u$$

1.3.1.3. Quasi-subharmonic functions. Since $\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}^{1,an}$ is compact, the maximum principle implies that any subharmonic function on $\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}^{1,an}$ is constant. We thus define the class $\mathrm{QSH}(\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}^{1,an})$ of usc functions $u: \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}^{1,an} \to [-\infty, +\infty)$ such that locally near any point u is the sum of a smooth function and a subharmonic function. Since Δ is a local differential operator, one can define $\Delta u \in \mathrm{M}(\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}^{1,an})$ as a signed measure. One can prove that $\int_{\mathbb{P}_{\epsilon}^{1,an}}\Delta u = 0$ for any $u \in \mathrm{QSH}(\mathbb{P}_{\epsilon}^{1,an})$. Conversely, pick any Borel measure $\mu \in \mathrm{M}(\mathbb{P}_{\epsilon}^{1,an})$ such that $\mu(\mathbb{P}_{\epsilon}^{1,an}) = 0$, and decompose it as a difference $\mu = \mu^+ - \mu^-$ such that $\mu^{\pm} \in \mathrm{M}^+(\mathbb{P}_{\epsilon}^{1,an})$, and $\mu^+ \perp \mu^-$, [68, 6.14]. Then there exist $u^{\pm} \in \mathrm{QSH}(\mathbb{P}_{\epsilon}^{1,an})$ such that $\Delta(u^+ - u^-) = \mu$. When μ^- is a (smooth) volume form, then $u^+ - u^-$ is quasi-subharmonic, see, e.g., [23, Theorem 10].

1.3.2. The non-Archimedean case. To avoid trivialities, we shall assume that $(k, |\cdot|)$ is not trivially valued. Potential theory on curves has been developed in [29, 1, 74].

1.3.2.1. Subharmonic functions. Pick any connected open subset $U \subset \mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$. Since the projective line is an \mathbb{R} -tree, U is also a tree, and $U_{\mathbb{H}} = U \cap \mathbb{H}_k$ endowed with the metric $d_{\mathbb{H}_k}$ is a metric \mathbb{R} -tree in the sense of [42, §2.2]. For the sake of convenience, we defined a subgraph of U as a connected closed subtree Γ having finitely many endpoints lying in \mathbb{H}_k . A function $u: \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$ is subharmonic if it is continuous, its restriction to any segment of Γ is convex, and the sum of its derivatives at all outward directions at a branched point is non-negative. A function $u: U \to [-\infty, \infty)$ is subharmonic if and only if it is use, and its restriction to any subgraph is subharmonic.

As above, we denote by $\operatorname{SH}(U)$ the space of all subharmonic functions: it is stable under multiplication by positive constants, under taking maxima and by decreasing limits, and contains all functions $\log |h|$ for any analytic functions $h \in \mathcal{O}(U)$. Observe that SH defines a sheaf, and given any subgraph Γ and any $u \in \operatorname{SH}(U)$, then $u \circ r_{\Gamma} \in \operatorname{SH}(U)$ where $r_{\Gamma} \colon U \to \Gamma$ denotes the canonical retraction.

When U is an open ball, then a theorem of Stevenson [72, Example 4.8, Theorem 4.9] states SH(U) is the smallest class of usc functions stable under the preceding operations. The result is unclear in full generality.

1.3.2.2. Laplace operator. Pick any subgraph $\Gamma \subset U$ and any $u: \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$ subharmonic. Then $\Delta_{\Gamma} u$ is defined as the unique positive measure whose restriction on any segment e not containing a branched and end point is equal to the second derivative (in the distributional sense) of the convex function $u|_e$; and the mass at any branched or end point v is the sum of the derivatives of u at all outward directions at v.

There exists a unique linear map $\Delta \colon \operatorname{SH}(U) \to \operatorname{M}^+(U)$ that is continuous under decreasing limits and satisfies the following property. For any subgraph Γ of U and for any $u \in \operatorname{SH}(U)$, then $(r_{\Gamma})_* \Delta u = \Delta_{\Gamma} u|_{\Gamma}$.

With the same notation as in the previous section, Poincaré formula holds:

$$\Delta \log |h| = \sum_{x \in U} m_{x,h} \delta_x$$

for any $h \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ having a discrete set of zeroes.

1.3.2.3. Quasi-subharmonic functions. Smooth functions do not make sense in non-Archimedean geometry. We say that $u: \mathbb{P}_k^{1,an} \to \mathbb{R}$ is tropical if and only if there exists a subgraph Γ such that $u|_{\Gamma}$ is piecewise linear, and $u = u \circ r_{\Gamma}$.

A function is said to be quasi-subharmonic if it can be written locally as the sum of a subharmonic function and a tropical function. We let $QSH(\mathbb{P}_{k}^{1,an})$ be the space of all quasi-subharmonic functions. For any $u \in$ $QSH(\mathbb{P}_{k}^{1,an})$, one can define Δu as a signed Borel measure.

As in the Archimedean case, for any signed Borel measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an})$ such that $\mu(\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}) = 0$, there exist $u^{\pm} \in \mathrm{QSH}(\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an})$ such that $\Delta(u^+ - u^-) = \mu$, see [1].

For any $x, y \in \mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$, denote by $x \wedge y$ the unique point z such that $[x_g, x] \cap [x_g, y] = [x, z]$. When $\mu = \rho - \delta_{x_g}$ where ρ is a probability (positive) measure, then

$$g_{\rho}(x) = -\int d(x_g, x \wedge y) d\rho(y) \in \text{QSH}(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_k)$$

and $\Delta g_{\rho} = \mu$. We call the function g_{ρ} the (global) potential of ρ .

2. RATIONAL MAPS ON THE PROJECTIVE LINE

2.1. The space of rational maps and the resultant. Let k be an algebraically closed field. For each $d \in \mathbb{N}^*$, a rational map f of degree d with coefficients in k is represented by a pair of homogeneous polynomials $P(z_0, z_1), Q(z_0, z_1) \in k[z_0, z_1]$ of degree d having no common factor, such that the map

$$[z_0: z_1] \rightarrow [P(z_0, z_1): Q(z_0, z_1)]$$

represents the action of f on \mathbb{P}^1_k . Such a pair is unique up to scaling, so that f naturally defines a point in $\mathbb{P}^{2d+1}(k)$. The condition that P and Q are coprime can be expressed as the non-vanishing of their homogeneous resultant:

$$\operatorname{Res}(P,Q) = \det \begin{pmatrix} a_0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & b_0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ a_1 & a_0 & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & b_0 & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & a_1 & \ddots & 0 & \vdots & & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & a_0 & b_{d-1} & & & b_0 \\ a_d & & & a_1 & b_d & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \ddots & & \vdots & 0 & \ddots & b_{d-1} & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & a_d & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & b_d & b_{d-1} \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & a_d & 0 & \cdots & 0 & b_d \end{pmatrix}$$

when $P(z_0, z_1) = a_0 z_0^d + a_1 z_0^{d-1} z_1 + \ldots + a_d z_1^d$, and $Q(z_0, z_1) = b_0 z_0^d + b_1 z_0^{d-1} z_1 + \ldots + b_d z_1^d$. Note that the resultant is homogeneous of degree 2d + 2 in the variables a_i, b_j .

It is thus natural to define the space Rat_d as the Zariski open subset of $[P:Q] \in \mathbb{P}_k^{2d+1}$ satisfying $\operatorname{Res}(P,Q) \neq 0$. Its set of k-points is precisely the set of rational maps of degree d on \mathbb{P}_k^1 . Note that Rat_1 coincides with the algebraic group PGL₂.

Assume now that $(k, |\cdot|)$ is a complete metrized field. For any rational map $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(k)$, we set

$$|\operatorname{Res}(f)| = \frac{|\operatorname{Res}(P,Q)|}{\max\{|a_i|^{2d+2}, |b_j|^{2d+2}\}} \in \mathbb{R}^*_+$$

with the same notation as above. Observe that this value is well-defined because of the homogeneity properties of the resultant.

For convenience, we say that a pair of homogeneous polynomials P, Q of degree d is a normalized representation of a rational map $f: \mathbb{P}_k^1 \to \mathbb{P}_k^1$ of degree d, if f = [P: Q], and $\max\{|a_i|, |b_j|\} = 1$ where $P = \sum_i a_i z_0^i z_1^{d-i}$ and $Q = \sum_i b_i z_0^i z_1^{d-i}$. Observe that $|\operatorname{Res}(f)| = |\operatorname{Res}(P, Q)|$ for any normalized representation of f.

Proposition 2.1. The function $-\log |\operatorname{Res}|$: $\operatorname{Rat}_d(k) \to \mathbb{R}$ can be continuously extended to the Berkovich analytification of Rat_d . It is plurisubharmonic, proper and bounded from below. In the Archimedean case, plurisubharmonic functions are defined as usc function whose restriction to any analytic curve is subharmonic, see [16] for basics on this class. In the non-Archimedean case, the general theory has been developed by Ducros and Chambert-Loir in [12]. Suffice it to say that the class of psh functions contains $\log |h|$ for any analytic map h, and is stable under taking maxima.

Proof. Keeping the same notation as above, we first observe that

$$s_i = \frac{a_i^{2d+2}}{\operatorname{Res}(P,Q)}, t_j = \frac{b_j^{2d+2}}{\operatorname{Res}(P,Q)}$$

define regular functions on Rat_d , and $k[\operatorname{Rat}_d]$ is a finite module over $k[s_i, t_j]$. It follows that $-\log |\operatorname{Res}| = \log \max\{|s_i|, |t_j|\}$ extends canonically to $\operatorname{Rat}_d^{an}$ as a continuous function, and is plurisubharmonic.

To see that $-\log |\operatorname{Res}|$ is proper, we note that $|\operatorname{Res}|$ is in fact defined and continuous on the compact space $\mathbb{P}_k^{2d+1,an}$ and $\operatorname{Rat}_d = \{|\operatorname{Res}| > 0\}$. \Box

2.2. The moduli space and the minimal resultant. Let $(k, |\cdot|)$ be any complete metrized field which is algebraically closed, and pick any integer $d \ge 2$.

The group PGL_2 has a natural left action on Rat_d by conjugacy: $M \cdot f = M \circ f \circ M^{-1}$. In order to apply results from geometric invariant theory, it is better to work with the action of the affine reductive group SL_2 (note that the canonical morphism $\operatorname{SL}_2 \to \operatorname{PGL}_2$ has finite kernel).

By Hilbert theorem, the ring of invariant regular functions

$$k[\operatorname{Rat}_d]^{\operatorname{SL}_2} = \{h \in k[\operatorname{Rat}_d], h(M \cdot f) = h(f) \text{ for all } M, f\}$$

is finitely generated. We may thus define the affine variety

$$\operatorname{rat}_d = \operatorname{Spec} k[\operatorname{Rat}_d]^{\operatorname{SL}_2}.$$

Denote by π : Rat_d \rightarrow rat_d the canonical map.

According to [70], all SL₂-orbits are closed, and the stabilizer of any element in Rat_d is finite, so that Rat_d is included in the set of stable points for the SL₂-action. It follows that $\operatorname{rat}_d(k)$ is naturally in bijection with conjugacy classes of rational maps of degree d on \mathbb{P}^1_k . It is customary to write [f]for the class in $\operatorname{rat}_d(k)$ of a rational map $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(k)$. In order to clarify the difference between an actual rational map and a conjugacy class of rational maps, we shall use gothic fonts like \mathfrak{f} to denote a point in rat_d .

We refer to [49] for more details on the geometry of rat_d .

Pick any $\mathfrak{f} \in \operatorname{rat}_d(k)$, and choose $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(k)$ such that $[f] = \mathfrak{f}$. We define

$$-\log|\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f})| = \inf_{M \in \operatorname{PGL}_2(k)} -\log|\operatorname{Res}(M \cdot f)| \in \mathbb{R}.$$

This is well-defined because $-\log |\text{Res}|$ is bounded from below by Proposition 2.1.

The next result follows quite directly from Kempf-Ness theory. We refer to [53, Chapter 3] for general results on minimizing functions on orbits of action of general affine reductive groups over arbitrary metrized fields. **Proposition 2.2.** The function $-\log |\operatorname{res}|$: $\operatorname{rat}_d(k) \to \mathbb{R}$ extends as a continuous function on the Berkovich analytification of rat_d . This extension is proper and bounded from below.

Remark 2.3. Except if d = 2 (see [54, 55, 70]), the algebraic variety rat_d is singular. One can still define a notion of psh function in this singular setting (see [34] for the Archimedean case, and [12] for the non-Archimedean one). It is not clear whether $-\log|\operatorname{res}|$ is psh on rat_d .

We shall need the following lemma.

Lemma 2.4. The map

$$\Psi\colon \operatorname{SL}_2\times\operatorname{Rat}_d\to\operatorname{Rat}_d\times\operatorname{Rat}_d$$

defined by $\Psi(M, f) = (M \cdot f, f)$ is proper.

Note that since $SL_2 \rightarrow PGL_2$ has finite kernel, the induced map

 $\Psi \colon \operatorname{PGL}_2 \times \operatorname{Rat}_d \to \operatorname{Rat}_d \times \operatorname{Rat}_d$

is also proper.

Proof. This is a general result from geometric invariant theory. All points in Rat_d are SL_2 -stable hence $\operatorname{Rat}_d / \operatorname{SL}_2$ is a geometric quotient. It follows from [58, Proposition 0.8] that the map

$$\Psi \colon \operatorname{SL}_2 \times \operatorname{Rat}_d \to \operatorname{Rat}_d \times \operatorname{Rat}_d$$

defined by $\Psi(M, f) = (M \cdot f, f)$ is proper.

Proof in the Archimedean case. Suppose $k = \mathbb{C}$. Since all points are stable, all orbits are Zariski closed hence closed for the euclidean topology on $\operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$.

For a fixed $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$, the map $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C}) \to \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ sending M to $M \cdot f$ is proper by the previous lemma, hence the function $M \mapsto -\log |\operatorname{Res}(M \cdot f)|$ is also proper. It follows that $-\log |\operatorname{Res}|$ attains its minimum on the orbit of f.

Let us prove the properness of $-\log |\operatorname{res}|$. Choose any sequence $\mathfrak{f}_n \in \operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ such that $\sup_n -\log |\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)|$ is bounded. For each n, choose $f_n \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ such that $[f_n] = \mathfrak{f}_n$, and $-\log |\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)| = -\log |\operatorname{Res}(f_n)|$. Since $-\log |\operatorname{Res}|$ is proper, f_n is bounded, hence \mathfrak{f}_n is also bounded.

To see the continuity of $-\log |\operatorname{res}|$ we proceed in a similar way. Suppose $\mathfrak{f}_n \to \mathfrak{f} \in \operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$. Choose elements f_n (resp. f) with $[f_n] = \mathfrak{f}_n$ (resp. $[f] = \mathfrak{f}$) minimizing $-\log |\operatorname{Res}|$ on their respective orbits. Any cluster point of the f_n 's belongs to the orbit of f (a priori it might happen that there are none). It follows that

$$-\log|\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f})| = -\log|\operatorname{Res}(f)| \le \liminf_n \log|\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)|$$

hence $-\log|res|$ is lsc.

Conversely, choose any sequence f'_n such that $f'_n \to f$ and $[f'_n] = \mathfrak{f}_n$. To see that such a sequence exists, consider the $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ -invariant set $A := \bigcup_n \pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{f}_n)$. If A is not closed, it admits a cluster point g which necessarily lies in the orbit of f, and the existence of f'_n follows. If A is closed, then $\pi(A)$ is also closed in the euclidean topology by Kempf-Ness theorem (see, e.g., [53, Theorem 1.6 (3) Chapter 3]), which contradicts the fact that $A = \pi^{-1}(\pi(A))$. Now we have

$$\limsup_{n} -\log|\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_{n})| \leq \limsup_{n} -\log|\operatorname{Res}(f'_{n})|$$
$$= -\log|\operatorname{Res}(f)| = -\log|\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f})|$$

proving $-\log |res|$ is also usc.

Proof in the non-Archimedean case. In this case, one has to be carefully with the definition of orbits since points in $\operatorname{Rat}_d^{an}$ have different field of definitions. We have the following maps between k-varieties

$$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{SL}_2 \times \operatorname{Rat}_d & \xrightarrow{\varpi} & \operatorname{Rat}_d \\ & & \downarrow^{\operatorname{pr}_2} \\ & & \operatorname{Rat}_d \end{array}$$

where pr_2 denotes the projection onto the second factor, and $\varpi(M, f) = M \cdot f$. This diagram is also valid in the analytic category. The orbit of a point $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d^{an}$ is by definition the set $\operatorname{SL}_2^{an} \cdot f = \operatorname{\varpi}\operatorname{pr}_2^{-1}(f) \subset \operatorname{Rat}_d^{an}$. Choose $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d^{an}$, and denote by \mathscr{H} its complete residue field. Then

Choose $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d^{an}$, and denote by \mathscr{H} its complete residue field. Then $\operatorname{pr}_2^{-1}(f)$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{SL}_{2,\mathscr{H}}^{an}$, and we have a canonical map $\operatorname{SL}_{2,\mathscr{H}}^{an} \to$ $\operatorname{Rat}_d^{an}$ given by $M \to M \cdot f = \operatorname{pr}_1(\Psi^{an}(M, f))$, where Ψ is the map from Lemma 3.24 whose image is the orbit of f. Since Ψ is proper, its analytification is also proper, hence $M \to M \cdot f$ is proper. As in the complex case, it follows the function $-\log |\operatorname{Res}|$ is proper hence admits a minimum in the orbit of f. The properness of $-\log |\operatorname{res}|$ follows as in the archimedean case.

We aim at proving that $-\log |\operatorname{res}|$ is continuous. By Poineau [64], $\operatorname{rat}_{d_{-}}^{an}$ is Fréchet-Urysohn (meaning that for any subset A, and any point $x \in A$ there exists a sequence $x_n \in A$ such that $x_n \to x$). It follows that one can show that $-\log |\operatorname{res}|$ is continuous using sequences. Now all arguments used in the Archimedean case works exactly the same way (including Kempf-Ness theory as discussed by Maculan in [53]) and prove that $-\log |\operatorname{res}|$ is continuous.

Rumely's minimal resultant. Suppose now that k is an algebraically closed non-Archimedean field. In that case, the previous function $\log |\operatorname{res}|$ has strong connections with the minimal resultant function ordRes_f introduced by Rumely in [69], and further studied in [39, 73].

The basic observation (see [71, Exercice 2.12]) is that for any $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(k)$, and for any $M \in \operatorname{PGL}_2(k^\circ)$, we have

$$|\operatorname{Res}(f)| = |\operatorname{Res}(M \cdot f)|.$$

Since $\operatorname{PGL}_2(k^\circ)$ is precisely the subgroup of $\operatorname{PGL}_2(k)$ fixing the Gauss point, and $\operatorname{PGL}_2(k)$ acts transitively on Type-2 points, we obtain a well-defined function ordRes_f on the set of Type-2 points which sends the point $M(x_g)$ to $-\log |\operatorname{Res}(M \cdot f)|$.

A theorem of Rumely [69] states that ordRes_f can be canonically extended as a function $\operatorname{ordRes}_f \colon \mathbb{H}_k \to [0, \infty]$ that is continuous with respect to the metric $d_{\mathbb{H}_k}$ and proper. Moreover, the locus where ordRes_f attains its minimum is either a single Type-2 point or a segment containing at least one Type-2 point.

Finally suppose that $\operatorname{ordRes}_f(x_g) = 0$, and choose a normalized representation f = [P:Q]. Then the resultant of P and Q has norm 1, hence the reduction map $\tilde{f} = [\tilde{P}: \tilde{Q}] \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\tilde{k})$ has degree exactly d. In that case, we say that f has good reduction.

Altogether we obtain the following statement due to Rumely:

Theorem 2.5. Let $(k, |\cdot|)$ be any algebraically closed non-Archimedean complete field, and pick $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(k)$.

Then $-\log|\operatorname{res}([f])| = 0$ if and only if f has potential good reduction, *i.e.*, is conjugated by a projective transformation to a rational map having potential good reduction.

2.3. Rational map on $\mathbb{P}_{k}^{1,an}$ and the equilibrium measure. Let $(k, |\cdot|)$ be any complete and algebraically closed metrized field, and pick any rational map $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(k)$ of degree $d \geq 2$. This is an endomorphism of the projective variety \mathbb{P}_k^1 hence it induces a continuous map on the analytification $\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$. In concrete terms, f = [P:Q] maps a rigid point $[z_0:z_1] \in \mathbb{P}^1(k)$ to $[P(z_0, z_1): Q(z_0, z_1)]$; and a point $x \in \mathbb{H}_k$ having a trivial kernel to f(x) so that $|h(f(x))| = |(h \circ f)(x)|$ for any rational map $h \in k(z)$.

We aim at defining a canonical (equilibrium) measure which is invariant by f. The construction proceeds as follows. The endomorphism $f: \mathbb{P}_k^{1,an} \to$ $\mathbb{P}_{k}^{1,an}$ is continuous, finite, open and surjective, see, e.g., [42, Proposition 4.3]. It follows that one can define a local degree at any point $x \in \mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$ by setting

$$\deg_x(f) = \dim_{\kappa(f(x))} \left(\mathcal{O}_x / m_{f(x)} \mathcal{O}_x \right).$$

where \mathcal{O}_x is the local ring of analytic functions at x, m_x its maximal ideal, and $\kappa(x) = \mathcal{O}_x/m_x$ (observe that $\mathscr{H}(x)$ is the completion of $\kappa(x)$).

Proposition 2.6. For every connected open set V and every connected component U of $f^{-1}(V)$, the integer

$$\sum_{(y)=x,y\in U} \deg_y(f)$$

is independent of the point $x \in V$. In particular, for every $y \in \mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$, we have

$$\sum_{x \in f^{-1}(y)} \deg_x(f) = d.$$

For any function $\varphi \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_k \to \mathbb{R}$, define

(8)
$$f_*\varphi(x) = \sum_{y \in f^{-1}(x)} \deg_y(f)\varphi(y).$$

ı

f

The previous proposition implies that if φ is continuous, then $f_*\varphi$ is continuous, and its sup-norm is bounded by d times the sup-norm of φ , so that for any Radon measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an})$, the pullback of μ by f can be dually defined by the identity $\langle f^*\mu, \varphi \rangle = \langle \mu, f_*\varphi \rangle$ for any continuous function φ (we use the notation $\langle \mu, \varphi \rangle = \int \varphi d\mu$). We refer the readers to [1, §9.4] for more details.

Denote by $\mu_{can} \in M^+(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_k)$ the Haar (probability) measure on $\{|z| = 1\}$ if $(k, |\cdot|)$ is Archimedean, or the Dirac mass at the Gauss point if it is non-Archimedean.

By the discussion of §1.3, there exists a continuous function g_f (which is the difference of two functions in $\text{QSH}(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_k)$) such that

$$\frac{1}{d}f^*\mu_{\rm can} - \mu_{\rm can} = \Delta g_{f,0} \; .$$

In homogeneous coordinates, we have f = [P: Q], and this function is explicitly given by

$$g_{f,0}[z_0:z_1] = \frac{1}{d} \log \frac{\max\{|P|, |Q|\}}{\max\{|z_0|^d, |z_1|^d\}} \,.$$

It follows that the sequence of probability measures $\frac{1}{d^n} f^{n*} \mu_{\text{can}}$ converges, and we denote by $\mu_f \in \mathrm{M}^+(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_k)$ its limit. It can be written as

(9)
$$\mu_f = \mu_{\rm can} + \Delta g_f$$

where $g_f = \sum_{k\geq 0} d^{-k}g_{f,0} \circ f^k$ is continuous. It also satisfies $f^*\mu_f = d\mu_f$. One can also show that μ_f is mixing (hence ergodic), see, e.g., [6, 32].

By definition, the Julia set J_f of f is the support of μ_f , and the Fatou set F_f is its complement. The Fatou set is open and the Julia set is compact. Both are totally invariant.

One can show that the Fatou set is precisely the locus where the iterates $\{f^n\}$ form a normal family (see [30, Theorem 5.4] in the non-Archimedean setting).

In the Archimedean setting, J_f is a perfect (uncountable) set. In the non-Archimedean setting, either J_f is reduced to a singleton in which case f has potential good reduction; or it is perfect and uncountable (see [3, Theorem 8.15(e)]).

3. Sequential hybridation using non-standard analysis

3.1. The Stone-Čech compactification of \mathbb{N} . We start by discussing the notion of ultrafilters on the set \mathbb{N} of natural numbers. We refer to [13] for a detailed treatment.

Definition 3.1. A subset ω of the power set of \mathbb{N} is called an ultrafilter, if

- (1) $\emptyset \notin \omega$;
- (2) if $E, F \in \omega$, then $E \cap F \in \omega$;
- (3) if $E \in \omega$ and $E \subseteq F$, then F is also in ω ;
- (4) if $E \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, either E or $E^c = \mathbb{N} \setminus E$ is in ω .

A set in ω is called an ω -big set. A set whose complement lies in ω is said to be ω -thin. If a proposition is satified for a ω -big set, we say that this proposition is true ω -almost surely.

An ultrafilter is said to be principal if there exists an integer n such that this ultrafilter is exactly $\{F \subseteq \mathbb{N}, n \in F\}$, we denote such an ultrafilter by ω_n .

Proposition 3.2. For each infinite set $E \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, there exists a non-principal ultrafilter ω that contains E.

Proof. Consider the family of sets $\{E \setminus F\}$ with F finite. By [13, Theorem 7.1], there exists a ultrafilter ω containing all these sets (the existence is a consequence of Zorn's lemma). It cannot be principal, hence the proposition.

Definition 3.3. Let X be a Hausdorff topological space, ω an ultrafilter and x_n be a sequence on X. We define x to be an ω -limit of x_n , if, for all neighbourhood V of x, $\{n \in \mathbb{N}, x_n \in V\}$ is an ω -big set.

We briefly summarize the properties of ω -limits of a sequence here:

Proposition 3.4. Let x_n be a sequence on a Hausdorff space X, then:

- (1) if X is compact, the ω -limit of x_n exists and is unique;
- (2) if $x = \lim_{n \to \infty} x_n$ in the usual sense, then $x = \lim_{\omega} x_n$ for any nonprincipal ultrafilter ω ;
- (3) if X is first countable, and $x = \lim_{\omega} x_n$, then there exists a subsequence x_{n_k} of x_n such that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} x_{n_k} = x.$$

Proof. If the first statement is not true, then for every $x \in X$, there exists a neighbourhood V_x of x such that

$$N_x = \{n \in \mathbb{N}, x_n \in V_x\}$$

is not ω -big. The entire space X is covered by a finite number of such V_x 's. Therefore, \mathbb{N} is covered by a finite number of subsets, each of which is not big. Since the intersection of two big sets is big, it follows that the intersection of two sets, each of which is not ω -big, is also not ω -big. This leads to a contradiction.

The second statement follows from a simple observation that a non-principal ultrafilter ω contains all cofinite sets. Otherwise, if $\{n_1, \dots, n_k\}$ belongs to the ultrafilter at least one of the n_i is in ω . If not, $\mathbb{N} \setminus \{n_i\} \in \omega$, hence

$$\mathbb{N} \setminus \{n_1, ..., n_k\} = \bigcap_{i=1}^k \mathbb{N} \setminus \{n_i\} \in \omega,$$

which contradicts the assumption. For the last statement, let U_k be a basis of neighbourhood of x, take $x_{n_k} \in U_k$, then $\lim_{k\to\infty} x_{n_k} = x$.

Remark 3.5. Note that if ω is a principal ultrafilter associated with the integer m, then $\lim_{\omega} x_n = x_m$.

Denote by $\beta \mathbb{N}$ the set of all ultrafilters on \mathbb{N} . For each subset $E \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, define $U_E = \{\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}, E \in \omega\}$. Note that for all $E, F \subseteq \mathbb{N}, U_E \cap U_F = U_{E \cap F}$. Hence, the collection U_E forms a basis for a topology on $\beta \mathbb{N}$, and the open sets are unions of such $U'_E s$. Also note that $\bigcup_{i=1}^k U_{E_i} = U_{\bigcup_{i=1}^k E_i}$.

We have a canonical injection $\mathbb{N} \to \beta \mathbb{N}$, sending *n* to the principal ultrafilter ω_n . Pick any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$ and any open neighborhood ω of the form U_E . Then for any $n \in E$ we have $\omega_n \ni E$, hence \mathbb{N} is dense in $\beta \mathbb{N}$. Since $U_n = \{\omega_n\}$ is open, it follows that \mathbb{N} (with its discrete topology) is also open in $\beta \mathbb{N}$. **Theorem 3.6.** The topological space $\beta \mathbb{N}$ is compact and totally disconnected, and contains \mathbb{N} (endowed with its discrete topology) as an open dense subset.

It satisfies the following universal property. Any map $f: \mathbb{N} \to K$ with K compact can be continuously extended to a map $F: \beta \mathbb{N} \to K$ by setting $F(\omega) = \lim_{\omega} f(n)$.

The space $\beta \mathbb{N}$ is referred to as the Stone-Čech compactification of \mathbb{N} .

Proof. Let us show that $\beta \mathbb{N}$ is Hausdorff. Pick two ultra-filters $\omega \neq \omega'$. Then there exists $E \subset \mathbb{N}$ such that $E \in \omega$ and $E \notin \omega'$. Then $\omega \in U_E$, $\omega' \in U_{E^c}$ and we have $U_E \cap U_{E^c} = \emptyset$.

Suppose U_i is an open cover of $\beta \mathbb{N}$. We may suppose that $U_i = U_{E_i}$ for some $E_i \subset \mathbb{N}$. If we cannot find any finite sub-cover, then the collection $\{E_i^c\}$ has the finite intersection property: any finite intersection of E_i^c is nonempty. It follows from [13, Theorem 2.2] that there exists some ω containing all E_i^c , a contradiction. It follows that $\beta \mathbb{N}$ is compact.

Pick any $\omega \neq \omega' \in \beta \mathbb{N}$ and $E \in \omega$, $E^c \in \omega'$ as above. It follows that $\{U_E, U_{E^c}\}$ is an open cover by disjoint open sets. Since $\omega \in U_E$ and $\omega' \in U_{E'}$, hence $\beta \mathbb{N}$ is totally disconnected.

Finally given $f: \mathbb{N} \to K$, we define $F: \beta \mathbb{N} \to K$ by setting $F(\omega) = \lim_{\omega} f(n)$. We claim that this map is continuous. Let U be a neighbourhood of $F(\omega)$. There exists an ω -big set E such that for all $n \in E$, $f(n) \in V$ with V open and $\overline{V} \subset U$. Therefore, $F(U_E) \subseteq U$, and the proof is complete. \Box

3.2. Product Banach rings. In all this section we fix $\epsilon = (\epsilon_n)$ any sequence of positive real numbers in (0, 1].

3.2.1. The Berkovich spectrum and the Stone-Čech compactification. We define the product Banach ring associated with ϵ as follows:

$$A^{\epsilon} = \left\{ (x_n) \in \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}}, |x_n|^{\epsilon_n} \text{ is bounded} \right\},$$

where $|\cdot|$ denotes the standard Euclidean norm on the field \mathbb{C} of complex numbers. We endow A^{ϵ} with the norm $\|\cdot\|$ defined by:

$$\|(x_n)\| = \sup_n |x_n|^{\epsilon_n}.$$

This definition makes A^{ϵ} into a Banach ring whose norm is power multiplicative. Recall that its Berkovich spectrum $\mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon})$ is the collection of multiplicative seminorms $|\cdot|$ on A^{ϵ} such that $|(x_n)| \leq \sup_n |x_n|^{\epsilon_n}$.

Be aware that A^{ϵ} is a Banach \mathbb{C} -algebra if and only if $\epsilon = (1)$ because

$$\|c\cdot(1)\| = \sup_{n} |c|^{\epsilon_n}$$

for all $c \in \mathbb{C}$.

Remark 3.7. An element $x = (x_n)$ is a unit in A^{ϵ} if and only if $(\frac{1}{x_n}) \in A^{\epsilon}$. This proves that the set of all units $(A^{\epsilon})^{\times}$ is equal to those x for which there exists M > 1 such that $\frac{1}{M} \leq |x_n|^{\epsilon_n} \leq M$ for all n.

Theorem 3.8. The map $j: \beta \mathbb{N} \to \mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon})$ sending a ultrafilter ω to the seminorm characterized by

$$|(x_n)_{n\geq 1}|_{\mathcal{J}(\omega)} = \lim_{\omega} |x_n|^{\epsilon_n}$$

is a homeomorphism.

The case of an arbitrary product of metrized fields is treated in [4, Proposition 1.2.3].

Proof. The continuity of j is clear.

We first show that j is injective. Pick $\omega_1 \neq \omega_2 \in \beta \mathbb{N}$, and $E \subset \mathbb{N}$ such that $E \in \omega_1$ and $E^c \in \omega_2$. Let $x_E \in A^\epsilon$ be the sequence such that $x_n = 0$ on E and 1 on E^c . We have $|x_E|_{j(\omega_1)} = 0$ and $|x_E|_{j(\omega_2)} = 1$ so that $j(\omega_1) \neq j(\omega_2)$ We claim that j is surjective. We shall use the fact that for any semi-norm

We claim that j is surjective. We shall use the fact that for any semi-norm |b| = 0 implies |a + b| = |a| for any a.

Observe that for any $y \in \mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon})$, and for any $E \subset \mathbb{N}$ we have $|x_E|_y \leq ||x_E|| = 1$, and $x_E x_{E^c} = 0$, $x_E + x_{E^c} = 1$. Since $|\cdot|_y$ is a multiplicative seminorm, by the trick above either $|x_E|_y$ or $|x_{E^c}|_y$ equals 1 while the other equals 0.

Let $\omega = \{E \subseteq \mathbb{N}, |x_E|_y = 1\}$. We shall prove that ω is an ultrafilter and that $y = j(\omega)$. By the preceding argument, for any subset $E \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, either E or E^c belongs to ω . Let $E, F \in \omega$, then $|x_{E\cap F}|_y = |x_E|_y |x_F|_y = 1$, thus $E \cap F$ also belongs to ω . Additionally, if $E \in \omega$ and $E \subseteq F$, then $|x_F x_E|_y = |x_E|_y = 1$. Consequently, we have $|x_F|_y = 1$, implying $F \in \omega$. Therefore, ω is an ultra-filter.

Pick $x = (x_n) \in A^{\epsilon}$, and set $\alpha = \lim_{\omega} |x_n|^{\epsilon_n}$. To conclude the proof it is sufficient to show that $|x|_y = \alpha$. For any $\eta > 0$, there exists $E \in \omega$ such that for all $n \in E$,

$$\alpha - \eta < |x_n|^{\epsilon_n} < \alpha + \eta.$$

Define

$$x'_n = \begin{cases} x_n, & \text{if } n \in E\\ \alpha^{1/\epsilon_n}, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then $|(x'_n)|_y = |(x_n)x_E + (x'_n)x_{E^c}|_y = |(x_n)x_E|_y = |(x_n)|_y$. Since y is a bounded seminorm, we have

$$|(x'_n)|_y \le \sup |x'_n|^{\epsilon_n} \le \alpha + \eta$$
$$\left| (x'_n)^{-1} \right|_y \le \sup \left| (x'_n)^{-1} \right|^{\epsilon_n} \le (\alpha - \eta)^{-1}.$$

Thus $\alpha - \eta \leq |(x'_n)|_y = |(x_n)|_y \leq \alpha + \eta$. We conclude by letting $\eta \to 0$. \Box

3.2.2. Complete residue fields. Let ω be an ultrafilter, which we identify with its image in $\mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon})$. Recall that the complete residue field $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is obtained as the completion of the quotient ring $A^{\epsilon}/\ker(\omega)$ where

$$\ker(\omega) = \left\{ (x_n) \in \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}}, \lim_{\omega} |x_n|^{\epsilon_n} = 0 \right\}.$$

Observe that $\ker(\omega)$ is a maximal ideal of A^{ϵ} . Indeed, pick $y \notin \ker(\omega)$. Then $\lim_{\omega} |y_n|^{\epsilon_n} > 0$. The set of integers E such that $|y_n|^{\epsilon_n} < 2^{-1} \min\{|y|_{\omega}, 1\}$ is ω -thin, hence $x_E \in \ker(\omega)$, and $y + x_E$ is invertible by Remark 3.7. It follows that $A^{\epsilon}/\ker(\omega)$ is a field. Since ω is bounded, $\ker(\omega)$ is closed hence $A^{\epsilon}/\ker(\omega)$ is complete for the residue norm, and it follows that $\mathscr{H}(\omega) = A^{\epsilon}/\ker(\omega)$.

Proposition 3.9. For any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$, the complete residue fields $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is algebraically closed and spherically complete, and $|\mathscr{H}(\omega)| = \mathbb{R}_+$.

- (1) If $e = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n > 0$, then $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is isometric to $(\mathbb{C}, |\cdot|^e)$ hence is an Archimedean metrized field.
- (2) If $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$, then $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is a non-Archimedean metrized field, and the image of A^{ϵ} is $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is dense.

Remark 3.10. When $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$, $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is a complexified Robinson field. We refer to [50] for a detailed treatment of such fields.

Proof. Suppose $e = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n > 0$. Pick $x \in A^{\epsilon}$. Then $|x|_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} |x_n|^{\epsilon_n}$, hence $|x_n|$ is bounded from above. It follows that $x_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} x_n$ exists in \mathbb{C} . The map $x \mapsto x_{\omega}$ is a morphism $A^{\epsilon} \to \mathbb{C}$ which factors through ker(ω) hence induces an isometric field morphism $\mathscr{H}(\omega) = A^{\epsilon}/\ker(\omega) \to (\mathbb{C}, |\cdot|^e)$.

Suppose now that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$. Then $|(2)|_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} |2|^{\epsilon_n} = 1$ so that $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is a non-Archimedean field. Observe that $\ker(\omega) = \{(a_n) \in A^{\epsilon}, \lim_{\omega} |a_n|^{\epsilon_n} = 0\}$. We already observed that $A^{\epsilon}/\ker(\omega)$ is a field. This implies that the image of A^{ϵ} is equal to $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$.

We now prove that $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is spherically complete. We may suppose that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$. Let $\bar{B}_i = \bar{B}(\alpha_i, r_i)$ be any decreasing sequence of closed balls, with $r_i > 0$ and $\alpha_i = (\alpha_{i,n})_n \in A^{\epsilon}$ so that $|\alpha_i - \alpha_j|_{\omega} < r_i$ for all $j \ge i$.

We define a strictly decreasing sequence of ω -big sets $\mathbb{N} = N_0 \supseteq N_k \supseteq N_{k+1}$ such that for any $i \leq j \leq k$ and $l \in N_k$, we have $|\alpha_{i,l} - \alpha_{j,l}|^{\epsilon_l} \leq r_i$.

Suppose N_0, \dots, N_k have been constructed. Since for any $i \leq k+1$, we have $|\alpha_i - \alpha_{k+1}|_{\omega} < r_i$, one can find an ω -big set N such that for all $l \in N$, we have

$$|a_{i,l} - a_{k+1,l}|^{\epsilon_l} < r_i$$

We set $N_{k+1} = (N \cap N_k) \setminus \{\min N_k\}.$

Set $b_n = a_{j_n,n}$ with $j_n = \min N_n$, and let $\beta = (b_n)$. Choose any integer *i*. For any $n \ge i$, we have

$$|a_{i,n} - b_n|^{\epsilon_n} = |a_{i,n} - a_{j_n,n}|^{\epsilon_n} \le r_i.$$

It follows that $|\alpha_i - \beta| \leq r_i$, hence $\beta \in \overline{B}_i$, thus $\bigcap_{i=0}^{\infty} \overline{B}_i$ is not empty.

Finally we prove that $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is algebraically closed. Again, it is sufficient to treat the case $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$, so that $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-Archimedean. Pick any polynomial $P_{\omega} \in \mathscr{H}(\omega)[z]$. Then we can find a sequence of polynomials

$$P_n(z) = a_{0,n} z^d + a_{1,n} z^{d-1} + \dots + a_{d,n} \in \mathbb{C}[z]$$

such that $a_i = (a_{i,n}) \in A^{\epsilon}$, $a_0 \in (A^{\epsilon})^{\times}$, and the image of $P = \sum a_i z^i$ in $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is equal to P_{ω} . We may factorize each polynomial $P_n(z) = a_{0,n} \prod_{i=1}^d (z - \alpha_{i,n})$. Since a_0 is invertible in A^{ϵ} , the sequence $\alpha_i = (\alpha_{i,n})$ belongs to A^{ϵ} since

$$|\alpha_{i,n}| \le \max\left\{ (2d|a_{i,n}|/|a_{0,n}|)^{1/i}, i = 1, \cdots, d \right\}.$$

It is moreover a zero of P, and its image in $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is a zero of P_{ω} which concludes the proof.

The last argument relates the sequence of zeroes of P_n to the zeroes of P_{ω} . The following converse holds.

Proposition 3.11. Pick any polynomial $P(z) \in A^{\epsilon}[z]$ of degree $d \geq 1$, determined by a sequence $P_n \in \mathbb{C}[z]$.

For any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$, and for any zero $\alpha \in \mathscr{H}(\omega)$ of multiplicity m of P_{ω} , there exist sequences $\alpha_{i,n} \in \mathbb{C}$, $1 \leq i \leq m$ such that $\prod_{i=1}^{m} (z - \alpha_{i,n})$ is a factor of P_n for each n, and $(\alpha_{i,n}) = \alpha$ in $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ for each i.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we may suppose that $\alpha = 0$, so that $P_{\omega}(z) = z^m Q_{\omega}(z)$ with $Q_{\omega} \in \mathscr{H}(\omega)[z]$, and $Q_{\omega}(0) \neq 0$. Pick any polynomial $Q \in A^{\epsilon}[z]$ projecting to Q_{ω} . We can then write $P(z) = z^m Q(z) + H(z)$, where H is determined by a sequence of complex polynomials $H_n(z) = \sum_{i=0}^d h_{i,n} z^i$ such that $(h_{i,n}) \in A^{\epsilon}$ for each i, and $\lim_{\omega} |h_{i,n}|^{\epsilon_n} = 0$.

Also, Q is determined by a sequence of polynomials $Q_n(z) = \sum_{i=0}^d q_{i,n} z^i \in \mathbb{C}[z]$, such that $|q_{i,n}| \leq M^{1/\epsilon_n}$ for some M > 1, and all i, n, and $|q_{0,n}|^{\epsilon_n} \geq 2\rho$ for some $\rho > 0$ on a ω -big set E, since $Q_{\omega}(0) \neq 0$.

Pick any $r \in (0,1)$ such that $Mdr < \rho$, and $\eta > 0$ so that $\eta < r^m \times \rho$. On the circle $|z| = r^{1/\epsilon_n}$, we have $|H_n(z)| \leq \eta^{1/\epsilon_n}$ for all n in an ω -big set $E' \subset E$. On the other hand, for all $|z| = r^{1/\epsilon_n}$, we have $|Q_n(z)| \geq \rho^{1/\epsilon_n}$ for all $n \in E'$. We get $|z^m Q_n(z)| \geq \rho^{1/\epsilon_n} r^{m/\epsilon_n} > |H(z)|$ on $|z| = r^{1/\epsilon_n}$ for all $n \in E'$.

By Rouché's theorem, for all $n \in E'$ the polynomial $P_n(z) = z^m Q_n(z) + H_n(z)$ admits exactly m zeros $\alpha_{1,n}, \cdots, \alpha_{m,n}$ in the disk $|z| \leq r^{1/\epsilon_n}$.

By letting $r \to 0$, we obtain $\lim_{\omega} |\alpha_{j,n}|^{\epsilon_n} = 0$ for all j which concludes the proof.

3.2.3. The projective line over A^{ϵ} . The analytification of the projective line over A^{ϵ} admits a canonical continuous proper map $\pi \colon \mathbb{P}_{A^{\epsilon}}^{1,an} \to \mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon}) \simeq \beta \mathbb{N}$. When $\mathscr{H}(\omega) = \mathbb{C}_e$ is Archimedean, then there is a canonical isomorphism $s_e \colon \pi^{-1}(\omega) \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ (see §1.3). When $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-Archimedean, then it $\pi^{-1}(\omega)$ contains only Type-1 and Type-2 points by Proposition 3.9.

Pick any sequence of point $p_n \in \hat{\mathbb{C}}$. Then we may write in homogeneous coordinates $p_n = [z_{0,n}: z_{1,n}]$ with $\max\{|z_{0,n}|, |z_{1,n}|\} = 1$, so that $z_i = (z_{i,n}) \in A^{\epsilon}$. Note that $z_0A^{\epsilon} + z_1A^{\epsilon} = A^{\epsilon}$ so that $p = [z_0: z_1]$ defines a point in $\mathbb{P}^1(A^{\epsilon})$, and observe it does not depend on the choice of $z_{i,n}$.

Conversely pick any point $p = [z_0: z_1] \in \mathbb{P}^1(A^{\epsilon})$. By construction, we have $z_0A^{\epsilon} + z_1A^{\epsilon} = A^{\epsilon}$. The pair (z_0, z_1) is unique up to multiplication by a unit in $(A^{\epsilon})^{\times}$. Write $z_i = (z_{i,n})$ and set $\lambda = (\max\{|z_{0,n}|, |z_{1,n}|\})$. Observe that the condition $z_0A^{\epsilon} + z_1A^{\epsilon} = A^{\epsilon}$ implies $\lambda \in (A^{\epsilon})^{\times}$. Replacing z_i by $\lambda^{-1}z_i$ we may suppose that $\max\{|z_{0,n}|, |z_{1,n}|\} = 1$. We have proved

Lemma 3.12. The map defined above $\alpha : \hat{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathbb{N}} \to \mathbb{P}^1(A^{\epsilon})$ is a bijection.

Pick any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$, and suppose that $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-Archimedean. Let $\tilde{\mathscr{H}}(\omega)$ be the residue field of the complete metrized field $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$. We claim that there is a canonical map

(10)
$$\theta_{\omega} \colon \mathbb{P}^{1}(\mathscr{H}(\omega)) \to \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$$

defined as follows.

Pick a point $\tilde{p} = [\tilde{z}_0 : \tilde{z}_1] \in \mathbb{P}^1(\tilde{\mathscr{H}}(\omega))$; choose some lifts $z_0, z_1 \in \mathscr{H}(\omega)$ with $\max\{|z_0|_{\omega}, |z_1|_{\omega}\} = 1$. Since $A^{\epsilon}/\ker(\omega)$ is dense in $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ we may suppose that $z_0, z_1 \in A^{\epsilon}$. Replacing by $z_{0,n}, z_{1,n}$ by 1 on an ω -thin set, we may suppose that $z_0 A^{\epsilon} + z_1 A^{\epsilon} = A^{\epsilon}$. We let $\theta_{\omega}(\tilde{p}) = \lim_{\omega} [z_{0,n}: z_{1,n}] \in \hat{\mathbb{C}}$.

This map is well-defined because if $[z'_0: z'_1] \in \mathbb{P}^1(A^{\epsilon})$ defines the same point \tilde{p} , then in the spherical distance (see §1.2.3), we have

$$\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{P}^{1}(\mathscr{H}(\omega))}([z_{0} \colon z_{1}], [z'_{0} \colon z'_{1}]) < 1$$

which implies $\lim_{\omega} [z_{0,n} : z_{1,n}] = \lim_{\omega} [z'_{0,n} : z'_{1,n}]$ in $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$.

Observe that θ_{ω} is surjective, and the following diagram is commutative.



FIGURE 1. Relating projective lines

Finally, we discuss the spherical distance on $\mathbb{P}^1(A^{\epsilon})$, see (3) and (4) for the definition. We use the above lemma to identify points in $\mathbb{P}^1(A^{\epsilon})$ and sequences of points in $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$.

Lemma 3.13. For any points $x, y \in \mathbb{P}^1(A^{\epsilon})$, and for any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C})}(x_n, y_n)^{\epsilon_n} = \lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon_n})}(s_{\epsilon_n}^{-1}x_n, s_{\epsilon_n}^{-1}y_n) = d_{\mathbb{P}^1(\mathscr{H}(\omega))}(x_\omega, y_\omega) .$$

Proof. Write $x = (x_n) \in \hat{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathbb{N}}$, and $y = (y_n) \in \hat{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathbb{N}}$. We may suppose that neither x nor y are equal to [1: 0], and up to replace x_n and y_n in an ω -thin set, we have $x_n = [z_n: 1]$, and $y_n = [w_n: 1]$ with $(z_n), (w_n) \in A^{\epsilon}$. In the standard euclidean norm $|\cdot|$ on \mathbb{C} , we have

$$d_{\mathbb{P}^{1}(\mathbb{C})}(x_{n}, y_{n})^{\epsilon_{n}} = d_{\mathbb{P}^{1}(\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon_{n}})}(s_{\epsilon_{n}}^{-1}x_{n}, s_{\epsilon_{n}}^{-1}y_{n}) = \frac{|z_{n} - w_{n}|^{\epsilon_{n}}}{(|z_{n}|^{2} + 1)^{\epsilon_{n}/2}(|w_{n}|^{2} + 1)^{\epsilon_{n}/2}} .$$

When $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n > 0$, the result is clear. When $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$, since $\lim_{\omega} |z_n|^{\epsilon_n} = |z_{\omega}|$, we have

$$\lim_{\omega} (|z_n|^2 + 1)^{\epsilon_n/2} = \max\{|z_{\omega}|, 1\}$$

and the result follows.

3.2.4. Product Banach rings with different characteristic exponents. We discuss the relationship between A^{ϵ} and $A^{\epsilon'}$ and their Berkovich spectra for two different sequences ϵ, ϵ' . To simplify notation, given any two sequences of positive real numbers ϵ, ϵ' we write $\epsilon \leq \epsilon'$ iff $\epsilon_n \leq C\epsilon'_n$ for some C > 0; and $\epsilon \simeq \epsilon'$ if and only if $\epsilon \leq \epsilon'$ and $\epsilon' \leq \epsilon$.

Proposition 3.14. Let $\epsilon' = (\epsilon'_n)$ be another sequence with $0 < \epsilon'_n \leq 1$. Then, $A^{\epsilon} \subseteq A^{\epsilon'}$ if and only if $\epsilon' \lesssim \epsilon$.

In particular, $A^{\epsilon} = A^{\epsilon'}$ if and only if $\epsilon \simeq \epsilon'$.

Remark 3.15. In general, we may have $A^{\epsilon} = A^{\epsilon'}$ but the norm on A^{ϵ} is not necessarily equivalent to that of $A^{\epsilon'}$.

Proof. Suppose $\epsilon'_n \leq C\epsilon_n$, and pick $x = (x_n) \in A^{\epsilon}$. Then

 $|x_n|^{\epsilon'_n} \le \max\{1, |x_n|\}^{\epsilon'_n} \le \max\{1, |x_n|\}^{C\epsilon_n} \le \max\{1, |x|_{\epsilon}\}^C < \infty ,$ so that $x \in A^{\epsilon'}$.

Conversely, assume $A^{\epsilon} \subseteq A^{\epsilon'}$ and write $\epsilon'_n = \alpha_n \epsilon_n$ for some $\alpha_n > 0$. The sequence $x_n = 2^{\frac{1}{\epsilon_n}}$, belongs to $A^{\epsilon} \subseteq A^{\epsilon'}$. Thus there exists M > 0 such that $\sup_n |x_n|^{\epsilon'_n} = \sup_n 2^{\alpha_n} < M$.

Therefore, we have $0 < \alpha_n < \frac{\log M}{\log 2} < \infty$, which proves $\epsilon' \lesssim \epsilon$.

Pick $\epsilon, \epsilon' \in (0, 1]$, and write $\epsilon' = \alpha \epsilon$. Recall that $\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon} = (\mathbb{C}, |\cdot|^{\epsilon})$. Recall from §1.3, that we have a canonical homeomorphism $\sigma_{\alpha} \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}} \to \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon'}}$ sending a semi-norm $|\cdot|$ on $\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}[z]$ to $|\cdot|^{\alpha}$. This map induces field continuous isomorphisms $\sigma_{\alpha}^{\#} \colon \mathscr{H}(\sigma_{\alpha}(x)) \to \mathscr{H}(x)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}}$ (which are isometric if and only if $\alpha = 1$).

Proposition 3.16. Suppose $\epsilon', \epsilon \in (0,1]^{\mathbb{N}}$ satisfy $\epsilon' \simeq \epsilon$, and write $\alpha_n = \epsilon'_n/\epsilon_n$. The locally ringed space isomorphisms $\sigma_{\alpha_n} \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon_n}} \to \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon'_n}}$ extend to an isomorphism of locally ringed spaces $\sigma \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon'}} \to \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon'}}$ over $\beta \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. Since α_n is bounded from above, it admits a unique extension to $\beta \mathbb{N}$ by setting $\alpha_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} \alpha_n$. Since α_n is bounded away from zero, we have $\alpha_{\omega} \in (0, 1]$ for all $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$.

For any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$, set $\epsilon_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n$, and $\epsilon'_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon'_n$, and define

$$\sigma_{\alpha} \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathscr{H}(\epsilon_{\omega})} \to \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathscr{H}(\epsilon_{\omega}')}$$

by sending the semi-norm $|\cdot|$ on $\mathscr{H}(\epsilon_{\omega})[z]$ to $|\cdot|^{\alpha_{\omega}}$. This is a homeomorphism. Recall that we denote by $\pi \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}} \to \mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon}) \simeq \beta \mathbb{N}$ the canonical projection. Then for any polynomial $P \in A^{\epsilon}[z]$ and for any $x \in \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$, we have

(11)
$$|P(\sigma(x))| = |P(x)|^{\alpha_{\pi(x)}}$$

Since $x \mapsto \alpha_{\pi(x)}$ is continuous, it follows that the map $\sigma \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}} \to \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon'}}$ given by $\sigma(x) = \sigma_{\alpha_{\pi(x)}}(x)$ is a homeomorphism.

Since analytic functions on an open subset $U \subset \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon'}}$ are obtained as locally uniform limits of rational functions having poles outside U, the equality (11) induces isomorphisms $\sigma^{\#} \colon \mathcal{O}(U) \to \mathcal{O}(\sigma^{-1}(U))$, and continuous field isomorphisms $\sigma^{\#} \colon \mathscr{H}(\sigma(x)) \to \mathscr{H}(x)$ for any $x \in \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$. This concludes the proof. \Box

3.3. Sequential hybridation. Recall from §3.2 that we have a canonical identification $\mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon}) \simeq \beta \mathbb{N}$.

If B is any ring, a rational map $f: \mathbb{P}_B^1 \to \mathbb{P}_B^1$ defined over B is given in homogeneous coordinates by a pair of homogeneous polynomials P, Qof degree d whose resultant is a unit in B. When B is a Banach ring, then f induces a continuous map $f: \mathbb{P}_B^{1,an} \to \mathbb{P}_B^{1,an}$ over $\mathcal{M}(B)$, and for any $b \in \mathcal{M}(B)$, we denote by f_b the restriction of f on the fiber $\pi^{-1}(b)$ where $\pi: \mathbb{P}_B^{1,an} \to \mathcal{M}(B)$ is the canonical morphism. It is a rational map of degree d defined over $\mathscr{H}(b)$. Recall that rat_d is an affine variety. We fix rat_d any projective variety containing rat_d as a Zariski open dense subset (for instance the one described by Silverman [70] using geometric invariant theory).

Let $C_d = e \sup_{\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})} |\operatorname{res}|.$

Theorem 3.17. Let \mathfrak{f}_n be any sequence in $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$. Set

$$\epsilon_n = (-\log(|\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)|/C_d))^{-1}$$

and choose $f_n \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ such that $[f_n] = \mathfrak{f}_n$ and $|\operatorname{Res}(f_n)| = |\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)|$ for all n. Let A^{ϵ} be the Banach ring defined by (1).

- (1) There exists a rational map $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(A^{\epsilon})$ which induces a continuous self-map $f \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}} \to \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$ such that $\pi \circ f = \pi$, and for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have $f|_{\pi^{-1}(n)} = f_n$ under the above identification $\pi^{-1}(n) \simeq \hat{\mathbb{C}}$.
- (2) If $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-Archimedean, then f_{ω} does not have potential good reduction.
- (3) The field $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-Archimedean if and only if $\lim_{\omega} \mathfrak{f}_n \in \overline{\mathrm{rat}}_d^{an} \setminus \mathrm{rat}_d^{an}$.

Remark 3.18. This theorem implies a slightly more general version of Theorem 0.1 (2). Indeed we assumed in the introduction that the sequence \mathfrak{f}_n is degenerating, in which case $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-archimedean if and only if $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N} \setminus \mathbb{N}$. Observe that Theorem 0.1 (1) is a consequence of the discussion of §3.2.3.

Remark 3.19. The sequence f_n is not uniquely defined, and we actually have quite a lot of flexibility. It follows from Proposition 3.14, that for any sequence $g_n \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ such that $|\operatorname{Res}(f_n)| \simeq |\operatorname{Res}(g_n)|$, then we get a rational map $g \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(A^{\epsilon'})$ and a homeomorphism $\mathbb{P}^1_{A^{\epsilon}} \to \mathbb{P}^1_{A^{\epsilon'}}$ conjugating fto g. We refer to any sequence $\epsilon \in (0, 1]^{\mathbb{N}}$ and any rational map $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(A^{\epsilon})$ satisfying Properties (1) - (3) of the theorem to a sequential hybridation of \mathfrak{f}_n .

Remark 3.20. By [32, Theorem E], the topological entropy $h_{top}(f)$ of a rational map f defined over a complete metrized field $(k, |\cdot|)$ of degree $d \ge 2$ is equal to 0 if and only if the norm on k is non-Archimedean and f has potential good reduction. In other words, property (2) of the previous theorem can be alternatively formulated by saying that $h_{top}(f_{\omega}) > 0$ for any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. For each n, pick any rational map $f_n \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ representing the class \mathfrak{f}_n such that $|\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)| = |\operatorname{Res}(f_n)|$, see §2.2. Observe that by construction $\epsilon_n = (-\log(|\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)|/C_d))^{-1} \in (0, 1]$. In homogeneous coordinates, we may write $f_n = [P_n \colon Q_n]$, and normalize the coefficients of P_n and Q_n so that the maximum of their moduli is equal to 1. It follows that by construction we have

$$|\operatorname{Res}(P_n, Q_n)|^{\epsilon_n} = |\operatorname{Res}(f_n)|^{\epsilon_n} = \exp\left(-\log\frac{|\operatorname{Res}(f_n)|}{C_d}\right) \in [e^{-1}, C_d] .$$

It follows that $P = (P_n)$ and $Q = (Q_n)$ are homogeneous polynomials with coefficients in A^{ϵ} and $\operatorname{Res}(P, Q)$ is a unit. Consequently, $f = (f_n)$ defines an endomorphism of degree d of $\mathbb{P}^1_{A^{\epsilon}}$. By construction, (1) holds.

Suppose that $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-Archimedean. By Proposition 3.9, ω is a non-principal ultra-filter and $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$. It follows that $|\operatorname{Res}(P_n, Q_n)| \to 0$.

Since

 $|\operatorname{res}(f_{\omega})| \le |\operatorname{Res}(f_{\omega})| = \lim_{\omega} |\operatorname{res}(f_n)|^{\epsilon_n} = \lim_{\omega} |\operatorname{Res}(P_n, Q_n)|^{\epsilon_n} = e^{-1} < 1,$

the rational map f_{ω} does not have potential good reduction by Theorem 2.5.

Let us prove (3). Suppose that $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-Archimedean. We have already seen that ω is non-principal and $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$. Suppose by contradiction that $\lim_{\omega} [f_n]$ is the conjugacy class of a rational map $g \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$. By Proposition 2.2, $\lim_{\omega} |\operatorname{res}(f_n)| = |\operatorname{res}(g)|$ which implies $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n > 0$, impossible.

Conversely suppose $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is Archimedean. By Proposition 3.9, we have $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n > 0$ hence $-\log |\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)|$ is bounded from above on a ω -big set. Since $-\log |\operatorname{res}|$ is proper on $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ by Proposition 2.2, we conclude that $\lim_{\omega} \mathfrak{f}_n \in \operatorname{rat}_d^{an}$.

An application of the previous techniques is a new proof of a result by DeMarco, see [18, Corollary 0.3], see Corollary 0.2 from the introduction.

Corollary 3.21. The iteration map I_l : $\operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C}) \to \operatorname{rat}_{d^l}(\mathbb{C})$ given by $I_l(f) = f^l$ is proper for any $d \geq 2$ and any $l \in \mathbb{N}$.

Remark 3.22. The iteration map is also proper as a scheme morphism. It follows that I_l : $\operatorname{rat}_d(k) \to \operatorname{rat}_{d^l}(k)$ is proper for any field of characteristic 0. Our techniques being characteristic free, it is likely that I_l is proper for any field k.

Remark 3.23. Our proof is based on the characterization of properness on locally compact metric spaces in terms of sequences. This is not essential, and we could have used the hybridation of families of holomorphic maps.

Proof. Suppose by contradiction that I_l is not proper. Then we can find a degenerating sequence $\mathfrak{f}_n \in \operatorname{rat}_d$ such that $\mathfrak{f}_n^k \to \mathfrak{g} \in \operatorname{rat}_{d^l}(\mathbb{C})$. Set $\epsilon_n = -(\log |\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)|/C_d)^{-1}$, and pick any endomorphism $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(A^{\epsilon})$

Set $\epsilon_n = -(\log |\operatorname{res}(\mathfrak{f}_n)|/C_d)^{-1}$, and pick any endomorphism $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(A^{\epsilon})$ satisfying the conclusion of Theorem 3.17. Since \mathfrak{f}_n is degenerating, $\epsilon_n \to 0$, and we have $[f_n] = \mathfrak{f}_n$.

Choose any $g \in \operatorname{Rat}_{d^l}(\mathbb{C})$ such that $[g] = \mathfrak{g}$. By assumption, we can find $g_n \to g_\infty \in \operatorname{Rat}_{d^l}(\mathbb{C})$, and $M_n \in \operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ such that $M_n \cdot g_n = f_n^l$ for all n.

Pick any non principal ultra-filter ω . Since $\epsilon_n \to 0$, $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is a non-Archimedean metrized field, and $f_{\omega} \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathscr{H}(\omega))$ does not have potential good reduction by Theorem 3.17 (2). By [3, Corollary 8.14], it follows that f_{ω}^l does not have potential good reduction either.

Pick any normalized representations

$$M_n = \begin{pmatrix} a_n & b_n \\ c_n & d_n \end{pmatrix} \text{ such that } \max\{|a_n|, |b_n|, |c_n|, |d_n|\} = 1.$$

Lemma 3.24. We have $\epsilon_n \simeq -\log |\det(M_n)|^{-1}$.

It follows in particular that $M = (M_n)$ is an element of $PGL_2(A^{\epsilon})$.

We shall now prove that $g_{\omega} = M_{\omega}^{-1} \cdot f_{\omega}^{l}$ has good reduction, which gives a contradiction.

Choose normalized representations $g_n = [P_n: Q_n]$, and observe that the pair of homogeneous polynomials P_{ω} (resp. Q_{ω}) determined by the sequence P_n (resp. Q_n) forms a normalized representation $g_{\omega} = [P_{\omega}: Q_{\omega}]$. Reducing

 P_{ω} and Q_{ω} in $\tilde{\mathscr{H}}(\omega)$, we obtain a rational map \tilde{g}_{ω} on $\mathbb{P}^{1}_{\tilde{\mathscr{H}}(\omega)}$ of degree $\leq d^{l}$, and we have equality if and only if g_{ω} has good reduction, see [71, § 2.5]).

Recall from (10) that we have a canonical map $\theta_{\omega} \colon \mathscr{H}(\omega) \to \mathbb{C}$, and the image of P_{ω} and Q_{ω} under this map gives a rational map $g_{\mathbb{C}}$ on $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C})$ of degree $\leq \deg(\tilde{g}_{\omega})$. It follows by construction that $g_{\mathbb{C}} = g_{\infty}$ so that $\deg(\tilde{g}_{\omega}) = d^l$ hence g_{ω} has good reduction.

The figure below explains how all maps $g_n, g, g_\omega, \tilde{g}_\omega, g_\infty$ fit into one commutative diagram.

$$g_{n} \overset{g}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{P}^{1}(\mathbb{C})^{\mathbb{N}} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathbb{P}^{1}(A^{\epsilon}) \xrightarrow{r_{\omega}} \mathbb{P}^{1}(\mathscr{H}(\omega)) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{1}(\tilde{\mathscr{H}}(\omega)) \xrightarrow{\tilde{g}_{\omega}} \downarrow_{\theta_{\omega}} \downarrow_{\theta_{\omega}} \downarrow_{\theta_{\omega}} \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{1}(\mathbb{C}) \xrightarrow{g_{\infty}}$$

FIGURE 2. Infering good reduction

Proof of Lemma 3.24. The variety Rat_d is a Zariski open subset of $\overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_d = \mathbb{P}^{2d+1}$ and Ψ extends as a rational map

$$\overline{\Psi} \colon \overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_1 \times \overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_d \dashrightarrow \overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_d \times \overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_d$$

Recall that $\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ and $\operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ the complex analytification of the respective \mathbb{C} -affine schemes, and keep Ψ for the holomorphic map induced by the morphism above on $\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C}) \times \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$. We write $|\det|$ for the restriction of $|\operatorname{Res}|$ to $\operatorname{Rat}_1(\mathbb{C}) = \operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ as

$$|\operatorname{Res}(M)| = \frac{|ad - bc|}{\max\{|a|, |b|, |c|, |d|\}^2} \text{ if } M = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}.$$

Now, the meromorphic map

$$\overline{\Psi} \colon \overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_1(\mathbb{C}) \times \overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_d(\mathbb{C}) \dashrightarrow \overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_d(\mathbb{C}) \times \overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_d(\mathbb{C})$$

is holomorphic on $X = \operatorname{Rat}_1(\mathbb{C}) \times \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ and its restriction to X is proper by Lemma 2.4 and GAGA. Denote by Δ and Δ' the boundary divisors:

$$\Delta := \overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_1(\mathbb{C}) \times \overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_d(\mathbb{C}) \setminus \operatorname{Rat}_1(\mathbb{C}) \times \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C}),$$

$$\Delta' := \overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_d(\mathbb{C}) \times \overline{\operatorname{Rat}}_d(\mathbb{C}) \setminus \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C}) \times \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C}) .$$

Locally near any point $p \in \Delta'$, there exists a polynomial P such that $\{P = 0\}$ cuts out the divisor Δ' , and $|P| \asymp \min\{|\operatorname{Res}(f_1)|, |\operatorname{Res}(f_2)|\}$. In a similar way, for any point $q \in \Delta$ with for any polynomial Q cutting out the boundary divisor Δ , we have $|Q| \asymp \min\{|\det(M)|, |\operatorname{Res}(f)|\}$. Since $\overline{\Psi}$ is proper, $P \circ \overline{\Psi}$ cuts out Δ , and by Lojasiewicz' inequalities, we may thus find some positive real numbers $C, \alpha > 1$ such that

(12)
$$C \min\{|\det(M)|, |\operatorname{Res}(f)|\}^{1/\alpha} \ge \min\{|\operatorname{Res}(M \cdot f)|, |\operatorname{Res}(f)|\}$$

 $\ge C^{-1} \min\{|\det(M)|, |\operatorname{Res}(f)|\}^{\alpha}$

Returning to our original lemma. We have a sequence $g_n \in \operatorname{Rat}_{d^l}(\mathbb{C})$ converging to $g_{\infty} \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ so that $|\operatorname{Res}(g_n)|$ is bounded away from 0 and ∞ , and $M_n \in \mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$. It follows from (12) (applied to $M = M_n$ and $f = g_n$, that $-\log |\det(M_n)| \approx -\log |\operatorname{Res}(M_n \cdot g_n)|$ which implies the result.

4. FAMILY OF MEASURES OVER A BANACH RING

Let $(B, \|\cdot\|)$ be any Banach ring. In this short section, we discuss the general notion of families of probability measures on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{B}$.

4.1. Continuous family of Radon measures. Recall that $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B$ is a compact space, and we have a canonical projection map $\pi \colon \mathbb{P}_B^{1,an} \to \mathcal{M}(B)$, such that for any $b \in \mathcal{M}(B)$, $\pi^{-1}(b)$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathscr{H}(b)}$ in a canonical way.

A positive Radon measure μ on a compact space K is a positive linear functional $\mu: \mathcal{C}^0(K) \to \mathbb{R}$, i.e., a linear map such that $\mu(\varphi) \geq 0$ when $\varphi \geq 0$. A probability measure is a positive Radon measure with $\mu(K) = 1$. We endow the set of positive (resp. probability) measures $M^+(K)$ (resp. $M^1(K)$) on K with the weakest topology such that the function $\mu \to \int \varphi d\mu$ is continuous for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^0(K)$.

A linear functional

$$L: \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B) \to \mathcal{C}^0(\mathcal{M}(B))$$

is said to be positive if it maps positive functions to positive functions.

Definition 4.1. A continuous family of positive measures on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B$ is a positive linear functional $L: \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B) \to \mathcal{C}^0(\mathcal{M}(B))$ such that for all $\varphi \in$ $\mathcal{C}^0(\mathcal{M}(B))$ we have $L(\varphi \circ \pi) = \varphi \times (L1)$.

We denote by $M^+(\mathbb{P}^1, B)$ the collection of all continuous families of positive measures on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B$. We endow it with the weakest topology for which all evaluation maps are continuous.

We introduce the set \mathcal{F}_B of families of positive measures $\{\mu_b\}_{b\in\mathcal{M}(B)}$ such that μ_b is supported on $\pi^{-1}(b)$ for all $b \in \mathcal{M}(B)$, and the map $b \mapsto \mu_b$ is continuous for the weak-* topology on $\mathcal{M}(B)$.

Theorem 4.2. For any family $\mu = (\mu_b)_{b \in \mathcal{M}(B)} \in \mathcal{F}_B$, we set

(13)
$$L_{\mu}(\varphi)(b) = \int \varphi|_{\pi^{-1}(b)} d\mu_b$$

for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B)$, and any $b \in \mathcal{M}(B)$. Then L_{μ} defines a continuous family of positive measures, and the map $\mu \to L_{\mu}$ establishes a bijection between \mathcal{F}_B and $\mathrm{M}^+(\mathbb{P}^1, B)$.

Remark 4.3. The map L is a homeomorphism when $M^+(\mathbb{P}^1, B)$ is endowed with the weak-* topology, and \mathcal{F}_B with the compact open topology.

Remark 4.4. The space $M^+(\mathbb{P}^1, B)$ is not compact, but for each M > 0, the subset of continuous families of measures with uniformly bounded mass < M is compact.

Suppose $B = A^{\epsilon}$, for some $\epsilon \in (0,1]^{\mathbb{N}}$, so that $\mathcal{M}(B) \simeq \beta \mathbb{N}$ by Theorem 3.8. Recall that \mathbb{N} with its discrete topology is a open dense subset of $\beta \mathbb{N}$.

Since $\pi^{-1}(n)$ is open in $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$, the extension by 0 of a continuous function on $\pi^{-1}(n)$ remains continuous on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$. It follows that an operator $L \in$ $M^+(\mathbb{P}^1, A^{\epsilon})$ defines by restriction a sequence of positive measures on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon_n}}$, hence a sequence of positive measures μ_n on $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$. Also L1 is continuous hence bounded so that the mass of μ_n is uniformly bounded.

Conversely, let μ_n be any sequence of positive measures of bounded mass on $\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{C}}$. For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}})$, the function $\mathbb{N} \mapsto \mathbb{R}$ sending n to $\int \varphi s^*_{\epsilon_n} d\mu_n$ is bounded hence we can define

$$L\varphi(\omega) = \lim_{\omega} \int \varphi \, s_{\epsilon_n}^* d\mu_n$$

for any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$. It is continuous by the universal property Proposition 3.6, and L is bounded since the mass of μ_n are uniformly bounded.

We have thus obtained

Corollary 4.5. Pick any sequence $\epsilon \in (0,1]^{\mathbb{N}}$. Any sequence of positive measures $\mu_n \in \mathrm{M}^+(\hat{\mathbb{C}})$ of uniformly bounded mass determines a unique continuous family of positive measures on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A\epsilon}$ such that

$$L\varphi(\omega) = \lim_{\omega} \int \varphi \, s_{\epsilon_n}^* d\mu_n$$

for all $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}})$ and all $\omega \in \mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon}) \simeq \beta \mathbb{N}$.

Any continuous family of positive measures on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$ is obtained in this way.

Proof of Theorem 4.2. Let $\mu = (\mu_b)_{b \in \mathcal{M}(B)}$ be any weakly continuous family of positive measures on $\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an}$ such that the support of μ_b is included in $\pi^{-1}(b)$, and define $L_{\mu}\varphi(b) = \int \varphi d\mu_b$ for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an})$. Since the family is continuous, $L_{\mu}\varphi$ is continuous. The operator is positive, and if $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathcal{M}(B))$ we have $L_{\mu}(\varphi \circ \pi)(b) = \varphi(b) \times \text{Mass}(\mu_b)$ so that L defines a continuous family of positive measures as in Definition 4.1.

Let us prove that $\mu \mapsto L_{\mu}$ is injective. If $\mu' = (\mu'_b)_{b \in \mathcal{M}(B)} \neq \mu$, then we can find $b \in \mathcal{M}(B)$ such that $\mu'_b \neq \mu_b$, hence a continuous function $\varphi_0 \in \mathcal{C}^0(\pi^{-1}(b))$ such that $\int \varphi_0 d\mu'_b \neq \int \varphi_0 d\mu_b$. By Tietze-Urysohn's theorem applied on the compact space $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B$, there exists a continuous function φ on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B$ whose restriction to $\pi^{-1}(b)$ is equal to φ_0 . We have $L_{\mu'}\varphi(b) \neq L_{\mu}\varphi(b)$ as required.

We now show that $\mu \mapsto L_{\mu}$ is surjective. Let $L: \mathcal{C}^{0}(\mathbb{P}_{B}^{1,an}) \to \mathcal{C}^{0}(\mathcal{M}(B))$ be any positive linear functional satisfying (13). Choose any $b \in \mathcal{M}(B)$, and pick any continuous function $f \in \mathcal{C}^{0}(\pi^{-1}(b))$. Recall that Tietze-Urysohn's theorem implies the existence of $\tilde{\varphi} \in \mathcal{C}^{0}(\mathbb{P}_{B}^{1,an})$ such that $\sup |\tilde{\varphi}| \leq \sup |\varphi|$ and $\tilde{\varphi}|_{\pi^{-1}(b)} = \varphi$. We set

$$L_b \varphi = L \tilde{\varphi}(b)$$
.

Let us prove that this does not depend on the choice of extension $\tilde{\varphi}$. For this, it is sufficient to prove that if $g \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B)$ is such that $g|_{\pi^{-1}(b)} = 0$, then Lg(b) = 0. Writing $g = \max\{g, 0\} - \max\{-g, 0\}$, we may suppose that $g \ge 0$. Observe that $b' \mapsto Sg(b') = \sup_{\pi^{-1}(b')} g$ is continuous, and $0 \le g \le Sg \circ \pi$. By the positivity of L, we obtain

$$0 \le L(g)(b) \le Sg(b) \times L1(b) = 0 .$$

This proves L_b is a positive linear functional, hence defines a positive measure μ_b supported on the fiber $\pi^{-1}(b)$. The fact that $b \mapsto \mu_b$ is weakly continuous follows immediately from the fact that $L\varphi$ is continuous when φ is. \Box

4.2. Model functions. In order to study the convergence of measures on $\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an}$, it is important to work with a suitable class of functions of geometric origin that we now introduce. We refer to [35, 8, 10, 27, 66] for a study of this class when B is a field, and \mathbb{P}^1 is replaced by any projective variety.

Recall that for each $l \in \mathbb{N}$ the space of global sections of the line bundle $\mathcal{O}(l) \to \mathbb{P}^1_B$ can be identified with the space of homogeneous polynomials $P \in B[z_0, z_1]$ of degree l. Recall that we set $\log \psi_P(z_0, z_1) = \log |P(z_0, z_1)| - l \log \max\{|z_0|, |z_1|\}$.

For any finite collection of sections $\sigma \subset H^0(\mathbb{P}^1_B, \mathcal{O}(l))$ we set

$$\varphi_{\sigma} = \log \max_{P_i \in \sigma} \psi_{P_i}$$
.

Note that $\varphi_{\sigma} \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B \to [-\infty, +\infty)$ is continuous. Such functions are called *quasi-model* functions.

The following observation is immediate from the local form of a quasimodel function.

Lemma 4.6. Let $\varphi = \varphi_{\sigma}$ be any quasi-model function associated with a finite set of sections $\sigma \subset H^0(\mathbb{P}^1_B, \mathcal{O}(l))$. Then for any $b \in \mathcal{M}(B)$, $\Delta \varphi|_{\pi^{-1}(b)}$ is a well-defined signed Borel measure whose variation has total mass $\leq 2l$.

Proof. Observe that $\Delta \varphi|_{\pi^{-1}(b)} + l\mu_{can}$ is locally equal to $\Delta \max \log |P_i|$, hence is a positive measure. It follows that we can write $\Delta \varphi|_{\pi^{-1}(b)} = (\Delta \varphi_{\pi^{-1}(b)} + l\mu_{can}) - l\mu_{can}$, hence the claim.

Remark 4.7. It is actually true that $\Delta \varphi|_{\pi^{-1}(b)}$ forms a continuous family of (signed) measures. We shall neither prove nor use this fact.

A model function is a quasi-model function associated with a finite family of sections P_i having no zeroes in common (this is equivalent to say that the linear system induced by these sections has no base point). Any model function is a continuous function $\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an} \to \mathbb{R}$. Let $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an})$ denote the \mathbb{Q} vector subspace of $\mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an})$ generated by all model functions.

When l = 0, global sections of the trivial line bundle are exactly B. A finite subset $(b_i) \subset B$ does not vanish simultaneously on \mathbb{P}^1_B if and only if (b_i) is not included in any proper ideal of B. The latter condition is equivalent to say $\Sigma b_i B = B$. Therefore, max log $|b_i|$ is a model function if and only if $\Sigma b_i B = B$. In particular, log |b| is a model function if and only if b is a unit in B.

Let $\mathcal{D}(B)$ be the Q-vector subspace in $\mathcal{C}^0(\mathcal{M}(B))$ generated by all functions of the form $\max \log |b_i|$ with $\Sigma b_i B = B$. We say that B satisfies property (N) if there exists $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(B)$ such that $\sup \varphi < 0$. Recall that the spectral norm on B is defined as $\rho(b) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \|b^n\|^{1/n} = \sup_{\mathcal{M}(B)} |b|$. Observe that property (N) is implied the next condition:

• there exist b_1, \dots, b_n such that $\sum b_i B = B$ and $\rho(b_i) < 1$ for all *i*.

We discuss some examples of Banach rings at the end of this section.

Theorem 4.8. When B has property (N), then $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an})$ is dense in $\mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an})$.

Lemma 4.9. The space $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an})$ is stable under maximum, and contains all functions of the form $\varphi \circ \pi$ with $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(B)$.

Proof. Let σ be any finite family of sections $(P_i)_{1 \leq i \leq m}$ of $\mathcal{O}(d)$ having no zeroes in common. For any $l \in \mathbb{N}$, define σ^l to be the set of sections $\prod_{i_1,\cdots,i_l} P_{i_1}\cdots P_{i_l}$. Then $\varphi_{\sigma^l} = l \times \varphi_{\sigma}$.

If τ is a family of sections (Q_j) of $\mathcal{O}(m)$, then the family $\sigma \otimes \tau = (P_i Q_j)$ of sections of $\mathcal{O}(l+m)$ satisfies

$$\varphi_{\sigma\otimes\tau} = \varphi_{\sigma} + \varphi_{\tau}$$

Suppose now that $\varphi = \sum_{i=1}^{k} q_i \varphi_{\sigma_i} - \sum_{i=1}^{l} p_l \varphi_{\tau_l} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an})$, with $q_i, p_l \in \mathbb{Q}^+$. Then for some sufficiently divisible $m \in \mathbb{N}$, mq_i, mp_l are all integers and we have

$$m\varphi = \varphi_{\otimes_i \sigma_i^{mq_i}} - \varphi_{\otimes_j \tau_i^{mp_j}}$$

This proves that any element in $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B)$ is the difference of two functions associated with a finite collection of sections having no common zeroes.

Let us now check that $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an})$ is stable under taking maxima. Since $\max\{a-b,c\} = \max\{a,c+b\} - b$, the preceding fact implies that it is sufficient to treat the case $\max\{\varphi_{\sigma_1},\varphi_{\sigma_2}\}$ for two finite collections of sections $\sigma_1 \subset H^0(\mathcal{O}(l_1))$, and $\sigma_2 \subset H^0(\mathcal{O}(l_2))$ with $l_1 \leq l_2$. Let $\tau = (z_0^i z_1^{l_2-l_1-i})$. Then we have $\max\{\varphi_{\sigma_1},\varphi_{\sigma_2}\} = \varphi_{\sigma}$ with $\sigma = (\sigma_1 \otimes \tau) \cup \sigma_2 \subset H^0(\mathcal{O}(l_2))$. Finally suppose $b_i \in B$ satisfy $\sum b_i B = B$, and let $\varphi = \max \log |b_i| \in C$.

Finally suppose $b_i \in B$ satisfy $\sum b_i B = B$, and let $\varphi = \max \log |b_i| \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathcal{M}(B))$. Then we have $\varphi \circ \pi = \varphi_\sigma$ with $\sigma = \{b_i z_0, b_i z_1\}_i \subset H^0(\mathcal{O}(1))$ which implies the last claim.

Proof of the Theorem 4.8. We apply the Stone-Weierstrass theorem for lattices, see, e.g., [36, Theorem 7.28].

It suffices to show that $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an})$ separates points. Choose $x \neq y \in \mathbb{P}_B^{1,an}$. Translating by 1 if necessary, we may assume that the two points are in the same affine chart $\{[z:1]\} \subset \mathbb{A}_B^{1,an}$, then we can find a polynomial $P_0 \in B[z]$ of degree d such that $|P_0(x)| \neq |P_0(y)|$, and the homogeneous polynomial $P(z_0, z_1) = z_1^d P(z_0/z_1)$ satisfies $\psi_P(x) \neq \psi_P(y)$.

Pick any integer $n \in \mathbb{N}$. By assumption, there exists a model function $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(B)$ such that $\sup \varphi < 0$. Multiplying this function by a suitable integer, we may find φ_n such that $\varphi_n < -n$, and $\varphi_n = \psi_n^+ - \psi_n^-$ where $\psi_n^{\pm} = \log \max |b_{i,n}^{\pm}|$ where $\sum_i b_{i,n}^{\pm} B = B$. Define

$$\sigma_n^{\pm} = \left\{ P(z_0, z_1), b_{i,n}^{\pm} z_1^{d-j} z_0^j \right\}_{i,j}$$

We have $\varphi_n = \varphi_{\sigma_n^+} - \varphi_{\sigma_n^-} = \max\{\psi_P, \varphi_n \circ \pi\} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an})$ and $\varphi_n \to \psi_P$ as $n \to \infty$, hence for any *n* large enough φ_n separates *x* and *y* as desired. \Box

Corollary 4.10. For any sequence $\epsilon \in (0,1]^{\mathbb{N}}$, the set of model functions $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}})$ is dense in the set of continuous functions $\mathcal{C}^{0}(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}})$.

This follows immediately from the previous theorem by considering the unit $b = (2^{-1/\epsilon_n}) \in (A^{\epsilon})^{\times}$ which satisfies $\rho(b) = 1/2$ so that $\log |b| < -\log 2$.

We conclude this section by discussing some examples of Banach rings satisfying or not property (N).

- A complete metrized field $(k, |\cdot|)$ has the property (N) if and only if the norm is non-trivial (even though in all cases $\mathcal{M}(k)$ is reduced to a single point).
- If the complete residue field of some $b \in \mathcal{M}(B)$ is trivially valued, then *B* cannot have property (N). This is the case when *B* is a field *k* endowed with the hybrid norm $|\cdot|_{hyb} = \max\{|\cdot|_0, |\cdot|\}$.
- Suppose $(k, |\cdot|)$ is a non-Archimedean complete metrized field. Then the ring $(k^{\circ}, |\cdot|)$ has never property (N).
- For any non-trivially valued complete metrized field $(k, |\cdot|)$, any Banach k-algebra (for which ||b|| = |b| for all $b \in k$) satisfies (N).
- If all complete residue fields are isometric to $(\mathbb{C}, |\cdot|)$, then *B* can be canonically embedded into $\mathcal{C}^0(K, \mathbb{C})$ where $K(=\mathcal{M}(B))$ is a compact space, and it satisfies property (N).

Remark 4.11. Let *B* be any Banach ring (with unity). If $\mathcal{D}(B)$ separates points in $\mathcal{M}(B)$, then it is dense in $\mathcal{C}^0(B)$. In that case, *B* has property (*N*) and $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an})$ is also dense in $\mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}_B^{1,an})$. It is however unclear whether $\mathcal{D}(B)$ separates points if and only if *B* has property (*N*).

Remark 4.12. Let B be any Banach ring. Then the \mathbb{Q} -vector space generated by the constant function 1 and all model functions is dense in $\mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_B)$.

4.3. Push-forward of continuous functions. In the remaining two subsections, we work in the ring A^{ϵ} . Let $f \in \text{Rat}_d(A^{\epsilon})$.

The pushforward of a function on the Berkovich projective line over a metrized field is defined in §2.3, see (8). We define the pushforward of a function $\varphi \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}} \to \mathbb{R}$ by $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(A^{\epsilon})$ as follows:

(14) $f_*\varphi(x) = (f_\omega)_*\varphi|_{\pi^{-1}(\omega)}(x)$, for all $x \in \pi^{-1}(\omega)$, and $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$.

Proposition 4.13. For any continuous function $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}})$, the function $f_*\varphi$ is also continuous.

We rely on the following characterization of continuity in terms of ultrafilters.

Lemma 4.14. A function $\varphi \colon \mathbb{P}_{A^{\epsilon}}^{1,an} \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous if and only if for all $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$, the restriction $\varphi_{\omega} = \varphi|_{\pi^{-1}(\omega)}$ is continuous and for any sequence $x_n \in \pi^{-1}(n)$, we have $\lim_{\omega} \varphi(x_n) = \varphi(\lim_{\omega} x_n)$.

Recall that in the situation above, $\lim_{\omega} x_n$ is always a Type-1 point in $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}$.

Proof. The direct implication is immediate. We proceed by contradiction for the converse implication. Suppose that φ is not continuous. Then there

exists $x \in \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$ and $\eta > 0$, such that for all neighbourhood $U \ni x$ in $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$, there exists $x_U \in U$ such that $|\varphi(x_U) - \varphi(x)| > \eta$. Set $\omega = \pi(x)$.

We claim that for any point $y \in \pi^{-1}(\omega)$, and for any open neighborhood $V \ni y$ in $\pi^{-1}(\omega)$, there exists a sequence $y_n \in \pi^{-1}(n)$ such that $\lim_{\omega} y_n \in V$. We only need to consider the case $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-Archimedean. We are also reduced to the case y is a Type-1 point because these points are dense. Then $y = [z_{0,\omega}: z_{1,\omega}]$ for a pair $z_{i,\omega} \in \mathscr{H}(\omega)$, and we may find $[z'_0: z'_1] \in \mathbb{P}^1(A^{\epsilon})$ such that the point $y' = [z'_{0,\omega}: z'_{1,\omega}]$ belongs to V. This implies the claim in this case since $\lim_{\omega} [z'_{0,n}: z'_{1,n}] = y'$.

From this claim and the assumption $\lim_{\omega} \varphi(x_n) = \varphi(\lim_{\omega} x_n)$, it follows that we may (and shall) assume that $x_U \in \pi^{-1}(\mathbb{N})$.

Since φ_{ω} is continuous, there exists a compact neighborhood \overline{W} of x in $\pi^{-1}(\omega)$ such that $\sup_{\overline{W}} |\varphi - \varphi(x)| \leq \eta/2$. We may suppose that \overline{W} is of the form $\overline{W} = \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} \{r_i \leq \psi_{P_{\omega,i}} \leq s_i\}$ where $r_i < s_i \in \mathbb{R}$, and $P_{i,\omega}$ are homogeneous polynomials with coefficients in $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$. Since $A^{\epsilon}/\ker(\omega)$ is equal to $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$, we may even suppose that each $P_{\omega,i}$ can be lifted to a polynomial P_i with coefficients in A^{ϵ} . Write $W' = \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} \{r_i < \psi_{P_i} < s_i\} \subset \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$. Observe that W' is an open neighborhood of x such that $\overline{W'} \cap \pi^{-1}(\omega) \subset \overline{W}$.

Consider the set E of integers $n \in \mathbb{N}$ for which there exists $x_n \in \pi^{-1}(n) \cap W'$ such that $|\varphi(x_n) - \varphi(x)| > \eta$. If E is ω -thin, then its complement E^c is ω -big, and $U = \pi^{-1} \{ E^c \in \omega' \}$ is an open neighborhood of x. The point x_U projects to E^c and satisfies $|\varphi(x_U) - \varphi(x)| > \eta$, a contradiction.

We conclude that E is ω -big, and we get a sequence $x_n \in \pi^{-1}(n) \cap W'$ such that $|\varphi(x_n) - \varphi(x)| > \eta$. The limit $x' = \lim_{\omega} x_n$ belongs to \overline{W} , and $\varphi(x') = \lim_{\omega} \varphi(x_n)$ so that $|\varphi(x_U) - \varphi(x)| \ge \eta$. This is impossible, hence φ is continuous.

Proof of Proposition 4.13. By the previous lemma, it suffices to show for any continuous function φ and any ultrafilter $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$, and any sequence of points $x_n \in \pi^{-1}(n)$, we have

$$\lim_{\omega} f_*\varphi(x_n) = f_*\varphi(x_{\omega}),$$

where $x_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} x_n \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathscr{H}(\omega))$. We may suppose that we are in a fixed affine chart so that $x_{\omega} = [z_{\omega}: 1]$ and $x_n = [z_n: 1]$, and assume that $f^{-1}(x_{\omega})$ does not contain the point [1: 0].

Let y_{ω} be any preimage by f_{ω} of x_{ω} with local degree $m \geq 1$. We claim that there exist distinct points $y_{n,j} \in f_n^{-1}(x_n)$ such that $y_{\omega} = (y_{n,j})$ in $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ for all j, and $\sum_j \deg_{y_{n,j}}(f_n) = m$.

To see this, pick any representation $f_n = [P_n: Q_n]$, and consider the polynomial $H_n(z) = P_n(z, 1) - z_n Q_n(z, 1)$ which defines a polynomial of degree d in A^{ϵ} (since $y_{\omega} \neq [1:0]$ by assumption). Since H_{ω} has a zero of multiplicity m at y_{ω} , Proposition 3.11 implies the existence of m sequences (possibly with repetitions) $y'_{n,j}$, $1 \leq j \leq m$, such that $(y'_{n,j}) = y_{\omega} \in \mathscr{H}(\omega)$, and that $\prod_j (z - y'_{n,j})$ is a factor of degree m of H_n . Set $y_{n,1} = y'_{n,1}$, and by induction $y_{n,j} = y'_{n,l}$ where l is the minimal integer for which $(y'_{n,l}) \notin$ $\{(y_{n,1}, \cdots, (y_{n,j-1})\}$ to avoid repetition. This implies the claim. Write $f_{\omega}^{-1}(x_{\omega}) = \{y_{\omega}^{1}, \cdots, y_{\omega}^{k}\}, m^{i} = \deg_{y_{\omega}^{i}}(f_{\omega})$, and choose sequences $y_{n,j}^{i} \in f_{n}^{-1}(x_{n})$ such that $(y_{n,j}^{i}) = (y_{\omega}^{i})$ in $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ for all integers i, j, and $\sum_{j} \deg_{y_{n,j}^{i}}(f_{n}) = m_{i}$.

Note that on an ω -big set, the points $y_{n,j}^i$ are distinct, so that $\sum_i m_i = d$ implies $f_n^{-1}(x_n) = \{y_{n,j}^i\}$ on that set. We thus get

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\omega} f_*\varphi(x_n) &= \lim_{\omega} \sum \left(\deg_{y_{n,j}^i} f_n \right) \varphi(y_{n,j}^i) = \lim_{\omega} \sum_i \sum_j \left(\deg_{y_{n,j}^i} f_n \right) \varphi(y_{n,j}^i) \\ &= \sum_i m_i \varphi(y_{\omega}^i) = f_* \varphi(x_{\omega}), \end{split}$$

and the proof is complete.

By the previous proposition, we can define the pull-back of a Radon measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}})$ on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$ by duality. For every continuous function $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}})$, we set

$$\int \varphi df^* \mu = \int f_* \varphi \, d\mu.$$

The operator $f^* \colon \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}) \to \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}})$ is continuous.

4.4. **Push-forward of quasi-model functions.** Let $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(A^{\epsilon})$, as in the previous section, and pick a representation f = [P:Q] where $P, Q \in A^{\epsilon}[z_0, z_1]$ are homogeneous polynomials of degree d determined by a sequence of complex polynomials $P_n = \sum a_{j,n} z_0^j z_1^{d-j}$, $Q_n = \sum b_{j,n} z_0^j z_1^{d-j}$ such that $C^{-1} \leq |\operatorname{Res}(P_n, Q_n)|^{\epsilon_n} \leq C$ for some constant C > 1.

Recall the norm $||z|| = \sup_n |z_n|^{\epsilon_n}$ on A^{ϵ} . If $R = \sum c_j z_0^j z_1^{l-j} \in A^{\epsilon}[z_0, z_1]$ is a homogeneous polynomial of degree l, then we let $||R|| = \max ||c_j||$. Define

$$F_*R(z_0, z_1) = \prod_{F(w_0, w_1) = (z_0, z_1)} R(w_0, w_1)$$

where F = (P, Q). This map is defined on pairs $(z_0, z_1) \in (A^{\epsilon})^2$ such that $z_0 A^{\epsilon} + z_1 A^{\epsilon} = A^{\epsilon}$, and $(z_{0,n}, z_{1,n}) \in \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\}$ is not in the critical set of F_n (which is a union of at most 2d - 2 lines).

Lemma 4.15. The function F_*R is a homogeneous polynomial of degree dl with coefficients in A^{ϵ} , and

$$\|F_*R\| \le C \|R\|$$

for some constant C > 0 independent on R.

Proof. We claim that there exists a constant C > 1 such that

$$C^{-1} \| (w_0, w_1) \|^d \le \| F(w_0, w_1) \| \le C \| (w_0, w_1) \|^d$$

for all $w_0, w_1 \in (A^{\epsilon})^2$. The upper bound is trivial. For the lower bound, by [71, Theorem 2.13] applied to P and Q on the ring $A^{\epsilon}[z_0, z_1]$, we get homogeneous polynomials $U_i, V_i \in A^{\epsilon}[z_0, z_1]$ of degree d-1 such that

$$PU_0 + QV_0 = \operatorname{Res}(P, Q)z_0^{2d-1}$$
 and $PU_1 + QV_1 = \operatorname{Res}(P, Q)z_1^{2d-1}$

and the claim follows from $||PU_i + QV_i|| \le 2 \max\{||P|| ||U_i||, ||Q|| ||V_i||\}$. In particular we get $||(z_0, z_1)|| \ge C^{-1} ||(w_0, w_1)||^d$ when $F(w_0, w_1) = (z_0, z_1)$ hence

(15)
$$\|F_*R(z_0, z_1)\| \le C \|R\| \|(z_0, z_1)\|^{dl}$$

whenever it is defined. It follows that for each n, $F_{n*}R_n$ is a well-defined holomorphic function on the complement of finitely many lines which hence extends to \mathbb{C}^2 . It is also homogeneous of degree dl, hence $F_{n*}R_n$ is a homogeneous polynomial. We conclude that (15) holds for any $(z_0, z_1) \in (A^{\epsilon})^2$, and this implies the lemma.

The previous construction gives a way to define a linear map $\sigma \mapsto f_*\sigma$ from $H^0(\mathbb{P}^1_{A^{\epsilon}}, \mathcal{O}(l))$ to $H^0(\mathbb{P}^1_{A^{\epsilon}}, \mathcal{O}(dl))$. Note that we slightly abuse notation, since this map depends on the choice of a lift F.

Proposition 4.16. Let $\sigma \in H^0(\mathbb{P}^1_{A^{\epsilon}}, \mathcal{O}(l))$. The difference $\varphi_{f_*\sigma} - df_*\varphi_{\sigma}$ is continuous on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$.

Remark 4.17. Since the maximum of a sum is not necessarily the sum of maxima, it is a priori unclear whether f_* preserves the sets of quasi-model and model functions.

Proof. The difference $\varphi_{f_*\sigma} - df_*\varphi_{\sigma}$ is equal to

$$dl \sum_{F(w_0,w_1)=(z_0,z_1)} \deg_{[w_0:w_1]}(f) \log \max\{|w_0|,|w_1|\} - dl \log \max\{|z_0|,|z_1|\}$$

which is the same as $l f_*(d \log \max\{|z_0|, |z_1|\} - \log \max\{|P|, |Q|\})$. This function is continuous by Proposition 4.13.

5. Convergence of measures on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A\epsilon}$

5.1. **Basics in hyperbolic geometry.** A basic reference for this section is [2, §4].

We fix an affine coordinate z on the Riemann sphere $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$, and work with the Poincaré model of the hyperbolic 3-space \mathbb{H}^3 . The latter is the Riemannian threefold whose underlying space is

$$\mathbb{H}^3 = \{ (z,h) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}_+ \},\$$

endowed with the metric $g_{\mathbb{H}} = h^{-2}(d|z|^2 + dh^2)$ (of constant sectional curvature -1), where $|\cdot|$ denotes the standard Euclidean norm on \mathbb{C} . The induced distance is given by

(16)
$$\cosh d_{\mathbb{H}}\left((z_1,h_1),(z_2,h_2)\right) = 1 + \frac{|z_1-z_2|^2 + |h_1-h_2|^2}{2h_1h_2}.$$

The group of direct isometries of \mathbb{H}^3 is the group of Möbius transformations $\mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$. When $M(z) = \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$, then we have

$$M(z,h) = \left(\frac{(az+b)(\overline{cz+d}) + a\overline{c}h^2}{|cz+d|^2 + |c|^2h^2}, \frac{|ad-bc|h}{|cz+d|^2 + |c|^2h^2}\right).$$

In particular M(z,h) = (az + b, |a|h) when M(z) = az + b with $a \in \mathbb{C}^*$ and $b \in \mathbb{C}$, and

$$M(z,h) = \left(\frac{\bar{z}}{|z|^2 + h^2}, \frac{h}{|z|^2 + h^2}\right)$$

for the inversion $M(z) = z^{-1}$. The stabilizer G of the point $x_{\star} = (0, 1)$ is the compact group

$$G = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & -\bar{c} \\ c & \bar{a} \end{pmatrix}, \text{ with } |a|^2 + |c|^2 = 1 \right\} \simeq \text{SO}(3)$$

so that \mathbb{H}^3 can be identified by the map $M \mapsto M \cdot x_\star$ with the homogeneous space $\mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})/G$. Observe also that $\mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ acts naturally and continuously on $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^3 = \mathbb{H}^3 \sqcup (\mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}) = \mathbb{H}^3 \sqcup \hat{\mathbb{C}}$.

Let now $\mathcal{G}(\hat{\mathbb{C}})$ be the space of conformal metrics on the Riemann sphere that have constant curvature 4π . Define the Fubini-Study metric as

$$g_{FS} = \frac{4\pi \, d|z|^2}{(1+|z|^2)^2} \; .$$

Then $\mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ acts also on $\mathcal{G}(\hat{\mathbb{C}})$ and the isotropy group of g_{FS} is again equal to G. It follows that the map $\mu \colon \mathbb{H}^3 \to \mathcal{G}(\hat{\mathbb{C}})$ given by $\mu(M \cdot x_\star) = M_*g_{FS}$ is well-defined, and μ is a homeomorphism.

Finally pick any $x \in \mathbb{H}^3$ different from x_{\star} , and consider the set

(17)
$$H(x) = \{ y \in \mathbb{H}^3, d_{\mathbb{H}}(y, x) < d_{\mathbb{H}}(y, x_\star) \}$$

When x = (0, t) with 0 < t < 1, we have $H(x) = \{(z, h) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}^*_+, |z|^2 < t-h^2\}$ which is a half-sphere orthogonal to the plane $\mathbb{C} \times \{0\}$, and its closure in \mathbb{H}^3 intersects $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$ along the euclidean disk $\overline{\mathbb{D}}(x) = \{|z| < \sqrt{t}\}$.

Recall that the spherical distance on $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$ is defined by

$$d_{\mathbb{P}^{1}(\mathbb{C})}([z_{0}:z_{1}],[w_{0}:w_{1}]) = \frac{|z_{0}w_{1} - z_{1}w_{0}|}{\sqrt{|z_{0}|^{2} + |z_{1}|^{2}}\sqrt{|w_{0}|^{2} + |w_{1}|^{2}}}$$

Spherical disks are preserved by Möbius transformations, and the group G preserves also their radii. We have thus proved

Lemma 5.1. For any $x \neq x_* \in \mathbb{H}^3$, the intersection $\overline{\mathbb{D}}(x)$ of the closure of H(x) in $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^3$ with $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$ is a closed disk of radius \sqrt{t} with

$$\cosh d_{\mathbb{H}}(x, x_{\star}) = 1 + (t-1)^2/2t$$

for the spherical metric on the Riemann sphere.

It is convenient to call $\overline{\mathbb{D}}(x) \subset \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ the associated disk with x.

5.2. Convergence of metrics of constant curvature on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$. Fix $\epsilon = (\epsilon_n) \in (0,1]^{\mathbb{N}}$, and recall that the Banach ring A^{ϵ} is defined as

$$A^{\epsilon} = \left\{ (a_n) \in \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}}, \sup_{n} |a_n|^{\epsilon_n} < \infty \right\}$$

equipped with the norm $||(a_n)|| = \sup_n |a_n|^{\epsilon_n}$. Recall also the canonical homeomorphism $s_e \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_e} \to \hat{\mathbb{C}}$ from §1.2 for any $e \in (0,1]$.

Recall from §3.2.3 that a sequence $p \in (\hat{\mathbb{C}})^{\mathbb{N}}$ defines a point $\alpha(p) \in \mathbb{P}^1(A^{\epsilon})$. Given $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$, we shall write p_{ω} for the point defined by $\alpha(p)$ in the fiber $\pi^{-1}(\omega)$. Observe that p_{ω} is always of Type-1.

Fix a sequence of conformal metrics $\rho_n \in \mathcal{G}(\hat{\mathbb{C}})$ of constant curvature 4π on the Riemann sphere. We identify such a metric $h_n(z)d|z|^2 \in \mathcal{G}(\hat{\mathbb{C}})$ with the smooth positive (1, 1)-form $\lambda_n = h_n(z)\frac{i}{2}dz \wedge d\bar{z}$. By Gauss-Bonnet, this volume form has total mass 1 so that $\mu_n \in M^+(\hat{\mathbb{C}})$ in the notation of §4.1. By Corollary 4.5, let $\mu_n = (s_{\epsilon_n})^*\lambda_n$, we obtain a continuous family of probability measures $(\mu_{\omega})_{\omega\in\beta\mathbb{N}}$, and our aim is to describe μ_{ω} for any non-principal ultra-filter ω .

Recall that the Fubini-Study metric is equal to $\mu(x_{\star})$ with $x_{\star} = (0,1) \in \mathbb{H}^3$; and from Table 1 that a point $p = (p_n) \in (\hat{\mathbb{C}})^{\mathbb{N}}$ can be identified with a point in $\mathbb{P}^1(A^{\epsilon})$ hence defines a point in $p_{\omega} \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathscr{H}(\omega))$ for all ω .

Theorem 5.2. Pick any sequence of points $x_n \in \mathbb{H}^3$, and consider the probability measures $\mu_n = \mu(x_n) \in \mathrm{M}^+(\hat{\mathbb{C}})$. Choose any sequence $\epsilon = (\epsilon_n) \in (0,1]^{\mathbb{N}}$, and any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$.

- (1) Suppose that $e = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n > 0$, so that $\mathscr{H}(\omega) \simeq \mathbb{C}_e$ is Archimedean.
 - (a) If $\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_*) < \infty$, then $x_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} x_n$ belongs to \mathbb{H}^3 , and $(s_e)_*\mu_{\omega} = \mu(x_{\omega})$ is a conformal metric with constant sectional curvature.
 - (b) If $\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) = \infty$, then $x_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} x_n$ belongs to $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$ and $(s_e)_* \mu_{\omega}$ is the Dirac mass at the point x_{ω} .
- (2) Suppose that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$, so that $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-Archimedean.
 - (a) If $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_{\star}) = 0$, then μ_{ω} is a Dirac mass at the Gauss point.
 - (b) If $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) \in \mathbb{R}^*_+$, μ_{ω} is a Dirac mass at a point of Type-2 $x_{\omega} \in \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}$.
 - (c) if $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) = \infty$, then μ_{ω} is a Dirac mass at a point $x_{\omega} \in \mathbb{P}^{1,an}(\mathscr{H}(\omega))$ of Type-1. Moreover, for any sequence $y_n \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}(x_n)$, we have $y_{\omega} = x_{\omega}$.
- (3) Pick any other sequence $y_n \in \mathbb{H}^3$ such that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, y_n) = 0$, and let $\nu_n = \mu(y_n)$. Then for any non-principal ultrafilter ω , the two limiting measures coincide $\nu_{\omega} = \mu_{\omega}$.

Remark 5.3. It is possible to interpret geometrically the Type-2 point x_{ω} which appears in Case (2b). Indeed the image of the set

$$\{(y_n) \in (\widehat{\mathbb{C}})^{\mathbb{N}}, y_n \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}(x_n)\}\$$

in $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathscr{H}(\omega))$ is a closed projective disk defining x_{ω} .

Recall that the canonical measure μ_{can} is defined as the Dirac mass at the Gauss point in the non-Archimedean case, and as the Haar measure on the unit circle $\{|z| = 1\}$ in the Archimedean case.

Corollary 5.4. The family of measures $\{\mu_{can}|_{\pi^{-1}(\omega)}\}$ is continuous.

Proof. It follows from (7) that for any integer n, we have $\mu_{can}|_{\pi^{-1}(n)} - \mu_{FS,n} = \Delta g_n$ with

$$g_n = \log \frac{\max\{|z_0|^{2/\epsilon_n}, |z_1|^{2/\epsilon_n}\}}{(|z_0|^{2/\epsilon_n} + |z_1|^{2/\epsilon_n})^{1/2}}$$

Observe that the sequence $\{g_n\}$ defines a continuous function on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$ whose restriction to $\pi^{-1}(\omega)$ is equal to 0 when $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-Archimedean.

When $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$, then $\lim_{\omega} \sup |g_n| = 0$. For any model function φ , we have $\int \varphi d\mu_{\operatorname{can}}|_{\pi^{-1}(n)} - \int \varphi d\mu_{FS,n} = \int g_n \Delta \varphi$, and $\lim_{\omega} \int g_n \Delta \varphi = 0$. Since $\lim_{\omega} \mu_{FS,n} = \mu_{\operatorname{can}}$ by Theorem 5.2 (2a) we conclude that $\lim_{\omega} \int \varphi \mu_{\operatorname{can}}|_{\pi^{-1}(n)} = \varphi(x_g)$ for all model function φ , hence $\lim_{\omega} \mu_{\operatorname{can}}|_{\pi^{-1}(n)} = \mu_{\operatorname{can}}|_{\pi^{-1}(\omega)}$ by density.

In the case $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n > 0$, then we can argue directly observing that the measure $\lim_{\omega} \mu_{\operatorname{can}}|_{\pi^{-1}(n)}$ is then a probability measure invariant by rotation hence equal to $\mu_{\operatorname{can}}|_{\pi^{-1}(\omega)}$.

The rest of the section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 5.2.

Step 1. We suppose that $x_n = x_{\star}$ for all n, and compute μ_{ω} in this case.

Write $\mu_{FS} = \mu(x_{\star}) \in \mathrm{M}^+(\hat{\mathbb{C}})$. Pick any model function of the form φ_{σ} where $\sigma = \{P_i\}$ is a finite subset of sections of $H^0(\mathcal{O}(d))$ having no base points. Write $P_i = \sum a_j z_0^j z_1^{d-j}$ with $a_j = (a_{j,n}) \in A^{\epsilon}$. By assumption, we have

$$\int \varphi_{\sigma} d\mu_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} \int \varphi_{\sigma}(s_{\epsilon_n})^* d\mu_{FS} = \lim_{\omega} \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \epsilon_n \log \frac{\max_j \left\{ \left| \sum a_{j,n} z_0^j z_1^{d-j} \right| \right\}}{\max\{|z_0|, |z_1|\}^d} d\mu_{FS}$$

Suppose first that $\epsilon = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n > 0$ so that $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is Archimedean. Then $a_{j,n}$ is bounded and $a_{j,\omega} = \lim_{\omega} a_{j,n} \in \mathbb{C}$ so that we can define $P_{j,\omega} = \sum a_{j,\omega} z_0^j z_1^{d-j} \in \mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]$. We then have

(18)
$$\int \varphi_{\sigma} d\mu_{\omega} = \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \epsilon \log \frac{\max_{j} \{|P_{j,\omega}|\}}{\max\{|z_{0}|, |z_{1}|\}^{d}} d\mu_{FS}$$

which implies $(s_{\epsilon})_*\mu_{\omega} = \mu_{FS}$.

Suppose now that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$ so that $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-Archimedean. We claim that the support of μ_{ω} is the Gauss point in $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}$, which implies $\mu_{\omega} = \delta_{x_g}$.

Since μ_{FS} is invariant under $z \mapsto z^{-1}$, the support of μ_{ω} is also invariant under this inversion. Choose any $c \in \mathscr{H}(\omega)$ such that $|c| \leq 1$, and any r < 1. It is sufficient to prove that $\mu_{\omega}(B(c,r)) = 0$. Since the image of A^{ϵ} equals $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ by Proposition 3.9 (2), we may find $(c_n) \in A^{\epsilon}$ whose image $[c_n] = c$ in $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$.

Consider the set of homogeneous polynomials $L_1 = z_0 - (c_n)z_1$, and $L_2 = z_0 - (c_n + r^{1/\epsilon_n})z_1$. Note that the collection $\sigma = \{L_1, L_2\}$ of sections of $\mathcal{O}(1)$ has no base point.

In the chart x = [z: 1] with $(z_n) \in A^{\epsilon}$, the model function φ_{σ} can be computed explicitly, and we obtain

$$\varphi_{\sigma}(x)|_{\mathbb{A}^{1,an}_{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon_n}}} = \epsilon_n \log \max\{|z_n - c_n|, |z_n - c_n + r^{1/\epsilon_n}|\} - \epsilon_n \log \max\{|z_n|, 1\}$$

and taking the limit along ω , we get

$$\varphi_{\sigma}(x)|_{\mathbb{A}^{1,an}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}} \begin{cases} = -r, & |z-c| < r; \\ \leq 0, & r \leq |z-c| \leq 1; \\ = 0, & |z-c| > 1. \end{cases}$$

Observe that we only need to prove that $\int \varphi_{\sigma} d\mu_{\omega} = 0$. But

$$\int \varphi_{\sigma} d\mu_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \log \left(\frac{\max\{|z - c_n|, |z - c_n + r^{1/\epsilon_n}|\}}{\max\{|z|, 1\}} \right) d\mu_{FS}(z)$$

In order to estimate the right hand side, we use basic ideas from potential theory. We leave it to the reader to use a more direct geometric approach.

Recall μ_{can} be the Haar measure on the unit circle $\{|z| = 1\} \subset \hat{\mathbb{C}}$. Recall that $\mu_{\text{can}} = \mu_{FS} + \Delta g$ for some continuous quasi-subharmonic function g, see §1.3. Write $\varphi_n = \log \max\{|z - c_n|, |z - c_n + (r^{1/\epsilon_n})|\} - \log \max\{|z|, 1\}$, and observe that this defines a continuous function on $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$. We have

$$\int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \varphi_n d\mu_{FS} = \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \varphi_n d\mu_{\operatorname{can}} - \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \varphi_n \Delta g$$

By Jensen's formula [40], we have

$$\begin{split} I_n &= \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \varphi_n d\mu_{\operatorname{can}} = \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \log \max \left\{ |z - c_n|, |z - c_n + (r^{1/\epsilon_n})| \right\} d\mu_{\operatorname{can}} \\ &\geq \max \left\{ \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \log |z - c_n| d\mu_{\operatorname{can}}, \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \log |z - c_n + (r^{1/\epsilon_n})| d\mu_{\operatorname{can}} \right\} \\ &\geq \max \{ \log^+ |c_n|, \log^+ |c_n - (r^{1/\epsilon_n})| \} \ge 0 \;. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, by Lemma 4.6 we get

$$J_n = \left| \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \varphi_n \Delta g \right| = \left| \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} g \Delta \varphi_n \right| \le \sup |g| \times \operatorname{Mass}(|\Delta \varphi_n|) \le 2 \sup |g| ,$$

and using $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$, we conclude that

$$\int \varphi_{\sigma} d\mu_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \varphi_n d\mu_{FS} \ge \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n (I_n - J_n) \ge 0$$

This implies $\int \varphi_{\sigma} d\mu_{\omega} = 0$ and concludes the proof.

Step 2. We suppose now $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) < \infty$ and determine μ_{ω} . In other words, we prove (1a) and the fact that μ_{ω} is a Dirac mass at a Type-2 point when $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$.

Choose any sequence of affine maps $M_n(z) = a_n z + b_n$ such that $x_n = M_n(x_\star) \in \mathbb{H}^3$.

Lemma 5.5. Pick $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$, and $\epsilon \in (0, 1]^{\mathbb{N}}$. Let $M_n(z) = a_n z + b_n$ be any sequence of complex affine Möbius transformations, and write $x_n = M_n(x_*) \in \mathbb{H}^3$.

Then we have $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) < \infty$ if and only if $\lim_{\omega} |b_n|^{\epsilon_n} < \infty$ and $\lim_{\omega} |a_n|^{\pm \epsilon_n} < \infty$.

By this lemma, there exists an ω -big set E such that

$$\sup_{n \in E} \max\{|b_n|^{\epsilon_n}, |a_n|^{\pm \epsilon_n}\} < \infty.$$

We replace (a_n, b_n) for all $n \notin E$ by the constant sequence (1, 0). This implies $(b_n) \in A^{\epsilon}$, and $(a_n) \in (A^{\epsilon})^{\times}$ and does not change $\lim_{\omega} \mu_n$. In particular, the sequence $(a_n z + b_n)$ induces an affine automorphism M(z) = az + b of the affine line over A^{ϵ} .

Let φ_{σ} be any model function associated with a finite family $\sigma = \{P_i\}$ of sections $P_i \in \mathcal{O}(d)$ over $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$. Observe that $M^*\sigma = \{P_i \circ M\}$ is again a family of sections over the same space, and $\varphi_{\sigma} \circ M = \varphi_{M^*\sigma}$ is a model function. We have:

$$\int \varphi_{\sigma} d\mu_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} \int \varphi_{\sigma}(s_{\epsilon_{n}})^{*} d\mu_{n}$$
$$= \lim_{\omega} \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} \epsilon_{n} \log \frac{\max_{j} \left\{ \left| P_{j}^{n} \circ M_{n} \right| \right\}}{\max\{|a_{n}z_{0} + b_{n}z_{1}|, |z_{1}|\}^{d}} d\mu_{FS}$$

If $e = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n > 0$, then $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is Archimedean, $\sup_E d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) < \infty$ on some ω -big set E, and $\lim_{\omega} x_n = x_\omega \in \mathbb{H}^3$. Since $x_n = M_n(x_\star)$, we have $x_\omega = M_\omega(x_\star)$, and the preceding step implies

$$\int \varphi_{\sigma} d\mu_{\omega} = \int_{\hat{\mathbb{C}}} e \log \frac{\max_{j} \left\{ |P_{j,\omega} \circ M_{\omega}| \right\}}{\max\{|a_{\omega}z_{0} + b_{\omega}z_{1}|, |z_{1}|\}^{d}} d\mu_{FS}$$

which proves (1a).

Suppose now that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$. Then $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is non-Archimedean, and by the preceding step we have

$$\int \varphi_{\sigma} d\mu_{\omega} = \int_{\pi^{-1}(\omega)} \log \frac{\max_{j} \{|P_{j,\omega}|\}}{\max\{|z_{0}|, |z_{1}|\}^{d}} (M_{\omega})_{*} \delta_{x_{g}} ,$$

hence μ_{ω} is a Dirac mass at the Type-2 point

(19)
$$x_{\omega} = M_{\omega}(x_g) \in \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}.$$

This ends Step 2.

Proof of Lemma 5.5. By
$$(16)$$
, we have

(20)
$$\cosh d_{\mathbb{H}}(M_n(x_\star), x_\star) = 1 + \frac{|b_n|^2 + (|a_n| - 1)^2}{2|a_n|}$$

Observe that $\frac{1}{2}e^t \leq \cosh t \leq e^t$ for all $t \geq 0$. Write $\Theta = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star)$ and suppose that $\Theta < \infty$. Then

$$\lim_{\omega} |a_n|^{\pm \epsilon_n} \le \lim_{\omega} \max\{2, |a_n|^{\pm 1}\}^{\epsilon_n} \le \max\{2, 8e^{\Theta}\} < \infty$$

since $\max\{t, t^{-1}\} \le 4(t-1)^2/t$ for all t > 2; and

$$\lim_{\omega} |b_n|^{2\epsilon_n} \le \lim_{\omega} (2|a_n|)^{\epsilon_n} \times e^{\Theta} < \infty .$$

Conversely, suppose $\lim_{\omega} |a_n|^{\pm \epsilon_n} < \infty$ and $\lim_{\omega} |b_n|^{\epsilon_n} < \infty$. Then

$$e^{\Theta} \leq \lim_{\omega} \left(6 \max\{1, |b_n|^2 |a_n|^{-1}, (|a_n| - 1)^2 |a_n|^{-1} \} \right)^{\epsilon_n} < \infty$$

which concludes the proof.

Step 3. We finally treat the case $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_{\star}) = \infty$.

By Lemma 5.1, the projective disk $\overline{\mathbb{D}}(x_n) \subset \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ has a radius $\sqrt{t_n} \in (0,1]$ and $\cosh d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) = 1 + (t_n - 1)^2/2t_n$. Since $\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) = \infty$ in all cases, we get $\lim_{\omega} t_n = 0$, and $d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) = \log t_n^{-1} + o(1)$ on an ω -big set.

Recall that $x_n \in \mathbb{H}^3$ can be mapped to the point $(0, t_n)$ with $t_n \in (0, 1)$ as above by an element g of the maximal compact subgroup G of $PGL_2(\mathbb{C})$ fixing x_{\star} . The next lemma thus implies

(21)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_n(\hat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \bar{\mathbb{D}}(x_n)) = 0 .$$

Lemma 5.6. There exists a constant C > 0 such that for any $t \in (0, 1)$, we have

$$\mu(x_t)\left(\hat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus\bar{\mathbb{D}}(x_t)\right)\leq Ct$$

where $x_t = (0, t) \in \mathbb{H}^3$.

Suppose that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n > 0$. Then we can consider the limit along ω of x_n in $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^3$: this is a point $x_\omega \in \hat{\mathbb{C}} = \overline{\mathbb{H}}^3 \setminus \mathbb{H}^3$, and it follows from (21) that μ_ω is supported on x_{ω} .

Suppose now that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$. Pick any two sequences $y_n, y'_n \in \mathbb{D}(x_n) \subset$ $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$. Since $d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_{\star}) = \log t_n^{-1} + o(1)$, we get in the spherical distance

$$\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C})}(y_n, y'_n)^{\epsilon_n} \le \lim_{\omega} 2(\sqrt{t_n})^{\epsilon_n} = 0$$

and $y_{\omega} = y'_{\omega} \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathscr{H}(\omega))$ by Lemma 3.13. We denote by $x_{\omega} \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathscr{H}(\omega))$ the point determined by any sequence $y_n \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}(x_n)$.

To conclude, we need to prove that μ_{ω} is supported at x_{ω} . Pick any positive continuous function φ on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$ which is vanishing at x_{ω} . Write $\varphi_n = (s_{\epsilon_n})_* \varphi \colon \hat{\mathbb{C}} \to \mathbb{R}_+.$ Then we have

$$0 \leq \int \varphi_{\omega} d\mu_{\omega} = \lim_{\omega} \int \varphi_n d\mu_n = \lim_{\omega} \int_{\bar{\mathbb{D}}(x_n)} \varphi_n d\mu_n \; .$$

We also have $\lim_{\omega} \sup_{\bar{\mathbb{D}}(x_n)} \varphi_n = 0$, since if $\sup_{\bar{\mathbb{D}}(x_n)} \varphi_n = \varphi_n(y_n)$ for some $y_n \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}(x_n)$, then $y_\omega = x_\omega$ by our previous considerations. It follows that $\int \varphi_{\omega} d\mu_{\omega} = 0$ hence μ_{ω} is supported at x_{ω} .

This ends the proof of Step 3.

Proof of Lemma 5.6. The point (0, t) is the image by the Möbius map $z \mapsto tz$ of x_{\star} so that we have $\mu(x_t) = \frac{t^2 d|z|^2}{4(t^2+|z|^2)^2}$. It follows

$$\mu(0,t)\left(\hat{\mathbb{C}}\setminus\bar{\mathbb{D}}(0,t)\right) = \int_{|z|\ge\sqrt{t}} \frac{t^2 d|z|^2}{4(t^2+|z|^2)^2} = 2^{-1}\pi t \int_1^\infty \frac{r dr}{(t+r^2)^2}$$

e the result.

hence the result.

End of the proof of Theorem 5.2. It remains to prove (3). Pick any sequence $y_n \in \mathbb{H}^3$ such that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, y_n) = 0$, and let $\nu_n \in \mathrm{M}^+(\mathbb{C})$ be the sequence of conformal measures associated with y_n .

When $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n > 0$ and $\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) < \infty$, then $\lim_{\omega} \mu_n$ is the conformal measure associated with the point $x_{\infty} = \lim_{\omega} x_n \in \mathbb{H}^3$ by Step 2. Our assumption implies $\lim_{\omega} y_n = x_{\omega} \in \mathbb{H}^3$, and Step 2 applied to y_n implies ν_{ω} is also the conformal measure associated with x_{ω} . The same argument applies using Step 3 in the case $\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_{\star}) = \infty$.

Suppose that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$. When $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) < \infty$ then we also have $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(y_n, x_\star) < \infty$, and the result follows from the next lemma.

Lemma 5.7. Suppose $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n = 0$, and (x_n) is a sequence of points in \mathbb{H}^3 such that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) < \infty$. Then we have

(22)
$$d_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}(x_{\omega}, x_g) = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_{\star}) .$$

Moreover, for any other sequence (y_n) such that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, y_n) = 0$, we have $y_{\omega} = x_{\omega}$.

When $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) = \infty$, then Step 3 implies μ_{ω} is supported on a Type-1 point x_{ω} . If $y_n \in \mathbb{H}^3$ satisfies $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, y_n) = 0$, then by the triangle inequality we obtain $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_\star, y_n) = \infty$, and for n in an ω -big set then $d_{\mathbb{H}}(y_n, x_n)$ is much smaller than $d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_\star, x_n)$. This implies $y_n \in H(x_n)$ (see (17)), and since $H(x_n)$ and $H(y_n)$ are convex it follows that $\overline{\mathbb{D}}(x_n) \cap \overline{\mathbb{D}}(y_n) \neq \emptyset$. Choose any sequence of points $z_n \in \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ in this intersection. It follows from Step 3 that $z_{\omega} = x_{\omega} = y_{\omega}$, which concludes the proof of the theorem. \Box

Proof of Lemma 5.7. Write $x_n = M_n(x_\star)$ with $M_n(z) = a_n z + b_n$. By (16), we have

(23)
$$\cosh d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) = \cosh d_{\mathbb{H}}(M_n(x_\star), x_\star) = 1 + \frac{|b_n|^2 + (|a_n| - 1)^2}{2|a_n|}$$

Observe that x_{ω} is the image of the Gauss point under the affine map $a_{\omega}z + b_{\omega}$ so that $d_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}(x_{\omega}, x_g) = 2\log \max\{|a_{\omega}|, |b_{\omega}|, 1\} - \log |a_{\omega}|.$

If $\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_{\star}) < \infty$, then $a_n^{\pm 1}$ and b_n are ω -bounded, and $|a_{\omega}| = 1$ and $|b_{\omega}| \leq 1$ which implies $d_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}(x_{\omega}, x_g) = 0$. The result follows since we have $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_{\star}) = 0$.

Suppose $\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_{\star}) = \infty$. Then

$$L = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) = \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n \log\left(\frac{|b_n|^2 + (|a_n| - 1)^2}{|a_n|} + 2\right)$$
$$= \lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n \log\left(\frac{|b_n|^2 + |a_n|^2 + 1}{|a_n|}\right).$$

Observe that

$$\epsilon_n \log \max\{|b_n|^2, |a_n|^2, 1\} \le \epsilon_n \log(|b_n|^2 + |a_n|^2 + 1)$$

$$\le \epsilon_n \log \max\{3|b_n|^2, 3|a_n|^2, 3\}.$$

Hence $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n \log(|b_n|^2 + |a_n|^2 + 1) = 2\log \max\{1, |a_{\omega}|, |b_{\omega}|\}$. It follows that $L = d_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}(x_{\omega}, x_g)$.

Pick another sequence $y_n \in \mathbb{H}^3$ such that $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, y_n) = 0$. Write $y_n = M'_n(x_g)$, with $M'_n(z) = a'_n z + b'_n$. Since Möbius transformations are isometries for $d_{\mathbb{H}}$, we have $\lim_{\omega} \epsilon_n d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_\star, M_n^{-1}(y_n)) = 0$. By what precedes, we get $x_g = M_{\omega}^{-1} y_{\omega}$. Since we proved $x_{\omega} = M_{\omega}(x_g)$, we have $y_{\omega} = x_{\omega}$. \Box

5.3. Convergence of equilibrium measures on the hybrid space. Note that every quasi-model function is integrable with respect to the equilibrium measure $\mu_{f_{\omega}}$ of f_{ω} , since the potentials are continuous, see, e.g., [31, Lemmes 2.3 et 4.2]).

Theorem 5.8. Pick $\epsilon \in (0,1]^{\mathbb{N}}$, and let $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(A^{\epsilon})$ for some $d \geq 2$. For each $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N} \simeq \mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon})$, denote by $\mu_{f_{\omega}}$ the equilibrum measure of f_{ω} .

Then $(\mu_{f_{\omega}})_{\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}}$ defines a continuous family of positive measures on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$. Moreover, for any quasi-model function $\varphi \colon \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}} \to [-\infty,\infty),$

(24)
$$I_{\varphi}(\omega) = \int_{\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}} \varphi d\mu_{f_{\omega}}$$

is finite for any $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$, and the function $\omega \mapsto I_{\varphi}(\omega)$ is continuous.

Recall the definition of the pushforward of a continuous function from (14). The rest of this section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 5.8.

Proof of Theorem 5.8. Since model functions are dense in the space of continuous functions, (24) implies the family of measures $\mu_{f_{\omega}}$ to be continuous.

Let us prove (24). By Theorem 3.6, the function $I_{\varphi} \colon \beta \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous if and only if $\lim_{\omega} I_{\varphi}(n) = I_{\varphi}(\omega)$ for any non-principal ultra-filter ω . For any integers n and m, write

$$\left|\int \varphi d\mu_{f_n} - \int \varphi d\mu_{f_\omega}\right| \le I_1 + I_2 + I_3$$

where

$$I_{1} = \left| \int \varphi \left(\mu_{f_{n}} - \frac{1}{d^{m}} f_{n}^{m*} \mu_{\text{can}}^{n} \right) \right|$$
$$I_{2} = \left| \int \varphi \left(\frac{1}{d^{m}} f_{n}^{m*} \mu_{\text{can}}^{n} - \frac{1}{d^{m}} f_{\omega}^{m*} \mu_{\text{can}}^{\omega} \right) \right|$$
$$I_{3} = \left| \int \varphi \left(\mu_{f_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{d^{m}} f_{\omega}^{m*} \mu_{\text{can}}^{\omega} \right) \right|$$

Here μ_{can}^n (resp. μ_{can}^ω) denotes the canonical measure μ_{can} on $\pi^{-1}(n)$ (resp. $\pi^{-1}(\omega)$). Pick $\eta > 0$. Write f = [P:Q] with $\text{Res}(P,Q) \in (A^{\epsilon})^{\times}$, so that the function

$$g_{f,0}(z) = \frac{1}{d} \log \frac{\max\{|P|, |Q|\}}{\max\{|z_0|, |z_1|\}^d}$$

is continuous on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$.

Observe that $\mu_{f_n} - d^{-m} f_n^{m*} \mu_{can}^n = \Delta g_{n,m}$ with $g_{n,m} = \sum_{k \ge m} d^{-k} g_{f,0} \circ f_n^k$. Choose *m* large enough such that $\sup |g_{n,m}| \le \eta$ for all *n*. It follows that

$$I_1 = \left| \int \varphi \Delta g_{n,m} \right| = \left| \int g_{n,m} \Delta \varphi \right| \le \eta \times \operatorname{Mass}(\Delta \varphi|_{\pi^{-1}(n)}) \le C\eta ,$$

for some C > 0 by Lemma 4.6. The same argument gives $I_3 \leq C\eta$ as well.

It remains to check that $I_2 \to 0$ as n tends to ∞ along ω . Suppose first that φ is a model function. Then it is continuous, hence $f^m_*\varphi$ is also continuous on $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$ by Proposition 4.13. Since $\mu^n_{\operatorname{can}} \to \mu^{\omega}_{\operatorname{can}}$ by Corollary 5.4, we conclude that $\lim_{\omega} I_2 = 0$. This proves (24) in the case φ is a model function. In particular, we have $\lim_{\omega} f^{m*}\mu^n_{\operatorname{can}} = f^{m*}\mu^{\omega}_{\operatorname{can}}$.

We next treat the case $\varphi = \psi_P$ is a quasi-model function associated with a single section $P \in H^0(\mathbb{P}^1_{A^{\epsilon}}, \mathcal{O}(l))$. By Proposition 4.16, we are reduced to the case m = 0. We assume that $P[1: 0] \neq 0$, and work in the affine chart [z: 1]. Jensen's formula (over \mathbb{C}) yields

$$\int_{\pi^{-1}(n)} \psi_P d\mu_{\operatorname{can}} = \epsilon_n \int_{\mathbb{C}} \log |P_n(z,1)| d\mu_{\operatorname{can}} = \epsilon_n (\log |a_n| + \sum \log^+ |z_{i,n}|)$$

where $P_n(z, 1) = a_n \prod (z - z_{i,n})$. The result follows since Jensen's formula is also valid over $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$.

We now suppose $\varphi = \max \psi_{P_i}$ is an arbitrary quasi-model function, where $P_i \in A^{\epsilon}[z_0, z_1]$ are homogeneous polynomials of degree l. First observe that for any large A > 0, the function $\max\{\varphi, -A\}$ is continuous hence

$$\lim_{\omega} \int \max\{\varphi, -A\} f^{m*} \mu_{\operatorname{can}}^n = \int \max\{\varphi, -A\} f^{m*} \mu_{\operatorname{can}}^\omega ,$$

and the monotone convergence theorem implies

(25)
$$\lim_{\omega} \int \varphi f^{m*} \mu_{\operatorname{can}}^{n} \leq \int \varphi f^{m*} \mu_{\operatorname{can}}^{\omega}$$

To prove the converse inequality, we fix $\delta > 0$. Let $w_1, \dots, w_k \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathscr{H}(\omega))$ be the base points of σ , i.e., the common zeroes of $P_{i,\omega}$. Write $P_{i,\omega} = Q_{\omega}\hat{P}_{i,\omega}$ such that $\hat{P}_{i,\omega}$ have no common factors, and $Q_{\omega}^{-1}(0) = \{w_1, \dots, w_k\}$. It follows from Proposition 3.11, that we have a decomposition $P_{i,n} = Q_{i,n}\hat{P}_{i,n}$ where $(Q_{i,n})$ (resp. $(\hat{P}_{i,n})$) represents Q_{ω} (resp. $P_{i,\omega}$) for all i.

Choose any finite open cover U_1, \dots, U_p of $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$ satisfying the following properties for each $i \in \{1, \dots, k\}$:

- (1) U_i contains no zeroes of $\hat{P}_{j,n}$ for all j and all n;
- (2) $U_i \cap Q_{\omega}^{-1}(0) = \{w_i\};$
- (3) there exists j(i) such that $|\hat{P}_{j(i)}| \ge (1-\delta) \max_i |\hat{P}_i|$ on U_i .

Pick any partition of unity associated with this cover, i.e., continuous functions $\rho_j \colon \mathbb{P}_{A^{\epsilon}}^{1,an} \to [0,1]$ supported in U_j and such that $\sum_j \rho_j = +1$. We further assume that $\rho_j = 1$ in a neighborhood of w_j for all j.

Observe that the upper bound (25) is still valid for the function $\rho_j \psi_{P_i}$ for any *i* and *j*. It follows from the previous step that

$$\int \psi_{P_i} f^{m*} \mu_{can}^{\omega} \ge \sum_{j=1}^{p} \lim_{\omega} \int \rho_j \psi_{P_i} f^{m*} \mu_{can}^n$$
$$= \lim_{\omega} \int \psi_{P_i} f^{m*} \mu_{can}^n = \int \psi_{P_i} f^{m*} \mu_{can}^{\omega}$$

so that $\lim_{\omega} \int \rho_j \psi_{P_i} f^{m*} \mu_{can}^n = \int \rho_j \psi_{P_i} f^{m*} \mu_{can}^\omega$ for all i, j.

Now fix any $j \in \{1, \dots, k\}$. From Property (3) of the open cover, we have

$$\lim_{\omega} \int \rho_{j} \varphi f^{m*} \mu_{\operatorname{can}}^{n} \geq \lim_{\omega} \int \rho_{j} \psi_{P_{i(j)}} f^{m*} \mu_{\operatorname{can}}^{n}$$
$$= \int \rho_{j} \psi_{P_{i(j)}} f^{m*} \mu_{\operatorname{can}}^{\omega} \geq \int \rho_{j} \varphi f^{m*} \mu_{\operatorname{can}}^{\omega} + \log(1-\delta)$$

Letting $\delta \to 0$, we get $\lim_{\omega} \int \rho_j \varphi f^{m*} \mu_{can}^n \ge \int \rho_j \varphi f^{m*} \mu_{can}^\omega$.

Now, the function $\varphi(1 - \sum_{j=1}^k \rho_j)$ is continuous in $\pi^{-1}(E)$ for some ω -big set E, and we have $\lim_{\omega} f^{m*} \mu_{can}^n = f^{m*} \mu_{can}^{\omega}$, hence

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\omega} \int \varphi f^{m*} \mu_{\mathrm{can}}^n &= \lim_{\omega} \int \varphi (1 - \sum_{j=1}^k \rho_j) f^{m*} \mu_{\mathrm{can}}^n + \lim_{\omega} \sum_{j=1}^k \int \rho_j \varphi f^{m*} \mu_{\mathrm{can}}^\omega \\ &\geq \int \varphi f^{m*} \mu_{\mathrm{can}}^\omega \end{split}$$

which concludes the proof.

5.4. Convergence of Lyapunov exponents. Let $(k, |\cdot|)$ be an algebraically closed complete metric field of characteristic 0. Recall from §1.2.3 that we defined the projective distance $d_{\mathbb{P}^1(k)}$ on $\mathbb{P}^1(k)$.

For any rational map $f = [P: Q] \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(k)$, and any $z \in \mathbb{P}^1(k)$ define

$$|df|(z) = \lim_{w \to z} \frac{d_{\mathbb{P}^1(k)}(f(w), f(z))}{d(w, z)}$$

A direct computation shows

$$|df|[z_0:z_1] = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{d} \left| \frac{\partial P}{\partial z_0} \frac{\partial Q}{\partial z_1} - \frac{\partial P}{\partial z_1} \frac{\partial Q}{\partial z_0} \right| \frac{\max\{|z_0|^{2/e} + |z_1|^{2/e}\}^e}{\max\{|P|^{2/e} + |Q|^{2/e}\}^e}, & \text{if } k = \mathbb{C}_e; \\ \frac{1}{d} \left| \frac{\partial P}{\partial z_0} \frac{\partial Q}{\partial z_1} - \frac{\partial P}{\partial z_1} \frac{\partial Q}{\partial z_0} \right| \frac{\max\{|z_0|^2, |z_1|^2\}}{\max\{|P|^2, |Q|^2\}}, & \text{if } k \text{ is non-Archimedean,} \end{cases}$$

which proves that |df| extends continuously function to $\mathbb{P}_k^{1,an}$. Observe that |df(z)| = 0 if and only if $z \in \mathbb{P}^1(k)$ is a critical point in the sense that $\deg_z(f) \geq 2$. By the Riemann-Hurwitz formula, there are exactly 2d - 2 such points (counted with multiplicity). Finally, $\log |df|$ is the difference of a quasi-model function and a model function in the terminology of §4.2.

Recall the definition of the equilibrium measure μ_f from §2.3. Since this measure integrates any quasi-model functions by §5.3, we can define the Lyapunov component of f as follows:

$$\chi_f = \int \log |df| d\mu_f \; ,$$

and Theorem 5.8 immediately implies

Corollary 5.9. For any $\epsilon \in (0,1]^{\mathbb{N}}$, and for any rational map $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(A^{\epsilon})$ the function $\omega \mapsto \chi_{f_{\omega}}$ is continuous on $\mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon}) \simeq \beta \mathbb{N}$.

Remark 5.10. The proof of Theorem 0.1 (3) is now complete: the continuity of equilibrium measures follows from Theorem 5.8, and the continuity of the Lyapunov exponents from the previous corollary.

6. Luo's Approach to degeneration

In this section, we compare the sequential hybridation of §3.3 with the degeneration constructed by Luo in [52], and prove in particular Theorem 0.3 from the introduction.

6.1. The asymptotic cone. We recall the construction of the asymptotic cone in the context of the hyperbolic 3-space, see, e.g., [43, §9] for a general reference on this construction. Recall from §5.1 that we let $x_{\star} = (0, 1) \in \mathbb{H}^3$.

Let $r_n \in \mathbb{R}^*_+$ be a sequence of positive real numbers such that $r_n \to \infty$ and let $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N} \setminus \mathbb{N}$ be a non-principal ultrafilter.

Let $X(\omega) \subset (\mathbb{H}^3)^{\mathbb{N}}$ be the subset of all sequences x in \mathbb{H}^3 such that

$$\lim_{\omega} \frac{1}{r_n} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_\star, x_n) < \infty$$

The asymptotic cone \mathbb{H}^3_{ω} of the sequence of pointed metric spaces

$$(\mathbb{H}^3, x_\star, r_n^{-1}d_\mathbb{H})$$

is by definition the quotient of $X(\omega)$ by the equivalence relation $(x_n) \sim (y_n)$ if and only if $\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, y_n) = 0$.

We endow \mathbb{H}^3_{ω} with the distance

$$d([x_n], [y_n]) = \lim_{\omega} \frac{1}{r_n} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, y_n) +$$

for which it is complete. Also since \mathbb{H}^3 is log 2-hyperbolic in the sense of Gromov, the metric space $(\mathbb{H}^3, r_n^{-1}d_{\mathbb{H}})$ is $\log 2/r_n$ -hyperbolic, therefore \mathbb{H}^3_{ω} is 0-hyperbolic. In other words, \mathbb{H}^3_{ω} is a complete metric \mathbb{R} -tree.

Set $\epsilon_n = \frac{1}{r_n}$. Recall that $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is the residue field of ω viewed as a point in $\mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon}) \simeq \beta \mathbb{N}$.

Choose any sequence of points $x_n \in X(\omega)$. By Theorem 5.2 (2a) and (2b), the sequence of conformal measures $(s_{\epsilon_n})_*\mu(x_n)$ converges to a Dirac mass at a Type-2 point $\psi(x) \in \mathbb{H}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}$.

Moreover, if $y \in X(\omega)$ is another sequence, then $\psi(y) = \psi(x)$ by Theorem 5.2 (3) so that we have a well-defined map $\psi \colon \mathbb{H}^3_{\omega} \to \mathbb{H}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}$.

Theorem 6.1. The map $\psi \colon \mathbb{H}^3_{\omega} \to \mathbb{H}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}$ is a bijective isometry.

Proof. The fact that ψ is an isometry follows from Lemma 5.7. Pick $x \in \mathbb{H}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}$. By [3, Remark 7.11], the group $\mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathscr{H}(\omega))$ acts transitively on Type-2 points. By Proposition 3.9, $\mathscr{H}(\omega)$ is spherically complete, and its value group is \mathbb{R}_+ hence x is a Type-2 point. It follows that we can find a Möbius transformation $M_{\omega} \in \mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathscr{H}(\omega))$ such that $x = M_{\omega}(x_g)$. Recall from the discussion in §3.2.2 that $\mathscr{H}(\omega) = A^{\epsilon}/\ker(\omega)$, hence we may suppose that M_{ω} is determined by some $M \in \mathrm{PGL}_2(A^{\epsilon})$. By Step 1 of Theorem 5.2, $\psi(p_{\star}) = \delta_{x_g}$, where $p_{\star} = (x_{\star}) \in (\mathbb{H}^3)^{\mathbb{N}}$. Since M is defined over A^{ϵ} , the sequence $y_n := M_n(x_{\star})$ belongs to $X(\omega) \subset (H^3)^{\mathbb{N}}$.

Now observe that M induces a homeomorphism $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}} \to \mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}}$ commuting with the canonical morphism $\mathbb{P}^{1,an}_{A^{\epsilon}} \to \mathcal{M}(A^{\epsilon})$. It follows that

$$\lim_{\omega} \mu(y_n) = \lim_{\omega} \mu(M_n(x_\star)) = \lim_{\omega} M_{n\star}\mu(x_\star) = (M_\omega)_{\star}\delta_{x_g} = \delta_{x_s}$$

so that $\psi(y_n) = x$. This proves ψ is surjective.

6.2. Barycentric extension of a rational map. Luo's work is based on the notion of barycenter of a probability measure μ on $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$ which is a point in \mathbb{H}^3 . We follow the approach of [62] for its definition which uses the unit ball model $\mathbb{B}^3 = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \mid |x| < 1\}$ of the hyperbolic space where $|\cdot|$ is the standard Euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^3 . Recall that the Riemannian metric $d_{\mathbb{B}}$ is induced by $ds^2 = \frac{dx^2}{(1-|x|^2)^2}$. The map $\bar{\phi}$ defined by $\infty \mapsto (0,1)$, and

$$(z,h) \longrightarrow \left(\frac{2z}{|z|^2 + (h+1)^2}, \frac{|z|^2 + h^2 - 1}{|z|^2 + (h+1)^2}\right) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R} = \mathbb{R}^3$$

is homeomorphism from $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^3$ onto $\overline{\mathbb{B}}^3$ which restrict to an isometry $(\mathbb{H}^3, d_{\mathbb{H}}) \to (\mathbb{B}^3, d_{\mathbb{B}})$ and a biholomorphism $\hat{\mathbb{C}} \to S^2$ where S^2 is endowed with the unique structure of Riemann surface for which ds^2 is conformal.

For each $w \in \mathbb{B}^3$, define

$$g_w(x) = \frac{x(1 - |w|^2) + w(1 + |x|^2 + 2\langle w, x \rangle)}{1 + |w|^2 |x|^2 + 2\langle w, x \rangle}$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the standard scalar product. Then g_w is an isometry of $(\mathbb{B}^3, d_{\mathbb{B}})$.

Let μ be any probability measure on S^2 having no atoms. Introduce the vector field on \mathbb{B}^3 :

$$V_{\mu}(w) = \frac{1 - |w|^2}{2} \int_{S^2} g_{-w}(x) d\mu(x).$$

According to [62, Proposition 1 and 2], $V_{\mu}(w)$ has a unique zero, and this point is called the barycenter of μ . One can transport this definition using $\bar{\phi}$. Any probability measure μ on $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$ having no atoms thus admits a barycenter $B(\mu) \in \mathbb{H}^3$ which is the image by $\bar{\phi}^{-1}$ of the unique zero of $\bar{\phi}_*\mu$. For any isometry M of $(\mathbb{B}^3, d_{\mathbb{B}})$, we have $V_{M*\mu}(M(w)) = D_w M(V_{\mu}(w))$, so that $B(M_*\mu) = M(B(\mu))$ for all $M \in \mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$.

It is not difficult to see that the map $\mu \mapsto B(\mu)$ is continuous in the weak-* topology of measures since V_{μ} depends continuously on μ .

Recall from §5.1 that we can attach to any point $x \in \mathbb{H}^3$ a unique probability measure $\mu(x)$ associated with a Riemannian metric of constant curvature and invariant by the (compact) subgroup G of $\mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ fixing the point x. The *barycentric extension* of $f \in \mathrm{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ is then defined as follows:

$$\mathcal{E}(f)(x) = \begin{cases} f(x) & \text{if } x \in \hat{\mathbb{C}} \\ B(f_*\mu(x)) & \text{if } x \in \mathbb{H}^3. \end{cases}$$

The next theorem is a combination of [62] and [51, Theorem 1.1, Proposition 5.7].

Theorem 6.2. For any $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ and for any $M_1, M_2 \in \operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ we have

(26)
$$\mathcal{E}(M_1 \circ f \circ M_2) = M_1 \circ \mathcal{E}(f) \circ M_2.$$

Moreover, the barycentric extension $\mathcal{E}(f)$ is proper, surjective and continuous on $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^3$. It is real analytic and Lipschitz on $(\mathbb{H}^3, d_{\mathbb{H}})$, with Lipschitz bounded by $C \deg(f)$ where C is a universal constant.

6.3. Asymptotic cone and Luo's degeneration map. For any $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$, we set

$$\mathbf{r}_{\mathrm{L}}(f) = \sup_{\mathcal{E}(f)(x)=0} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x,0) \in \mathbb{R}_+ \ .$$

It follows from [51, Proposition 8.1] that r_L : $\operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is proper (i.e., $r_L(f_n) \to \infty$ as $f_n \to \infty$ in $\operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$). It is not known whether r_L is continuous (see [51, §8.6]). Write $C'_d = e \sup_{\operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})} |\operatorname{Res}|$. Using Luo's degeneration techniques, we shall prove that

Theorem 6.3. There exists a constant C > 1 such that

(27)
$$\frac{1}{C} \le \frac{1 + \mathbf{r}_{\mathrm{L}}(f)}{-\log\left(|\operatorname{Res}(f)|/C'_{d}\right)} \le C$$

for all $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$.

For any $f \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$, we set

$$\mathfrak{r}_{\mathcal{L}}([f]) = \inf_{M \in \mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})} \mathrm{r}_{\mathcal{L}}(M \cdot f) = \inf_{x \in \mathbb{H}^3} \sup_{\mathcal{E}(f)(y) = x} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x, y) \ .$$

This defines a function $\mathfrak{r}_L \colon \operatorname{rat}_d(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ which is proper, and the previous result implies Theorem 0.3 from the introduction.

Proof of Theorem 6.3. It is sufficient to prove that for any sequence $f_n \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ and for any non principal ultra-filter $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$ there exists a constant C > 1 such that

(28)
$$\frac{1}{C} \le \frac{1 + \mathbf{r}_{\mathrm{L}}(f_n)}{-\log(|\operatorname{Res}(f_n)|/C_d)} \le C$$

for all integer n lying in an ω -big set.

Indeed suppose (27) is not true. Then we can find a sequence $f_n \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$ such that the quantity $1 + \operatorname{r}_{L}(f_n) / -\log(|\operatorname{Res}(f_n)|/C_d)$ either tends to 0 or to ∞ which contradicts (28).

So pick any degenerating sequence $f_n \in \operatorname{Rat}_d(\mathbb{C})$. We consider the ultraproduct of \mathbb{H}^3 as defined in §6.1 using the sequence $\operatorname{r_L}(f_n) \to \infty$. Pick any sequence of points $(x_n) \in X(\omega) \subset (\mathbb{H}^3)^{\mathbb{N}}$ such that $d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_\star) \leq M \operatorname{r_L}(f_n)$ for some $M < \infty$. By Theorem 6.2, there exists C > 0 such that for all n

$$d_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{E}(f_n)(x_n), \mathcal{E}(f_n)(x_{\star})) \le C d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, x_{\star}) \le C M \operatorname{r_L}(f_n)$$

and the sequence $(\mathcal{E}(f_n)(x_n))$ also belongs to $X(\omega)$. The uniform Lipschitz property on $(\mathbb{H}^3, d_{\mathbb{H}})$ also implies that if $\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{H}}(x_n, y_n) / r_{\mathrm{L}}(f_n) = 0$ for some sequence $(y_n) \in (\mathbb{H}^3)^{\mathbb{N}}$, then

$$\lim_{\mathbf{U}} d_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{E}(f_n)(x_n), \mathcal{E}(f_n)(y_n)) / \operatorname{r_L}(f_n) = 0$$

so that we get a natural map $F \colon \mathbb{H}^3_{\omega} \to \mathbb{H}^3_{\omega}$ defined by $F(x_n) = (\mathcal{E}(f_n)(x_n))$. Set $\epsilon_n = \mathrm{r}_{\mathrm{L}}(f_n)^{-1}$, and consider the Banach ring A^{ϵ} . For a given $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N}$,

 $\begin{aligned} \mathscr{H}(\omega) \text{ is the quotient of } A^{\epsilon} \text{ by } \ker(\omega) &= \{(z_n) \in \mathbb{C} \mid \lim_{\omega} |z_n|^{\epsilon_n} = 0\}. \\ \text{For each } n, \text{ pick any normalized representation } f_n &= [P_n : Q_n]. \text{ Write } \\ P_n(z_0, z_1) &= \sum_{0}^{d} a_{k,n} z_0^k z_1^{d-k} \text{ and } Q_n(z_0, z_1) = \sum_{0}^{d} b_{k,n} z_0^k z_1^{d-k}. \text{ Consider the } \\ \text{rational map } f_{\omega} \colon \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)} \to \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)} \text{ so that in homogeneous coordinates we } \\ \text{have } f_{\omega} &= [P_{\omega} : Q_{\omega}] \text{ with } P_{\omega}(z_0, z_1) = \sum_{0}^{d} a_{k,\omega} z_0^k z_1^{d-k}, \text{ and } Q_n(z_0, z_1) = \\ \sum_{0}^{d} b_{k,\omega} z_0^k z_1^{d-k}, \text{ where } a_{k,\omega} = (a_{k,n}) \text{ and } b_{k,\omega} = (b_{k,n}) \in \mathscr{H}(\omega). \text{ Note that } \\ \text{deg}(f_{\omega}) \in \{0, \cdots, d\}. \end{aligned}$

A key result is the following lemma, see [52, 7.3].

Lemma 6.4. The following diagram is commutative:

(29)
$$\begin{aligned} \mathbb{H}^{3}_{\omega} & \xrightarrow{\psi} & \mathbb{H}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)} \\ & \downarrow^{F} & \downarrow^{f_{\omega}} \\ & \mathbb{H}^{3}_{\omega} & \xrightarrow{\psi} & \mathbb{H}_{\mathscr{H}(\omega)}. \end{aligned}$$

By [51, Lemma 8.8], one can find a point $y \in \mathbb{H}_{\omega}$ which admits exactly d preimages by F (in fact it follows from Theorem 1.2 in op.cit that F is a covering map of degree d on the real tree \mathbb{H}^3_{ω}). From Lemma 6.4, we infer that f_{ω} has degree at least d which implies $\deg(f_{\omega}) = d$. As a consequence P_{ω} and Q_{ω} have no common factor hence

$$\lim_{\omega} |\operatorname{Res}(P_n, Q_n)|^{1/r_n} = |\operatorname{Res}(P_{\omega}, Q_{\omega})| > 0 ,$$

and we conclude that $-\log |\operatorname{Res}(P_n, Q_n)|/\operatorname{r_L}(f_n)$ is bounded from above and from below for all n in an ω -big set, proving (28).

Proof of Lemma 6.4. The proof is due to Luo and uses various results scattered in two papers [51, 52]. We include a streamlined version of his arguments for convenience of the reader. Observe first that the diagram is commutative when f_n is a sequence of Möbius transformations since an element of PGL₂(\mathbb{C}) preserves the space of conformal metrics of constant curvature.

Denote by p_* the point in \mathbb{H}^3_{ω} defined by $(x_*) \in (\mathbb{H}^3)^{\mathbb{N}}$. Suppose we know that $F(p_*) = p_*$ if $f_{\omega}(x_g) = x_g$. Then, pick any sequence $x = (x_n) \in X(\omega) \subset$ \mathbb{H}^3 and choose a sequence $y = (y_n) \in X(\omega)$ such that $f_{\omega}(\psi(x)) = \psi(y)$. We want to show that F(x) = y.

Choose sequences $M_n, L_n \in \operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ such that $M_n(x_\star) = x_n$ and $L_n(y_n) = x_\star$ for all n. Then, $\psi(x) = M_\omega(x_g)$ and $\psi(y) = L_\omega(x_g)$. We obtain $L_\omega^{-1} \circ f_\omega \circ M_\omega(x_g) = x_g$, hence $G(x_\star) = x_\star$ where G is obtained as the limit of $\mathcal{E}(L_n^{-1} \circ f_n \circ M_n) = L_n^{-1} \circ \mathcal{E}(f_n) \circ M_n$. Therefore, F(x) = y, implying that $f_\omega \circ \psi = \psi \circ F$.

So, suppose that $f_{\omega}(x_q) = x_q$. We will apply the following lemma.

Lemma 6.5. There exists a sequence $M_n \in \text{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ such that the transformation $M_\omega \in \text{PGL}_2(\mathscr{H}(\omega))$ fixes x_g and $\deg(g_\infty) \geq 1$ where $g_n = M_n \circ f_n$ and g_∞ is obtained by taking the ω -limit of g_n in $\overline{\text{Rat}}_d(\mathbb{C})$.

As observed by Luo [51, §5], it follows from the proof of [18, Lemma 4.5 and 4.6] that deg $(g_{\infty}) \geq 1$ if and only if $\lim_{\omega} g_{n*}\mu_{FS}$ is a smooth measure. Since deg $(g_{\infty}) \geq 1$, the sequence of measures $g_{n*}\mu_{FS}$ converges to a smooth measure on $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$ hence $\mathcal{E}(g_n)(x_*) = B(g_{n*}\mu_{FS})$ converges to some point $y \in \mathbb{H}^3$. Since $r_L(f_n) \to \infty$, it follows that $\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{E}(g_n)(x_*), x_*)/r_L(f_n) = 0$ so that $G(p_*) = p_*$. But since $M_{\omega}(x_g) = x_g$ we have $\lim_{\omega} d_{\mathbb{H}}(M_n(x_*), x_*)/r_L(f_n) = 0$ and

$$\lim_{\omega} \frac{1}{\mathrm{r}_{\mathrm{L}}(f_n)} d_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{E}(f_n)(x_{\star}), x_{\star}) \leq \lim_{\omega} \frac{1}{\mathrm{r}_{\mathrm{L}}(f_n)} d_{\mathbb{H}}(M_n^{-1} \circ \mathcal{E}(g_n)(x_{\star}), M_n^{-1}(x_{\star})) + \lim_{\omega} \frac{1}{\mathrm{r}_{\mathrm{L}}(f_n)} d_{\mathbb{H}}(M_n^{-1}(x_{\star}), x_{\star}) = 0$$

as required.

Proof of Lemma 6.5. It remains to prove the claim. We may suppose that $f_{\infty} = [1:0]$. Let $I \subset \{0, \dots, d\}$ be the set of indices k such that $\lim_{\omega} a_{k,n} \neq 0$. Then $P_n = P_n^+ + p_n$ where $P_n^+ = \sum_I a_{k,n} z_0^k z_1^{d-k}$ and p_n is a sequence of polynomials converging along ω to 0. By assumption, Q_n is also converging along ω to 0. Set $c_n = \max_k |b_{k,n}|$ and let J be the set of indices j such that $\lim_{\omega} b_{k,n}/c_n \neq 0$. Observe that $\lim_{\omega} c_n = 0$ but $|c_{\omega}| = 1$ (i.e., that

that $\lim_{\omega} c_n^{1/r_L(f_n)} > 0$ since $f_{\omega} = [P_{\omega}: Q_{\omega}]$ fixes the Gauss point. Set $L_n[z_0: z_1] = [z_0: c_n^{-1}z_1]$. Then $L_{\omega}(x_g) = x_g$ and $g_n = L_n \circ f_n = [P_n^+ + p_n: Q_n^+ + q_n]$ where $Q_n^+ = \sum_J \frac{b_{k,n}}{c_n} z_0^h z_1^{h-h}$ and q_n is converging to 0 along ω . If Q_{∞}^+ is not proportional to P_{∞}^+ , then we are done. Otherwise, we have I = J, and we set $t_n = a_{k_0,n}/b_{k_0,n}$ for some fixed $k_0 \in I$, and $T_n[z_0: z_1] = [z_0: z_1 - t_n z_0]$. Since $\lim_{\omega} t_n \neq 0$, we have $T_{\omega}(x_g) = x_g$ and $T_{\omega} = [P_n^+ + p_n: Q_n^+ + p_n]$. $T_n \circ g_n = [P_n^+ + p_n : (Q_n^+ - t_n P_n^+) + (q_n - t_n p_n)].$

The polynomial

$$R_n = (Q_n^+ - t_n P_n^+) + (q_n - t_n p_n) = \sum_k \gamma_{k,n} z_0^k z_1^{d-k}$$

tends to 0 along ω , and the key observation is that its coefficient $\gamma_{k_0,n}$ in the monomial $z_0^{k_0} z_1^{d-k_0}$ is 0 for all *n*. We repeat the process as above. Set $d_n = \max_k |\gamma_{k,n}|$. Since f_{ω} has degree d, we again have $d_n \to 0$ and $|d_{\omega}| = 1$. Introduce $D_n[z_0: z_1] = [z_0: d_n^{-1} z_1]$, and let $K = \{k \in \{0, \dots, d\} \mid$ $\lim_{\omega} \gamma_{k,n}/d_n \neq 0$. Then D_{ω} fixes x_g , and we can write $d_n^{-1}R_n = R_n^+ + r_n$ where all coefficients of r_n tend to 0 along ω , and $R_n^+ = \sum_{k \in K} \frac{\gamma_{k,n}}{d_n} z_0^k z_1^{d-k}$. Since

$$h_n = D_n \circ T_n \circ L_n \circ f_n = [P_n^+ + p_n \colon R_n^+ + r_n],$$

we have $h_{\infty} = [P_{\infty}^+; R_{\infty}^+]$ which is a non-constant map since $k_0 \notin K$ so that P_{∞}^+ and R_{∞}^+ cannot be proportional.

References

- [1] Matthew Baker and Robert Rumely. Potential theory and dynamics on the Berkovich projective line, volume 159 of Math. Surv. Monogr. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society (AMS), 2010.
- [2] Alan F. Beardon. The geometry of discrete groups, volume 91 of Grad. Texts Math. Springer, Cham, 1983.
- [3] Robert L. Benedetto. Dynamics in one non-Archimedean variable, volume 198 of Grad. Stud. Math. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society (AMS), 2019.
- [4] Vladimir G. Berkovich. Spectral theory and analytic geometry over non-Archimedean fields, volume 33 of Math. Surv. Monogr. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society, 1990.
- [5] Vladimir G. Berkovich. A non-archimedean interpretation of the weight zero subspaces of limit mixed Hodge structures. In Algebra, arithmetic, and geometry. In honor of Yu. I. Manin on the occasion of his 70th birthday. Vol. I, pages 49-67. Boston, MA: Birkhäuser, 2009.
- [6] François Berteloot. Bifurcation currents in holomorphic families of rational maps. In Pluripotential theory. Lectures of the CIME course, Cetraro, Italy, 2011, pages 1–93. Berlin: Springer; Florence: Fondazione CIME, 2013.
- [7] Siegfried Bosch, Ulrich Güntzer, and Reinhold Remmert. Non-Archimedean analysis. A systematic approach to rigid analytic geometry, volume 261 of Grundlehren Math. Wiss. Springer, Cham, 1984.
- [8] Sébastien Boucksom, Charles Favre, and Mattias Jonsson. Solution to a non-Archimedean Monge-Ampère equation. J. Am. Math. Soc., 28(3):617-667, 2015.

- [9] Sébastien Boucksom, Charles Favre, and Mattias Jonsson. Singular semipositive metrics in non-Archimedean geometry. J. Algebr. Geom., 25(1):77–139, 2016.
- [10] Sébastien Boucksom, Walter Gubler, and Florent Martin. Differentiability of relative volumes over an arbitrary non-Archimedean field. Int. Math. Res. Not., 2022(8):6214– 6242, 2022.
- [11] Sébastien Boucksom and Mattias Jonsson. Tropical and non-Archimedean limits of degenerating families of volume forms. J. Éc. Polytech., Math., 4:87–139, 2017.
- [12] Antoine Chambert-Loir and Antoine Ducros. Formes différentielles réelles et courants sur les espaces de Berkovich, 2012. arXiv:1204.6277.
- [13] W. Wistar Comfort and Stelios Negrepontis. The theory of ultrafilters, volume 211 of Grundlehren Math. Wiss. Springer, Cham, 1974.
- [14] Nguyen-Bac Dang and Vlerë Mehmeti. Variation of the Hausdorff dimension and degenerations of Schottky groups, 2024. arXiv:2401.06107.
- [15] Laura De Marco and Xander Faber. Degenerations of complex dynamical systems. Forum Math. Sigma, 2:36, 2014. Id/No e6.
- [16] Jean-Pierre Demailly. Complex analytic and differential geometry. Université de Grenoble I Grenoble, 1997.
- [17] Jean-Pierre Demailly. On the Ohsawa-Takegoshi-Manivel L² extension theorem. In Complex analysis and geometry. Proceedings of the international conference in honor of Pierre Lelong on the occasion of his 85th birthday, Paris, France, September 22–26, 1997, pages 47–82. Basel: Birkhäuser, 2000.
- [18] Laura DeMarco. Iteration at the boundary of the space of rational maps. Duke Math. J., 130(1):169–197, 2005.
- [19] Laura DeMarco. The moduli space of quadratic rational maps. J. Am. Math. Soc., 20(2):321–355, 2007.
- [20] Laura DeMarco and Xander Faber. Degenerations of complex dynamical systems. II: Analytic and algebraic stability. Math. Ann., 365(3-4):1669–1699, 2016.
- [21] Laura DeMarco, Holly Krieger, and Hexi Ye. Uniform Manin-Mumford for a family of genus 2 curves. Ann. Math. (2), 191(3):949–1001, 2020.
- [22] Laura G. DeMarco and Curtis T. McMullen. Trees and the dynamics of polynomials. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4), 41(3):337–383, 2008.
- [23] Simon Donaldson. Riemann surfaces, volume 22 of Oxford Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2011.
- [24] Antoine Ducros, Ehud Hrushovski, and François Loeser. Non-Archimedean integrals as limits of complex integrals. Duke Math. J., 172(2):313–386, 2023.
- [25] Romain Dujardin and Charles Favre. Degenerations of SL(2, ℂ) representations and Lyapunov exponents. Ann. Henri Lebesgue, 2:515–565, 2019.
- [26] Adam Lawrence Epstein. Bounded hyperbolic components of quadratic rational maps. Ergodic Theory Dyn. Syst., 20(3):727–748, 2000.
- [27] Charles Favre. Degeneration of endomorphisms of the complex projective space in the hybrid space. J. Inst. Math. Jussieu, 19(4):1141–1183, 2020.
- [28] Charles Favre and Thomas Gauthier. The arithmetic of polynomial dynamical pairs, volume 214 of Ann. Math. Stud. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2022.
- [29] Charles Favre and Mattias Jonsson. The valuative tree, volume 1853 of Lect. Notes Math. Berlin: Springer, 2004.
- [30] Charles Favre, Jan Kiwi, and Eugenio Trucco. A non-Archimedean Montel's theorem. Compos. Math., 148(3):966–990, 2012.
- [31] Charles Favre and Juan Rivera-Letelier. Quantitative uniform distribution of points of small height on the projective line. *Math. Ann.*, 335(2):311–361, 2006.
- [32] Charles Favre and Juan Rivera-Letelier. Ergodic theory of rational maps over an ultrametric field. *Proc. Lond. Math. Soc.* (3), 100(1):116–154, 2010.
- [33] Thomas Gauthier, Yûsuke Okuyama, and Gabriel Vigny. Approximation of nonarchimedean lyapunov exponents and applications over global fields. *Transactions of* the American Mathematical Society, 373(12):8963–9011, 2020.
- [34] Hans Grauert and Reinhold Remmert. Plurisubharmonische Funktionen in komplexen Räumen. Math. Z., 65:175–194, 1956.

- [35] Walter Gubler. Local heights of subvarieties over non-Archimedean fields. J. Reine Angew. Math., 498:61–113, 1998.
- [36] Edwin Hewitt and Karl Stromberg. Real and abstract analysis. A modern treatment of the theory of functions of a real variable. 3rd printing, volume 25 of Grad. Texts Math. Springer, Cham, 1975.
- [37] Reimi Irokawa. Hybrid dynamics of Hénon mappings, 2023. arXiv:2212.10851.
- [38] Reimi Irokawa. Hybrid dynamics of hyperbolic automorphisms of K3 surfaces, 2024. arXiv:2405.12517.
- [39] Kenneth Jacobs. Hyperbolic equivariants of rational maps. Int. Math. Res. Not., 2023(1):1–53, 2023.
- [40] J. L. W. V. Jensen. On a new and important theorem in the theory of functions. Acta Math., 22:359–364, 1899.
- [41] Zhuchao Ji and Junyi Xie. Homoclinic orbits, multiplier spectrum and rigidity theorems in complex dynamics. Forum Math. Pi, 11:37, 2023. Id/No e11.
- [42] Mattias Jonsson. Dynamics on Berkovich spaces in low dimensions. In Berkovich spaces and applications. Based on a workshop, Santiago de Chile, Chile, January 2008 and a summer school, Paris, France, June 2010, pages 205–366. Cham: Springer, 2015.
- [43] Michael Kapovich. Hyperbolic manifolds and discrete groups. Mod. Birkhäuser Class. Boston, MA: Birkhäuser, reprint of the 2001 hardback edition edition, 2009.
- [44] Jan Kiwi. Puiseux series polynomial dynamics and iteration of complex cubic polynomials. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 56(5):1337–1404, 2006.
- [45] Jan Kiwi. Puiseux series dynamics of quadratic rational maps. Isr. J. Math., 201:631– 700, 2014.
- [46] Jan Kiwi. Rescaling limits of complex rational maps. Duke Math. J., 164(7):1437– 1470, 2015.
- [47] Jan Kiwi and Hongming Nie. Indeterminacy loci of iterate maps in moduli space. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 72(3):969–1026, 2023.
- [48] Thibaud Lemanissier and Jérôme Poineau. Espaces de Berkovich globaux. Catégorie, topologie, cohomologie. Progress in Mathematics. Cham: Birkhäuser, 2024.
- [49] Alon Levy. The space of morphisms on projective space. Acta Arith., 146(1):13–31, 2011.
- [50] A. H. Lightstone and Abraham Robinson. Non-archimedean fields and asymptotic expansions, volume 13 of North-Holland Math. Libr. Elsevier (North-Holland), Amsterdam, 1975.
- [51] Yusheng Luo. Limits of rational maps, R-trees and barycentric extension. Adv. Math., 393:46, 2021. Id/No 108075.
- [52] Yusheng Luo. Trees, length spectra for rational maps via barycentric extensions, and Berkovich spaces. Duke Math. J., 171(14):2943–3001, 2022.
- [53] Marco Maculan. Diophantine applications of geometric invariant theory, volume 152 of Mém. Soc. Math. Fr., Nouv. Sér. Société Mathématique de France (SMF), Paris, 2017.
- [54] Nikita Miasnikov, Brian Stout, and Phillip Williams. Automorphism loci for the moduli space of rational maps. Acta Arith., 180(3):267–296, 2017.
- [55] John Milnor. Geometry and dynamics of quadratic rational maps (with an appendix by J. Milnor and Tan Lei). *Exp. Math.*, 2(1):37–83, 1993.
- [56] John Milnor. Dynamics in one complex variable, volume 160 of Ann. Math. Stud. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 3rd ed. edition, 2006.
- [57] John W. Morgan and Peter B. Shalen. An introduction to compactifying spaces of hyperbolic structures by actions on trees. Geometry and topology, Proc. Spec. Year, College Park/Md. 1983-84, Lect. Notes Math. 1167, 228-240 (1985)., 1985.
- [58] David Mumford and John Fogarty. Geometric invariant theory, volume 34 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 1982.
- [59] Hongming Nie and Kevin M. Pilgrim. Bounded hyperbolic components of bicritical rational maps. J. Mod. Dyn., 18:533–553, 2022.

- [60] Josnei Novacoski. Valuations centered at a two-dimensional regular local ring: Infima and topologies, 2012. arXiv:1205.5625.
- [61] Yûsuke Okuyama. Quantitative approximations of the Lyapunov exponent of a rational function over valued fields. Math. Z., 280(3-4):691–706, 2015.
- [62] Carsten Lunde Petersen. Conformally natural extensions revisited, 2011. arXiv:1102.1470.
- [63] Jérôme Poineau. La droite de Berkovich sur Z, volume 334 of Astérisque. Paris: Société Mathématique de France (SMF), 2010.
- [64] Jérôme Poineau. Berkovich spaces are angelic. Bull. Soc. Math. Fr., 141(2):267–297, 2013.
- [65] Jérôme Poineau. Berkovich spaces on Z: local study. Invent. Math., 194(3):535–590, 2013.
- [66] Jérôme Poineau. Dynamique analytique sur Z. i : Mesures d'équilibre sur une droite projective relative, 2024. arXiv:2201.08480.
- [67] Jérôme Poineau. Dynamique analytique sur Z. ii : Écart uniforme entre Lattès et conjecture de Bogomolov-Fu-Tschinkel, 2024. arXiv:2207.01574.
- [68] Walter Rudin. Real and complex analysis. McGraw-Hill Series in Higher Mathematics. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York-Düsseldorf-Johannesburg, second edition, 1974.
- [69] Robert Rumely. The minimal resultant locus. Acta Arith., 169(3):251–290, 2015.
- [70] Joseph H. Silverman. The space of rational maps on P¹. Duke Math. J., 94(1):41–77, 1998.
- [71] Joseph H. Silverman. The arithmetic of dynamical systems, volume 241 of Grad. Texts Math. New York, NY: Springer, 2007.
- [72] Matthew Stevenson. A non-Archimedean Ohsawa-Takegoshi extension theorem. Math. Z., 291(1-2):279–302, 2019.
- [73] Lucien Szpiro, Michael Tepper, and Phillip Williams. Resultant and conductor of geometrically semi-stable self maps of the projective line over a number field or function field. *Publ. Mat.*, *Barc.*, 58(2):295–329, 2014.
- [74] Amaury Thuillier. Théorie du potentiel sur les courbes en géométrie analytique non archim édienne. Applications à la théorie d'Arakelov. PhD thesis, Université Rennes 1, 2005.

CNRS - CENTRE DE MATHÉMATIQUES LAURENT SCHWARTZ, ÉCOLE POLYTECH-NIQUE, 91128 PALAISEAU CEDEX, FRANCE

Email address: charles.favre@polytechnique.edu

Centre de Mathématiques Laurent Schwartz, École Polytechnique, 91128 Palaiseau Cedex, France

Email address: chen.gong@polytechnique.edu